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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm Christine

          3  Quinn, and I'm Chair of the City Council's Health

          4  Committee.  And I want to apologize for us being

          5  tardy, particularly to the Police Department, who is

          6  a very punctual agency, and that's another reason

          7  why I'm not a police officer that I'm a little less

          8  punctual. But more seriously, we were outside at a

          9  press conference that Councilman Comrie organized

         10  regarding the charges of discrimination against the

         11  school relating to Haitian students. I want to again

         12  apologize, but we were taking up other important

         13  business.

         14                 I want to thank everyone for joining

         15  us here today and the representatives of the Police

         16  Department and the Department of Health and Mental

         17  Hygiene and the other agencies and advocacy groups

         18  and City agencies that are here. We are here today

         19  for an Oversight Hearing and a hearing on a

         20  particular piece of legislation. As we all well

         21  know, unfortunately, the HIV crisis is certainly not

         22  over in our City. We are also having a crisis as it

         23  relates to crystal meth addiction and abuse in this

         24  City. And the two problems intersect in a way that

         25  is really incredibly explosive and looms disastrous,
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          2  I think on the horizon for our City.

          3                 Over the past few months, we've also

          4  heard reports from the Department of Health about a

          5  particular person in the City with a

          6  particularly/potentially dangerous strain of the HIV

          7  virus and the likelihood that has a connection to

          8  the individual's crystal meth history. We're here

          9  today to get an update from the agencies to hear

         10  what is happening on both the HIV front and the

         11  crystal meth front and the intersection of the two

         12  and also to hear a piece of legislation introduced

         13  by my colleague, Council Member Oddo, which is an

         14  attempt to try to reduce the availability of the

         15  ingredients that people can use to create crystal

         16  meth.

         17                 We hope today to be joined by many

         18  other Council Members and to have somewhat unique

         19  hearing from a public health prospective where we

         20  hear and explore the intersection of these issues

         21  and also explore how both the public health agencies

         22  and law enforcement agencies can work hand in hand

         23  to try to get these problems under control. That

         24  said, we've been joined by Council Member Helen

         25  Sears, a member of the Committee from Queens and
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          2  also a member of the Committee, our Minority Leader,

          3  Council Member James Oddo, from Staten Island who is

          4  the sponsor of the legislation and is going to give

          5  us an opening statement.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

          7  Chair. Let me just start by thanking you for your

          8  leadership on this issue and all the work that

          9  you've done to date and that of our colleague, Phil

         10  Reed and actually Margarita Lopez too. I'm proposing

         11  a bill very frankly, it's a pretty simple piece of

         12  legislation that tries to control some of the supply

         13  for those makeshift meth labs that seem to be

         14  popping up all against this country. I think all of

         15  us know that this drug insidiously infects new areas

         16  and destroys communities. It's done so wherever it's

         17  got a foot hold and there is no reason to think that

         18  would not be the case here in New York if we allow

         19  it. Again, my bill is aimed at meth brewing those

         20  small makeshift labs. Obviously, the restrictions in

         21  this bill don't speak to the major operations that

         22  buy the precursor chemicals. There is a special

         23  agent in charge of the U.S. DEA New York Division

         24  and they said it best and they said, if you can make

         25  pancakes from scratch, you can cook meth. All one
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          2  needs to do is hop on line and you can see the

          3  various websites that show people how to cook it up.

          4                 There are lots of people that are

          5  impacted by this. The users, the people around the

          6  users, but just ordinary citizens; fires, explosions

          7  are common place putting neighbors and fire fighters

          8  lives on the line. It's such a damaging thing on so

          9  many different levels. Again, I'm very appreciative

         10  to the Chair for having a hearing on this bill. I

         11  think it's a common sense bill. If you look at other

         12  jurisdictions, there are various states that have

         13  already implemented this type of legislation;

         14  Oklahoma, Arkansas, Kentucky, Iowa, Tennessee. There

         15  are 20 to 25 other jurisdictions that are

         16  considering similar bills and if you look at the

         17  statistics, there has already been a 50 percent

         18  decline in meth labs in Oklahoma after this type of

         19  legislation was introduced. The Washington Post

         20  reports, meth labs are fallen off around 80 percent

         21  in those areas where this type of legislation has

         22  taken place.

         23                 I'll close with this, Madam Chair,

         24  just to show how prevalent this is, people get the

         25  ingredients wherever they can get them and they cook
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          2  them wherever they can cook them and there is a

          3  report that came out a few months back in North

          4  Dakota where in a church, in the back room of a

          5  church in the kitchen area, they came in and they

          6  found people cooking up meth. This problem, this

          7  epidemic has to be attacked on various fronts. I tip

          8  my hat to all those folks who are trying to get

          9  ahead of the curve in New York and my bill is just

         10  one small step hopefully in that fight. Thank you,

         11  Madam Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         13  much. I'm going to call up our first panel. Isaac

         14  Weisfuse from the Department of Health and Mental

         15  Hygiene; Inspector Lenny Sarter from the NYPD

         16  Commanding Officer of the Narcotics Division. I

         17  believe the Department of Health is going to deliver

         18  the testimony and the Police Department is here for

         19  questions unless they want to say testimony, that's

         20  great too. Identify yourself for the record, please.

         21                 DR. WEISFUSE: Good morning, my name

         22  is Dr. Isaac Weisfuse. I'm Deputy Commissioner with

         23  New York City Department of Health and Mental

         24  Hygiene. I'm joined at the table by Dr. Andrew

         25  Kolodny of our Mental Hygiene Division. I appreciate
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          2  the opportunity to discuss crystal meth issues with

          3  you as well as some commentary on the proposed

          4  legislation, Intro 432.

          5                 Crystal meth is a highly addictive

          6  stimulant drug. It is relatively easy to make as

          7  Council Member Oddo mentioned and it can be smoked,

          8  snorted, orally ingested or injected. Crystal meth

          9  is a growing factor in unsafe sexual practices,

         10  particularly among men who have sex with men which

         11  may result in increased transmission of HIV,

         12  sexually transmitted diseases and Hepatitis A and B.

         13  Unsafe injection practices may lead to Hepatitis B

         14  and Hepatitis C infection. The drug increases the

         15  body production of a substance called Dopamine,

         16  which acts on the central nervous system to produce

         17  increase energy, short- term euphoria, feelings of

         18  strength, improved confidence and invulnerability;

         19  and leaves users at high risk for physical and

         20  psychological dependence. Studies have supported a

         21  strong link between the unique physiologic and

         22  psychological effects of methamphetamine, such as

         23  decreased inhibitions and long- lasting sense of

         24  euphoria, and high- risk sex activities among men

         25  who have sex with men.
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          2                 While the crystal meth problem in New

          3  York City, currently appears to be less extensive

          4  than in other parts of the country, we cannot know

          5  its full extent with as much precision as we would

          6  like. We do know it's a deadly drug and we are

          7  concerned about the current level of use as well as

          8  its potential to be used more widely. Although, it

          9  appears that here, it is primarily gay men that are

         10  using crystal meth, it does have the potential to

         11  affect all sexual orientations, genders, age, races,

         12  ethnicities, socioeconomic strata, and certainly

         13  geographic areas within the City of New York as it

         14  has elsewhere in the United States.

         15                 The Department has most recently

         16  gathered more information about crystal meth use in

         17  the City of New York and I'd like to briefly mention

         18  that. We have for the past few years conducted a

         19  Community Health Survey which queries a

         20  representative sample of the City's population about

         21  an array of health issues, to include questioning on

         22  crystal meth use. The question was raised in our

         23  2004 survey, how to use crystal methamphetamine or

         24  methamphetamine in the past 12 months. Preliminary

         25  data from this 2004 survey is now available. Of
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          2  nearly 10,000 New Yorkers we surveyed, fewer than

          3  one percent reported using crystal meth in the last

          4  year.

          5                 However, reported use among men who

          6  have sex with men was much higher, approximately

          7  four percent. These survey numbers are small and we

          8  can't necessarily break down good information for

          9  geographic area or race or ethnicity. We also

         10  recognize that there are severe limitations on self-

         11  reported drug use. When you call somebody up on the

         12  phone, they may or may not be willing to say that

         13  kind of sensitive information. So it's likely it is

         14  less than one percent overall is an underestimate.

         15  But this information will be useful over time so we

         16  can see if there are trends that should shape our

         17  approach to the problem.

         18                 Studies based on certain men who have

         19  sex with men communities have shown even higher

         20  rates of meth use and as well as other powder drug

         21  use in the past year. Some of these studies have

         22  been in settings where one could argue there was a

         23  higher rate than in men who have sex with men in

         24  general. For example, there have been studies among

         25  men who have sex with men who attend certain clubs
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          2  and that kind of thing. Although, these studies are

          3  not population based, they illustrate that meth and

          4  other powder drugs remain a significant public

          5  health challenge in these communities.

          6                 Now we are investigating the

          7  expansion of monitoring of crystal meth and we plan

          8  to include questions regarding the use of crystal

          9  meth and other surveys and investigations as

         10  opportunities arise. That gives you a sense of the

         11  rate of use of crystal meth, but as I alluded to

         12  earlier in the testimony, the issue is also, what

         13  are people at risk for when they use crystal meth.

         14  There is a growing body of literature relating to

         15  men who have sex with men who use methamphetamine

         16  and then engage in high- risk sex behaviors in New

         17  York City that indicate that users are more likely

         18  than non- users to report unprotected anal

         19  intercourse and sex with multiple partners.

         20                 Six studies from the New York

         21  University and Hunter College's Center for HIV/AIDS

         22  Educational Studies and Training or CHEST, report

         23  higher rates of STDs and HIV among men who have sex

         24  with men who use methamphetamine. Researchers in New

         25  York City have underscored the multifaceted nature
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          2  of substance use in the gay and bisexual male

          3  community, and the close relationship between the

          4  HIV and drug use epidemics. I just want to

          5  reiterate, it's not in the survey that CHEST has

          6  done. They have done really excellent work. It's not

          7  just crystal meth that is being used. There are

          8  other drugs as well. So we can't only view it as a

          9  crystal meth problem.

         10                 We're concerned about the use of

         11  crystal meth in the gay and bisexual community

         12  because there are additional risks for those who are

         13  HIV positive and using crystal meth. It's well

         14  documented that substance abusing HIV patients have

         15  a host of problems, including potential drug

         16  interactions and difficulty complying with treatment

         17  regimens. Drug resistant variants of HIV develop

         18  rapidly in response to irregular use of

         19  antiretrovial drugs. Consequently, the ramifications

         20  of the use of crystal meth in the gay community pose

         21  three very serious problems: Drug addiction, the

         22  potential spread of HIV infection, and the rise of

         23  HIV drug resistance.

         24                 The Department of Health and Mental

         25  Hygiene believes that only a multifaceted approach
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          2  will succeed in confronting the problem of crystal

          3  methamphetamine; the same approach we believe is

          4  needed to address the problems presented by any

          5  drug. First and foremost, prevention provides the

          6  greatest impact in managing a drug epidemic. Every

          7  case prevented reduces the number of people who are

          8  going to need treatment in subsequent years. Much of

          9  our work to date in the gay community has focused on

         10  educating that community about the special dangers

         11  of using crystal methamphetamine and certainly we

         12  need to do more with the general population to

         13  prevent them from picking up this as a drug of

         14  choice.

         15                 We established a Crystal Meth Task

         16  Force in February 2004 that has many participants

         17  including from our Mental Hygiene Division, our

         18  Bureau of HIV/AIDS, Office of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual

         19  and Transgender Health, the Office of AIDS Policy

         20  Coordination, Bureau of STD Control, and Division of

         21  Epidemiology; and also from outside our agency

         22  including the NYPD, the State Office of Alcohol and

         23  Substance Abuse Services and recently the State

         24  Health Department's AIDS Institute.

         25                 Crystal meth may be more prevalent in
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          2  the gay community at the present time, but we know

          3  that epidemics spread. Not only do we need to

          4  address prevention of crystal meth use in all

          5  communities, but we must also address the problems

          6  of the current individual users. Therefore, the Task

          7  Force is using established techniques to raise

          8  awareness, increase access to care, broaden outreach

          9  for people who use or who are addicted to crystal

         10  methamphetamine and coordinate care across the City.

         11  It meets regularly to review and assess

         12  implementation of its action plan, and to ensure

         13  coordination of its efforts. The Task Force will

         14  target additional populations in the future as other

         15  populations at risk are identified.

         16                 With Task Force guidance, the

         17  Department now has incorporated education on risks

         18  associated with methamphetamine use into our

         19  existing programs for the gay community such as the

         20  Healthy Men's Night Out program providing

         21  information, testing, and treatment referrals for

         22  substance abuse and mental health services in bars

         23  and other recreational venues frequented by gay and

         24  bisexual clientele. Other initiatives that we have

         25  undertaken include the release of a Health Bulletin

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  on methamphetamine and HIV, press round tables,

          3  training of local health care providers, and the

          4  funding of community based methamphetamine mass

          5  media campaigns aimed at both primary prevention and

          6  current users.

          7                 Last year, our HIV/AIDS Bureau

          8  budgeted $300,000 for community public information

          9  campaigns to broadcast the risks and dangerous

         10  effects of crystal methamphetamine. The HIV

         11  Prevention Planning Group and other community based

         12  organizations have identified men who have sex with

         13  men of color as a population at increasing risk for

         14  methamphetamine related HIV infection and STDs. This

         15  drug has a powerful appeal to young MSM isolated

         16  from the gay community seeking empowerment and

         17  social connection, and we have adjusted our most

         18  recent media campaigns to address the trend of

         19  escalating meth use among minority populations.

         20                 For example, with our funding, the

         21  New York City's HIV Forum, Crystal Meth Working

         22  Group, recently launched a crystal free and sexy ad

         23  campaign depicting positive images of racially

         24  diverse men living drug free. The ads developed here

         25  received extremely positive feedback in other
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          2  jurisdictions and are now being used in Miami, San

          3  Francisco, and in Genre Magazine and other community

          4  publications across the country.

          5                 This fiscal year, approximately $1

          6  million in combined New York City Council and State

          7  funding was allocated for prevention and treatment

          8  of crystal meth use. Four community based

          9  organizations, the Latino Commission on AIDS, Gay

         10  Men's Health Crisis, Callen- Lorde HIV Forum and the

         11  Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Community

         12  Center, were designated by the Council to receive

         13  funding, earmarked for prevention campaigns. We

         14  asked these four CBOs to develop social marketing

         15  campaigns designed to prevent individuals from using

         16  crystal meth. We chose this strategy in recognition

         17  of the fact that while most men who have sex with

         18  men in New York City do not use crystal meth, many

         19  are at high risk of becoming users. The four CBOs

         20  have developed plans for primary prevention

         21  campaigns targeting men who have sex with men from

         22  different ethnic groups, neighborhood and age

         23  groups.

         24                 Three substance abuse treatment

         25  program; the Addiction Institute, Greenwich House
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          2  and St. Vincent's Hospital outpatient chemical

          3  dependency clinic were designated by the Council to

          4  receive funding to enhance their ability to treat

          5  crystal meth addiction. We asked the three programs

          6  to incorporate into their existing programs a

          7  variety of evidence based treatment approaches for

          8  stimulant dependence. These programs include the use

          9  of approaches such as drug education, 12- step

         10  participation, relapse prevention, and family,

         11  couples, and group therapy, the use of voucher-

         12  based incentives that provide tangible rewards for

         13  negative urine toxicology results, and the

         14  development of gay affirmative treatment groups in

         15  which high risk sexual behavior associated with

         16  crystal meth use can be freely discussed. We need to

         17  use these approaches in part because there is no

         18  pharmacologic therapy currently for crystal meth

         19  addiction.

         20                 Once someone becomes addicted to this

         21  drug, we believe that a comprehensive substance

         22  abuse treatment program is most clinically

         23  appropriate. With substance abuse, people who have a

         24  problem with one drug are frequently using other

         25  drugs, and have other problems as well. We mentioned

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  that many of the CHEST studies as well as some of

          3  our studies, it was really poly drug abuse rather

          4  than single crystal meth drug abuse. Individuals

          5  with drug and alcohol abuse or dependents are high

          6  risk to also suffer from mental disorders and from

          7  infections such as HIV/AIDS and other viral

          8  infections. To treat a person's addiction to just

          9  one drug or overlook co- occurring problems as well

         10  does not provide that person with a comprehensive

         11  treatment truly needed. Thus, while educational

         12  information can be tailored to a particular drug or

         13  population, treatment should aim to be

         14  comprehensive. However, we are continually

         15  confronted and limited by separate funding streams

         16  whereby money is allocated for one problem and not

         17  for others.

         18                 I'd like to now turn attention to the

         19  proposed bill, Intro 432. Let me just state at the

         20  outset that we think interdiction against crystal

         21  meth and its precursors is probably a key approach

         22  toward controlling the supply or decreasing the

         23  supply of crystal meth. We are very much in favor of

         24  that. What we would like to do today is provide some

         25  comments on Intro 432 and we hope that we can work
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          2  with the City Council in perhaps a next version of a

          3  bill that would make it even stronger. So we have

          4  some specific suggestions to present to you.

          5                 The bill as stated would amend the

          6  Administrative Code so as to limit for three drugs,

          7  the quantities that could be sold in a single sales

          8  transaction. The drugs are pseudoephedrine,

          9  phenylpropanolamine or PPA and ephedrine, which are

         10  found to varying degrees in a variety of

         11  prescription and over- the- counter medications,

         12  particularly cold medications. I'm sure virtually

         13  everybody in this audience has taken one of these

         14  preparations at some time in the past. Intro 432

         15  requires that these three drugs not be on open

         16  display and that they be accessible only with the

         17  assistance of the seller.

         18                 Ephedrine is generally available only

         19  by prescription. PPA is still legal, but the FDA is

         20  moving to take it off the market because of adverse

         21  health effects associated with it, and most

         22  manufacturers have voluntarily removed it from their

         23  products. The issue is Pseudoephedrine, which is an

         24  over- the- counter decongestant, which is readily

         25  available in both brand name and generic forms and
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          2  sold as a cold and allergy medication in many

          3  different kinds of facilities including pharmacies,

          4  supermarkets, and smaller stores. A very rough

          5  estimate in New York City is that we estimate that

          6  there is probably over 7,000 facilities that

          7  probably sell one of these brands. While

          8  Pseudoephedrine is not the precursor of choice,

          9  since other raw materials can be more easily made

         10  into crystal meth, it is potentially the most

         11  readily available.

         12                 Intro 432 embodies and reflects the

         13  concerns of lawmakers, law enforcement and drug

         14  prevention agencies and health authorities

         15  nationwide about how to address the proliferation of

         16  so called garage laboratories; small but dangerous

         17  and toxic drug manufacturing operations. The concept

         18  is simple enough that curtailing the available

         19  supply of crystal meth precursor chemicals will

         20  similarly curtail the production of crystal meth in

         21  garage labs, and, therefore, also the supply. We

         22  certainly agree with that concept and with the

         23  bill's intent. However, as stated previously, we

         24  would like to discuss some particular specific

         25  concerns that we think could perhaps provide a
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          2  better overall approach.

          3                 We think there is some rewording or

          4  elaboration that would be required in Intro 432. The

          5  legislation, as currently written, does not define

          6  the term package even though there is a two- package

          7  limit on delivery and sale per transaction. And the

          8  legislation by restricting delivery as well as sale

          9  of the drugs in question, except in small quantity,

         10  would seem to render illegal the delivery of these

         11  drugs in quantities to warehouses, pharmacies and

         12  retail outlets, which we are surmising is not the

         13  bill's intent. Also, Intro 432, as written,

         14  prohibits single transactions and sales only. It

         15  would seem that a buyer could return to the seller

         16  for a new single transaction every half hour, or

         17  every five minutes, or could even bring multiple

         18  purchases to the counter to be rung up as separate

         19  purchases, so as to defeat the bill's purpose.

         20                 As written Intro 432 would charge the

         21  Department with responsibility for enforcing its

         22  provisions. This leads us to several concerns.

         23  First, the number of facilities subject to

         24  enforcement are tremendous as I mentioned before.

         25  Second, the types of facilities, products and
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          2  transactions covered are for the most part neither

          3  under the Department's regulatory purview nor in

          4  areas with which the Department has expertise. Intro

          5  432 is a worthwhile drug interdiction bill more than

          6  it is a public health bill. Third, Intro 432 would

          7  necessarily require the involvement of the

          8  Department's field, administrative and tech support

          9  as well as other resources and that carries a

         10  tangible cost.

         11                 Obviously, and I'm reacting a little

         12  bit to what Council Member Oddo said, there are

         13  issues in terms of its potential reach that we all

         14  ought to talk about and consider. Federal FDA

         15  assessments and law enforcements and other sources

         16  indicate that the crystal meth that's been found

         17  thus far in the City of New York was made almost

         18  entirely outside of New York City with almost no

         19  toxic meth lab activity seen here thus far. And that

         20  the drug is almost entirely of a manufactured

         21  quality and purity that is reflective of larger,

         22  more sophisticated operations and not seen typically

         23  in smaller garage operations. Thus, the restriction

         24  on the drug sales transactions envisioned in Intro

         25  432 might, in and of itself, be unlikely to have any
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          2  direct effect currently on crystal meth supply in

          3  the City.

          4                 Illicit meth labs or garage labs are

          5  concerning phenomenon in several upstate New York

          6  State counties. But we have no current evidence that

          7  materials from New York City are flowing to these

          8  upstate counties for production of crystal meth. A

          9  constrictor on sales transaction of potential raw

         10  materials that extends only to the City's boundaries

         11  would seem unlikely to thwart effects to obtain

         12  these same materials outside the City's border or

         13  elsewhere in the tri- state New York metropolis,

         14  irrespective of the intended destination of the raw

         15  materials.

         16                 This is a very promising approach,

         17  but we feel it should be adopted on a wider level if

         18  possible. We are aware of a couple of legislative

         19  initiatives that we wanted to draw your attention

         20  too. There is a pending Federal legislation that is

         21  sponsored by New York State Senator Schumer that we

         22  think has some real merit. It is the Methamphetamine

         23  Blister Pack Loophole Elimination. The background to

         24  that is a current Federal law limits to nine grams

         25  the amount of pseudoephedrine that can be sold when
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          2  the pills are in a bottle, but strangely enough not

          3  when they're in a blister pack and this legislation

          4  fills that loophole.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What's a blister

          6  pack?

          7                 DR. WEISFUSE: A blister pack is when

          8  you buy pills and you have to sort of punch them out

          9   --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, okay.

         11                 DR. WEISFUSE: -- Of the container.

         12  It's interesting that bottles are covered and not

         13  blister packs. I'm not really sure of the origin of

         14  that, but Senator Schumer's proposed legislation

         15  would close that loophole. There is also some

         16  pending statewide legislation that would address the

         17  same issue as Intro 432. We think that these

         18  approaches which are consistent with the Council's

         19  intent, but which would have the singular advantage

         20  of applying, respectively, to the entire tri- state

         21  area or at least to an entire state, would be more

         22  effective and that this problem is not one easily

         23  amenable to a fix by a local jurisdiction.

         24                 In other parts of the country where

         25  home and garage meth labs are prolific, restrictions
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          2  of pseudoephedrine --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Commissioner, I'm

          4  just going to interrupt for one second. We're about

          5  to be joined by PS 290, an elementary school. If

          6  there is anyway we could try to bunch up a little

          7  bit so we can try to clear some of the rows right

          8  there for the young people, that would be great.

          9  Welcome, everybody. I want to say we've also been

         10  joined by members of the Committee, Council Member

         11  Yvette Clarke and Council Member Dr. Kendall

         12  Stewart. We may not have enough seats for everybody

         13  But, we'll try. We've also been joined by Council

         14  Member Eva Moskowitz who's son is in this class and

         15  this is really a class of VIP's because David's

         16  daughter, who is the Bureau Chief here for the New

         17  York Daily News is also a member of the class. Thank

         18  you all for being here. What grade are you guys in?

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKERS: First.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: First. I was going

         21  to say third. You look pretty big to me. Well, this

         22  is the Health Committee and we have hearings on the

         23  health problems that exist in our City; different

         24  diseases and things like that, that people from

         25  suffer from. And we're hearing testimony from our
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          2  Department of Health and our Police Department

          3  because we're talking about two issues. One, that

          4  some people unfortunately have a problem of taking

          5  illegal drugs that they shouldn't and we're going to

          6  hear from the Police Department how we can try to

          7  stop that. Because that is a disease people have,

          8  how we can help them get over that disease. We're

          9  hearing information about that. I know you're going

         10  to stay with us for a little while and watch while

         11  we talk about that. After we hear from Government,

         12  we then are going to hear the other folks in the

         13  audience are advocates who work with people out in

         14  the community who have these problems and also other

         15  doctors and researchers. Council Member Moskowitz, I

         16  don't know if you want to add anything?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I just

         18  wanted to thank Chairwoman Chris Quinn for welcoming

         19  the students and for the great work you do ensuring

         20  the health of New Yorkers. Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Go back to the

         22  testimony carefully.

         23                 DR. WEISFUSE: I also like to add

         24  welcome to the classroom from the Department of

         25  Health and Mental Hygiene. I will try to finish up
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          2  fairly quickly. We do recognize Council Member

          3  Oddo's discussion of the different states that have

          4  enacted this kind of legislation and again, we think

          5  that's a promising approach. But in each of these

          6  cases, they took a Statewide approach, not a local

          7  approach which again we think is a better option if

          8  possible.

          9                 The Department of Health and Mental

         10  Hygiene doesn't have specific drug interdiction

         11  expertise, but we do think that there should be a

         12  wide ranging discussion, both in the City and the

         13  State, informed by other state's experiences by

         14  expert opinions of drug interdiction and law

         15  enforcement professionals, which could be of great

         16  value in decreasing the flow of this drug into the

         17  City. I think that is really the crux of what we're

         18  suggesting to have a broader discussion about where

         19  the best kinds of activities may be focused rather

         20  than just a small aspect of it which may or may not

         21  have an affect. We would prefer several larger scale

         22  discussion both in the City and the State to sort

         23  this out.

         24                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         25  discuss this important issue with the Committee and
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          2  I'd be happy to answer any questions you may have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Great. We're going

          4  to jump around a little bit on the questions. I

          5  wanted to start with some questions on the $300,000

          6  that you discussed on page three. At the last

          7  hearing we had on this topic which was joined with

          8  my Committee and the Mental Health Committee, it

          9  became clear that that was $300,000 that actually

         10  wasn't City money, but was left over Federal money.

         11  First, is that the same $300,000?

         12                 DR. WEISFUSE: Yes, it is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So there is that

         14  money, the City Council's money and the State money.

         15  Has there been any direct money put in by the

         16  Mayor's side/the Department to work on this versus

         17  redirecting left over funds, the Council's action or

         18  the State's action? What we're talking about now is

         19  how much money the Department is spending to try to

         20  help people who have this problem that we talked

         21  about and all the money we're talking about is

         22  really tax money that your mom and dad and your

         23  families and grandma's and grandpa's, aunts and

         24  uncles and your teachers pay to the government so we

         25  can use it to pay for things like school and health
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          2  programs for people who have diseases and other

          3  problems. Back to you. You can see why I'm not a

          4  teacher.

          5                 DR. WEISFUSE: As the Council is

          6  aware, the Mayor put into our budget and announced

          7  in the last World AIDS Day a $5 million amount on

          8  HIV issues. We are still in the midst of --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. That $5

         10  million that the Mayor announced on World AIDS Day

         11  was a commitment to put the New York City -- the

         12  money that's referred to kind of the NYCCH

         13  (phonetic) money, the New York City's Community of

         14  Color, HIV/AIDS, there is a word at the end there, I

         15  can't remember, response money which was put in the

         16  budget by the Council's action when Mayor Giuliani

         17  was mayor and Mayor Bloomberg has proposed every

         18  year up until this World AIDS Day to cut it out of

         19  the budget. We added another $1 million last year

         20  and so it's really $6 now. That $5 million, it was

         21  really the Mayor saying he was going to baseline the

         22  Council's initiative a), and b) that money is not

         23  particularly targeted for crystal meth issues though

         24  there is an intersection. I just want to be clear.

         25  It's not new monies. That being in would just be a
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          2  continuation of almost all of what the Council had

          3  done minus a million.

          4                 DR. WEISFUSE: I agree with you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

          6                 DR. WEISFUSE: But the plan for the

          7  use of the money, although it does hit upon or go to

          8  many of the aspects that involve the same population

          9  that is using crystal methamphetamine. As a specific

         10  examples of that, there are issues around Harm

         11  Reduction that this money would go to and Harm

         12  Reduction can be part of a crystal methamphetamine

         13  prevention. There are issues around testing that

         14  would go forward as part of that money that would

         15  deal with people who may use crystal meth, et

         16  cetera, et cetera. The money would go to provide

         17  prevention services for people for a number of risk

         18  factors, but including crystal methamphetamine use.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Let me rephrase

         20  this. Aside from the money that was put on the

         21  mental health side of the budget last year by the

         22  Council and the State money and the $300,000 Federal

         23  left over money, is there any new monies beyond what

         24  the Council had put in that the Administration has

         25  put in or allocated or redirected, a) and b) is the
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          2  $300,000 that is the Federal money still in there?

          3  Because I know it was discussed at a hearing last

          4  year so it was in the '04 budget. No, the '05

          5  budget. But I don't know, is that still in this

          6  year's budget and it is proposed to be in next

          7  year's?

          8                 DR. WEISFUSE: So the $300,000 was

          9  money that was unspent from our CDC federal grant.

         10  We are just finalizing the unspent monies from

         11  calendar year 2004 and what that money would be

         12  spent on. That report is really just being done and

         13  I don't have the facts at my fingertips of what was

         14  unspent since it takes two or three months to do the

         15  accounting to make sure we know what was unspent.

         16  It's a little bit early for me to say.

         17                 But in response to your first

         18  question, there is no money that is new aside from

         19  perhaps the unspent money that is crystal meth

         20  specific. But backing up a second, it has gotten a

         21  lot of publicity, we are in the midst of redefining

         22  a lot of our HIV/AIDS efforts and it is possible as

         23  we redefine those efforts and reconfigure how we use

         24  money based on new strategies that new money will go

         25  into crystal meth. But again, a lot of efforts that
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          2  we're putting forth are more generic that across

          3  different risk categories rather than crystal meth

          4  only.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, two or three

          6  questions. One is, we'll probably get a little bit

          7  in the hearing to the redefinition part of what's

          8  going on in the agency. I was surprised the last

          9  time we had this discussion and remains surprised

         10  that there haven't been any, given the enormity of

         11  the problem of crystal meth in the City, given the

         12  obvious that you guys see that. You put in your

         13  testimony intersection between that and HIV and I

         14  would think and I know all of our desires to get

         15  things under control before they get any worse

         16  waiting for reconfiguration seems like the worst

         17  strategy because as we wait, things are only going

         18  to get out of control. I'm just very surprised that

         19  there hasn't been beyond the Council's actions any

         20  decision internally within the Department to put new

         21  resources into this.

         22                 Although, I do appreciate and

         23  obviously the other HIV/AIDS prevention treatment,

         24  et cetera, funds have an impact on this. I think

         25  it's been well documented and in some level of your
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          2  testimony reflects this that the particular issues

          3  around crystal meth addiction are distinct and may

          4  in fact to be truly effective and our work may need

          5  their own particular responses. Was there nothing

          6  new in the agency this year from an internal

          7  determination? Should I think that the agency didn't

          8  kind of redirect internally because you had

          9  absolutely no money and you weren't able to expand

         10  anything or make any additions of your own accord?

         11  Separate and apart from what was perhaps proposed by

         12  the Council and agreed to by the Mayor?

         13                 DR. WEISFUSE: Obviously, as everybody

         14  knows, we have finite resources for all our

         15  programs. The pot doesn't necessarily increase

         16  dramatically from year to year or even modestly from

         17  year to year. Obviously, we like any other agency in

         18  the City went through the reduction plans that every

         19  agency did. We're not spared from that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The golden apple

         21  didn't get any new resources. There were no extras

         22  epidemiologists hired for something; the anti-

         23  smoking initiatives didn't get any new resources and

         24  I'm not saying those are things that shouldn't have

         25  gotten new resources. I just want to know whether
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          2  this didn't get new internal resources and others

          3  did or whether nothing did and then really the

          4  question is absolutely making the pie bigger for the

          5  agency.

          6                 DR. WEISFUSE: I can't speak for the

          7  entire agency in terms of finances and how money

          8  flows through the agency in terms of the question

          9  you're asking. But also, I think it is a mistake to

         10  think that because that was last fiscal year that

         11  none of this is continuing. Obviously, the City

         12  Council efforts are a), much appreciated, and b) are

         13  going to reach fruition. It's not like we're

         14  stepping --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, two things.

         16  One, thank you. Three things. One, thank you. Two, I

         17  think it is good that we did that in the Council

         18  though that's more on the treatment side versus the

         19  prevention side. And three, you have absolutely no

         20  guarantee you're getting a penny of that money next

         21  year. Your Mayor didn't put in the budget. Will we

         22  probably get it back in because it's a priority,

         23  yes. But it's irresponsible for you to think it's

         24  going to be there when the Mayor didn't chose to

         25  care about it enough to put into the budget. What
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          2  I'm really trying to figure out and I'd love the

          3  answer, again, just so I really have a perspective

          4  about new initiatives at the agency, whether or not

          5  anything else got new resources. It's clear you're

          6  absolutely prioritizing leftover Federal money and

          7  that the Council gave money and that the State gave

          8  money. But I think we should know kind of who all

          9  the players are.

         10                 DR. WEISFUSE: We would have to get

         11  back to you about that question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That would be

         13  great.

         14                 DR. WEISFUSE: I also did want to

         15  mention one thing that I think was mentioned in last

         16  year's testimony. We did apply for some grants --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right, yes, thank

         18  you.

         19                 DR. WEISFUSE: -- From the Federal

         20  government. Unfortunately, we applied for two grants

         21  and didn't get either one. We are looking for other

         22  opportunities to get more money in on crystal meth.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do we know why we

         24  didn't? Was it one of those kind of crazy federal

         25  things with no disrespect to your President, Jimmy,
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          2  put Texas got a lot of money. Or did we have a bad

          3  rating on our proposal and we need to go back and

          4  figure out how to write these proposals better?

          5                 DR. WEISFUSE: I don't know the

          6  geographical distribution of the flow of the money.

          7  But on some grants you sort of get that kind of

          8  feedback and other grants you don't. You just get a

          9  yes or no. And we didn't get that kind of feedback.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So there was no

         11  score?

         12                 DR. WEISFUSE: To my knowledge, no

         13  score, no commentary about what we could do better.

         14  I think we internally need to look at that process

         15  and sort out when monies come back up from Federal

         16  government how we can do a better job. Dr. Kolodny.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just identify

         18  yourself for the record, please, Doctor.

         19                 DR. KOLODNY: My name is Andrew

         20  Kolodny. I'm the Medical Director for Special

         21  Projects in the Division of Mental Hygiene and

         22  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. It does

         23  appear that the Federal government did decide to

         24  prioritize rural areas with regard to

         25  methamphetamine because from the same grant
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          2  announcements were released this year, they did

          3  specify in the application that only rural areas

          4  should apply for that funding.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: This year?

          6                 DR. KOLODNY: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And what have we

          8  done in response to that? We being the

          9  Administration and the City.

         10                 DR. KOLODNY: Well, the Federal

         11  government said that their interest was rural areas

         12  for methamphetamine so that we didn't bother to

         13  reapply for that. They're just saying that their

         14  priority was rural areas.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Let me rephrase

         16  the question. I'm sorry. Did the Commissioner, the

         17  Mayor, convene -- what I would have done if I know

         18  that is held a press conference on the steps of City

         19  Hall; gotten as many Council Members as I could and

         20  gone down to Washington. I would have had Jimmy

         21  leading the delegation as a Republican to a

         22  Republican. I would have convened the congressional

         23  delegation, my State Senators. I would have called

         24  the Mayor of Newark, the Mayor of Jersey City, the

         25  Mayor of Chicago, the Mayor of Los Angeles, the
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          2  Mayor of Detroit and called the national league of

          3  cities and have an urban outcry that we had been

          4  left out of funding.

          5                 We will now go and do that to try to

          6  make sure that at least next year as RFP doesn't

          7  exclude cities because that's really outrageous.

          8  What has happened to date as a response to that from

          9  the Administration? I'm sorry I didn't know that

         10  sooner because we would have done what we could have

         11  to change that. Tell me what happened from the

         12  Administration's response since you were the ones

         13  who had to be the recipients of that very, very

         14  unfortunate news.

         15                 DR. KOLODNY: Well, that funding that

         16  was made available to expand treatment capacity and

         17  the Federal government made the decision that rural

         18  areas would be their focus. And from an

         19  epidemiologic basis that wasn't necessarily a bad

         20  decision on their part.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. So you

         22  didn't do anything because you agree with the

         23  Federal government's decision to prioritize rural

         24  areas. That's okay if that's your answer. I just

         25  want to know.
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          2                 DR. KOLODNY: The answer is that the

          3  priority in New York City should be prevention

          4  because we fortunately don't need as much as access

          5  to treatment as they do in areas that have already

          6  been ravaged by crystal methamphetamine.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How many addicts

          8  do we have in need of treatment and how many are in

          9  treatment?

         10                 DR. WEISFUSE: I'm not sure we can

         11  answer that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How we do know

         13  that our urban area is in less need than rural

         14  American when we don't even know the census or the

         15  status of their treatment? But you just stated a

         16  fact that led you to feel that the epidemiological

         17  priorities of the Administration were correct and

         18  you might very well be right. You're a specialist in

         19  this. At best, I pretend to be a generalist. I

         20  stress the word pretend. Where are the facts that

         21  lead you to that? Because I know the Health

         22  Department and they don't make a decision or make a

         23  statement like that unless they have run an

         24  epidemiological spreadsheet that proves it. How many

         25  addicts do we have who have this problem and how
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          2  many of them in treatment?

          3                 DR. KOLODNY: As we stated earlier

          4  based on our community health survey, we believe

          5  that one percent of New Yorkers and we think this is

          6  an under estimate have a problem with crystal

          7  methamphetamine and four percent in the MSM

          8  community.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And the numbers on

         10  that four percent of the MSM?

         11                 DR. KOLODNY: I'm not sure what that

         12  is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How many of them

         14  are in treatment?

         15                 DR. KOLODNY: It wasn't necessarily

         16  individuals needing treatment or who might have

         17  crystal methamphetamine dependent, these were people

         18  who reported use of crystal methamphetamine.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But you said that

         20  the Department's money was for treatment; the

         21  Federal government, I apologize, Federal

         22  government's money was for treatment versus

         23  prevention and that because of that it was

         24  appropriate to focus on the rural areas who had

         25  whatever statement you made about much greater need
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          2  for treatment than we did. I know the Chair of the

          3  Mental Health Committee will want to know what the

          4  actual status is of our need for treatment funds.

          5  Because if you're right in what you indicated before

          6  and that we're basically all set, then we don't need

          7  to wage that battle in Washington. Because God

          8  knows, no offense Jimmy, there is enough battles to

          9  wage in Washington. But you don't really know

         10  because if you knew you would say the numbers.

         11  Right?

         12                 DR. KOLODNY: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can you go back

         14  and get me the answer to that question so we know

         15  whether or not your statement about the Federal

         16  government having the correct priorities in cutting

         17  out urban American, whether we know that is actually

         18  fact based or was more of a political decision by

         19  the Department?

         20                 DR. KOLODNY: I think we'd be happy to

         21  give you all the epidemiology we have on crystal

         22  methamphetamine use in New York City.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just dumb it down

         24  a little bit so I can understand it.

         25                 DR. KOLODNY: Sure. We'll give you the
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          2  best information we have on people in need of

          3  treatment for crystal methamphetamine.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Great. And how

          5  many of them are in treatment and how many of them

          6  are and I'd like to know just what portion of City

          7  funds are going into the treatment that they're in

          8  as well. Was all of the money we didn't get for

          9  treatment from the Feds?

         10                 DR. WEISFUSE: I believe there was

         11  some prevention in that there were two separate

         12  grants. Some of it was to help identify people who

         13  are using crystal meth in different sittings and

         14  refer them and get them into treatment. So it was

         15  partly that referral, partly prevention and I don't

         16  know if you have greater detail about the treatment

         17  part of it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just to go back

         19  for a second. I just want to be clear. We didn't

         20  really respond because we agreed with them. We

         21  didn't respond in a political sense so to speak

         22  because we agreed with them in a scientific sense.

         23                 DR. KOLODNY: We really don't have the

         24  answer to that question, but we could check with our

         25  DC office.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That would be

          3  great. I'm just going to turn the questions over in

          4  a second to Council Member Oddo who I think most of

          5  his questions will be on Intro 432. I might come

          6  back to some broader questions. I think it's pretty

          7  clear, I'm just shocked that we lost all this

          8  Federal money and that there was no notification at

          9  all about that to the Committee or the Council or

         10  the minority leader or we will find out if it was to

         11  the community. I'm just really, really shocked

         12  because I know, Dr. Freidman (phonetic) and I know

         13  he makes decisions based completely to his merit on

         14  the facts. I cannot believe that his agency is

         15  saying that we are covered basically as it relates

         16  to treatment needs without having the facts. I'll

         17  get you the transcript, Doctor. You made that

         18  reference. I know you just shook your head. But you

         19  made the reference that you agreed with the Federal

         20  government shift to rural areas for treatment.

         21                 DR. KOLODNY: No, I was just offering

         22  information, I believe, as to why they made that

         23  priority.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right. But you

         25  indicated that you thought it was appropriate for
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          2  them to focus their resources on the needs of rural

          3  America for treatment versus the needs of urban

          4  America. Which one would only make that statement

          5  responsibly if they knew their slice of urban

          6  America was taken care of. Because with all due

          7  respect to everybody in this room, right this second

          8  none of us has a job where Wyoming is our concern.

          9  So we should only say it's okay to shift resources

         10  once we have more than enough in our piece of urban

         11  America. Council Member Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: It would have

         13  been an interesting trip. Commissioner, let me just

         14  say that I appreciate the testimony with respect to

         15  Intro 432 and for the most part I agree with you. I

         16  think the better approach on an issue like this and

         17  many issues for that matter is a Statewide approach

         18  and the record should reflect as I alluded to

         19  earlier that in Oklahoma, Arkansas and Kentucky,

         20  Iowa and Tennessee, it has been done on a State

         21  level and again, there are 25 other states looking

         22  to do it on a State level.

         23                 What we do here in the Council and

         24  sometimes the subtleties of introducing a bill kind

         25  of get lost in the general public. Sometimes we
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          2  introduce a bill and the end game is not necessarily

          3  to pass that bill is to highlight an issue or to

          4  move an issue. If I waited on Albany to act on

          5  certain things, I'd be disappointed and sometimes we

          6  feel compelled to move the State legislature and the

          7  Governor for that matter to act by introducing

          8  legislation down here and we have seen, in my

          9  experience in the last 14 years, many times when the

         10  City Council really has taken the lead on an issue

         11  and Albany has followed suit.

         12                 I agree with you that in a perfect

         13  world this bill should be enacted on the State

         14  level. I imagine at some point, it will be and I

         15  think we'll do our duty down here to kind of push

         16  the State in that direction. I would just ask,

         17  having said what I just said, that in the interim if

         18  we can work together with the Chair and staff and

         19  your agency, cleaning up some of the definitions,

         20  cleaning up some of the jurisdictional issues as we

         21  hope that Albany acts and we kind of prod Albany to

         22  act. I think that's fair for all of us.

         23                 I just want the record to reflect and

         24  I want you to comment if you can about the efficacy.

         25  Let's say it is a State bill, the efficacy of these
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          2  bills. Laura Berkmire (phonetic) who is the

          3  Executive Assistant United States Attorney for the

          4  Southern District of California and she heads up

          5  something called the National Methamphetamine

          6  Chemicals Initiative testified back in November at

          7  the New York State Commissioner of Investigation.

          8  She talked about the legislation in that state in

          9  that there was in fact a 50 percent decline in meth

         10  labs seizures. You don't have any questions about,

         11  let's say on a State wide now, any questions about

         12  the efficacy of this type of legislation?

         13                 DR. WEISFUSE: I'm not an expert on

         14  all the states that have done these kind of

         15  legislations and the timeline of it, when they did

         16  it and how good their systems are. But the data that

         17  we've looked at from one or two states does

         18  corroborate with what you say that the number of

         19  seizures or identification of these "garage

         20  laboratories" has decreased after passage of

         21  legislation. I think it remains open on some of the

         22  states that haven't made that statement and I think

         23  we ought to perhaps look into that. But the data

         24  that we've seen has corroborated what you just said.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Again, this may
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          2  not be true yet in New York City, but it is true in

          3  other parts of the country. There is a Los Angeles

          4  Times story from early in January where they had

          5  someone who was a member of Crystal Meth Anonymous

          6  who talked about that he would buy as many as 10,000

          7  cold pills a day to brew it. I understand that this

          8  has really had its genesis in west of the

          9  Mississippi and I understand in New York State where

         10  we had, I think the Daily News article from April of

         11  2004, talked about where there was once two

         12  identifiable labs in New York State upstate, in 1999

         13  there were two. Now, the State Police says that

         14  there are 73.

         15                 My point is that this problem once

         16  was west of the Mississippi. It is now east of the

         17  Mississippi. It's now in New York State. And how

         18  hard is it to imagine it popping up in the City? I

         19  understand and I agree and I think my research and

         20  the testimony of a witness later on, the special

         21  narcotics prosecutor testified about how you're

         22  absolutely right. Your testimony was correct. Right

         23  now in New York City we see the pure form that's

         24  being made wholesale. We're not seeing the mom and

         25  pop.
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          2                 My question I guess and I don't know

          3  if this is more applicable to the Police Department,

          4  but can we see any analogies with the crack

          5  epidemic, with Ecstasy and now with crystal meth?

          6  Did it start in the pure form and the big wholesale

          7  operations and then kind of work its way down to

          8  street level? I think Special Prosecutor testified

          9  to the extent that she sees analogies and we'll ask

         10  her on the record of Ecstasy, where Ecstasy was sold

         11  in the pure form in these big scale operations and

         12  now it's being sold on the street. I guess it's a

         13  very long winded way of saying, your testimony I

         14  think is correct, but is it that hard to imagine

         15  that we are a hop/skip and jump away from seeing in

         16  the New York City and the five boroughs, what's

         17  happening on the west coast and now apparently

         18  what's happening upstate.

         19                 DR. WEISFUSE: I'm going to defer to

         20  my colleague at NYPD. We're not the drug

         21  distribution and production experts.

         22                 INSPECTOR SARTER: Well, first of all

         23  thank you for inviting me. You also gave me a

         24  promotion at the beginning of this hearing. I'm

         25  Inspector Leonard Sarter. I'm the Commending Officer
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          2  of Narcotics Borough Manhattan South. But thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sure it was

          5  well deserved.

          6                 INSPECTOR SARTER: Thank you. In 1999

          7  to 2004, in the State of New York, there were 196

          8  detected clandestine labs. In the borough of the

          9  Bronx in the 2002, there was only one lab detected

         10  and that was a motorcycle gang where five

         11  individuals were arrested. However, I believe that

         12  these garage labs are right in our backyard. If you

         13  look at Jefferson County, 29 labs; Tiogia County,

         14  29; Shumone (phonetic) County, 25; Addsego County

         15  (phonetic) 18, Hercmia (phonetic), 10. Also, when

         16  you look at Pennsylvania, when you look at our

         17  neighbor right to the south of us, when they started

         18  to crack down in Pennsylvania, that's when the labs

         19  started to pop up in our counties in New York State.

         20  So I believe, I personally fully agree with the

         21  concept of this law. We have to be ahead of the

         22  curve.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I appreciate

         24  that testimony. It was as if I had written it

         25  myself. I just think that on so many different
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          2  levels from the common day stuff to the 9/11 stuff,

          3  we in government are reactive. After the tragedy

          4  happens, we say there should be a law. Sometimes we

          5  name it after a little kid who dies and we think

          6  that we've done our jobs. I think it doesn't take a

          7  genius and I am no genius to see what's happening

          8  all around us. I think the devastation that this

          9  drug reeks in New York City right now, happens to be

         10  in the gay community, but it is widespread and it

         11  will spread like wild fire. I think this is a pretty

         12  simple bill that opens up a tiny front in the war. I

         13  thank you for your testimony. Thank you, Madam

         14  Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         16  Clarke.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         18  Madam Chair. Thank you, Jimmy, for your real

         19  leadership on this issue. It's all about an ounce of

         20  prevention and that's what this bill is really

         21  about. We've seen signals before in terms of drug

         22  issues that perhaps we could have done something

         23  about. I'm thinking specifically about the crack

         24  epidemic that hit us and that we probably had some

         25  signals about. But we're not really prepared to
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          2  confront from a strategic position. In the spirit of

          3  this bill, I think it's important that we really

          4  begin to look at how we build in some preventive

          5  measures. What I found, Doctor, intriguing about

          6  your testimony was the issue of the multiple drug

          7  use. I'm trying to distill crystal meth use and

          8  treatment in the hopes that we can prevent not only

          9  the spread of the use of this drug, but also within

         10  the gay community the spread of disease as a result

         11  of using this drug either by itself or in

         12  combination with others.

         13                 I think there is a real challenge for

         14  us. Are there treatments that the City has

         15  identified specific to crystal meth use, 1), and 2)

         16  is there a way to distill that population away from

         17  those who may be multiple drug users and 3) are the

         18  treatments for those who may be multiple drug users

         19  the same for someone who is addicted to crystal

         20  meth?

         21                 DR. KOLODNY: I'm going to answer the

         22  first question that you asked. Treatment for crystal

         23  methamphetamine doesn't have to be specific. It's

         24  very similar to treatment for cocaine. Both are

         25  stimulants. What is especially important with regard
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          2  to treating MSM who are crystal methamphetamine

          3  users is that a treatment setting which is gay

          4  affirmative in which some of the sexual practices

          5  associated with the crystal methamphetamine use can

          6  be openly and freely discussed. That's a very

          7  important element of treatment. But otherwise,

          8  methamphetamine dependence treatment does not have

          9  to be specific.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: When we look

         11  at the funding streams as my colleague pointed out,

         12  have we been able to craft programs or initiatives

         13  specific to that population giving all the

         14  sensitivities of the MSM community and their ability

         15  to receive treatment in an appropriate manner and

         16  really target it and have we begun to see any

         17  successes in doing so?

         18                 DR. KOLODNY: I can't answer it to the

         19  successes just yet. The City Council did designate

         20  three OASAS certified chemical dependency treatment

         21  programs to receive funding to enhance their ability

         22  to treat crystal methamphetamine dependents and the

         23  treatment providers were asked to enhance their

         24  treatment by including evidence based treatment

         25  approaches which included what I mentioned earlier,
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          2  gay affirmative group treatment settings.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Go right ahead.

          4  It's a very interesting question because I based on

          5  other discussions and meetings that I've been in,

          6  this is a little bit different information than what

          7  I have heard.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Let me just

          9  finally ask, when you have the combination drug

         10  user, are the same types of treatments applicable?

         11  Would you say in the majority of cases, the

         12  individuals who are using crystal meth and may be

         13  engaged in risky behaviors are also using other

         14  types of drugs?

         15                 DR. KOLODNY: Yes, we believe that

         16  many of the individuals, that poly drug use is more

         17  common with crystal methamphetamine use. Many of the

         18  treatment approaches for crystal methamphetamine

         19  dependence are effective for poly drug use such as

         20  relapse prevention, motivational interviewing, group

         21  settings, encouraging 12- step participation; those

         22  are all affective for poly substance abuse as well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. Let me

         24  ask a question. Tell me how you know that drug abuse

         25  treatments for people who are using multiple drugs
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          2  work with somebody who is also on crystal meth? How

          3  do you know that?

          4                 DR. KOLODNY: What I was saying

          5  earlier was that many of the same treatment

          6  approaches are used for crystal methamphetamine as

          7  they are used for other substances that are abused.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How do we know

          9  that they are effective? Because I've heard other

         10  information that crystal meth is a particularly

         11  insidious drug and that the addiction is

         12  particularly crippling and overwhelming. To be

         13  really as effective as we can be, that there may be

         14  particular strategies and particular types of

         15  treatment exclusively targeted to that that will be

         16  more helpful to the person who is attempting to get

         17  into recovery. Again, I'm not an expert on this.

         18  I've just had conversations with other people

         19  involved in the field who have indicated that to me.

         20  What you're saying contradicts what I've heard from

         21  other experts. Can you elaborate on what has lead

         22  the Department to the position that let's call them

         23  and this may not be exactly the right term, more

         24  traditional drug abuse recovery models are ones that

         25  are absolutely effective for crystal meth users.
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          2  Because that is not what I had heard in the past.

          3                 DR. KOLODNY: Right. I think what you

          4  have heard is accurate. I think we're in agreement

          5  here. Crystal methamphetamine is especially

          6  difficult to treat. It is especially difficult. What

          7  I was describing are not sort of old traditional

          8  school approaches to substance abuse treatment.

          9  Mainly, its something that comes in the form of the

         10  MATRIX model which is a group of evidence based

         11  approaches. There is evidence that these are

         12  effective treatments for crystal methamphetamine

         13  abuse from the National Institute of Drug Abuse.

         14                 In particular, this model has been

         15  studied with gay men who are engaging in high risk

         16  sexual behavior and use crystal methamphetamine and

         17  what they found was a reduction in high risk sexual

         18  behavior with this particular treatment approach.

         19  One it also incorporated some of the gay affirmative

         20  group treatment settings. But yes, what you have

         21  heard is accurate. This is an especially difficult

         22  substance abuse problem to treat, but it definitely

         23  can be treated.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry if I'm

         25  confused. But are you saying that it can be treated
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          2  in the same way that we treat other drug addictions

          3  or do we need to have something additional or

          4  something distinct. Obviously, the gay affirmative

          5  part of the treatment is critical and I applaud the

          6  Department for recognizing that and stating that on

          7  the record. What is it that we additionally need to

          8  do or instead of that we need to do to really have

          9  the best treatment option for people, a) and then b)

         10  are we doing that? And how much of it are we doing?

         11                 DR. KOLODNY: The treatment approach

         12  that I described are very similar to the treatment

         13  for cocaine because both are stimulants. Other drugs

         14  of abuse, it's really difficult to kind of give you

         15  just one answer. It would depend what other drugs of

         16  abuse that we're referring to. For example, if it

         17  was an individual addicted to Opiates, you might

         18  consider pharmacologic with either Buprenorphine or

         19  Methadone. The treatment for crystal methamphetamine

         20  is most similar to the treatment for cocaine

         21  dependence.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And the amount of

         23  that work we're doing is basically the Council's

         24  funds that were put in the budget last year. Right?

         25                 DR. KOLODNY: The Council's funds were
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          2  used to enhance the ability of the three programs I

          3  mentioned to treat crystal methamphetamine.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And those three

          5  programs, they're base funding comes from other

          6  treatment and funding that they get for just general

          7  addiction or other drugs.

          8                 DR. WEISFUSE: Yes, my understanding

          9  is that they are all part of the OASAS group and

         10  they are existing well- established, well- known

         11  places for treatment of drug use before this money

         12  came in and frequently they at least some of the

         13  places can charge on a sliding scale and accept

         14  insurance as well. These are pre- existing well-

         15  established drug treatment programs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Thank

         17  you, Council Member Clarke. I have some more

         18  questions, but let me call on Council Member Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair, and thank you. Your testimony has

         21  really been very concise and direct. Tell me, is

         22  crystal meth any more or less addictive than the

         23  other illegal drugs as cocaine, crack, heroin?

         24  Because I haven't heard any mention of just a degree

         25  of the addiction.
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          2                 DR. KOLODNY: I think it is fair to

          3  say that crystal methamphetamine is especially

          4  addictive. It may be less physiologically addictive.

          5  You don't have the same physical dependence that you

          6  might have from heroin, but it is very rapidly

          7  addictive and the physiological addiction to crystal

          8  methamphetamine is severe.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So then you

         10  don't have to take it for any length of time before

         11  you have such a dependency upon it.

         12                 DR. KOLODNY: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So then, I'm a

         14  little confused as to why you would be functioning

         15  or thinking more about prevention which is very,

         16  very key and the fact that the dependency on crystal

         17  meth is far quicker than some of the other illegal

         18  drugs. It would seem that we would look to get every

         19  grant, everything from wherever we can to reduce the

         20  use of this because it seems to be very speedy in

         21  its addiction. I think that we all know that the

         22  healing of those that are addicted to these very

         23  strong drugs, the percentage of cure is very, very

         24  small. Which means that if this addiction which is

         25  so speedy and its affect needs to have as much of a
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          2  concentration as any of the other drugs that we have

          3  placed so much emphasis on crack and cocaine and

          4  heroin, it seems that it might even be a notch above

          5  that because of how speedy is it effect and its

          6  dependency.

          7                 DR. WEISFUSE: Clearly from the

          8  household telephone survey that we did, with its

          9  limitations, there doesn't seem to indicate right

         10  now that there is wide spread crystal meth abuse

         11  going on in the City amongst 10,000 people that we

         12  surveyed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I ask you a

         14  question? This is going to sound like a cheeky

         15  question and I don't mean it to be.

         16                 DR. WEISFUSE: I'm not finished with

         17  comments, so we can go back to it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do people

         19  typically say on telephone surveys when you ask then

         20  if they're using illegal drugs, yes, particularly if

         21  you're the government who is calling?

         22                 DR. WEISFUSE: We know that's a

         23  limitation and we know that people will not admit to

         24  that. But there are people who do say about their

         25  activities whether their medical conditions are
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          2  problems have been fairly forthcoming. We're saying

          3  up front that there is certainly limitation on that

          4  data. If you look at some the CHEST data, on the

          5  other hand, we said four percent among this men who

          6  have sex with men, if you look at some of the CHEST

          7  data, it ranges depending on the venue from like

          8  five to 15 percent. It's not like we're enormously

          9  off, especially when some of the surveys that have

         10  been done in these other settings have been done

         11  among gay men who are attending clubs or gay men who

         12  are attending certain venues. I agree with you. But

         13  it's not like orders of magnitude off.

         14                 Just to return to my point, obviously

         15  this is a very dangerous and devastating drug. Right

         16  now, I've given you the data that we have in our

         17  possession. Clearly, prevention is the way to go.

         18  Luckily we're in that position to try to prevent

         19  rather than to be in the position of trying to treat

         20  thousands and thousands of people who are on crystal

         21  meth. It's something we the agency along with City

         22  agencies and with your support and help need to

         23  really key on in the near future because of its

         24  addictive potential.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Is crystal meth
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          2  considered part of the Needle Exchange Program?

          3  Because in your testimony, you said that they also

          4  can inject.

          5                 DR. WEISFUSE: Well, crystal meth as I

          6  said can be injected.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Is it?

          8                 DR. WEISFUSE: One of the concerns is

          9  that people would be sharing needles using crystal

         10  meth.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's why I

         12  raised the question.

         13                 DR. WEISFUSE: They are some of the

         14  syringe exchange programs that we work with are now

         15  gearing up and have made some strides in trying to

         16  specifically deal with people who are using or

         17  sharing needles using crystal meth.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are you

         19  tracking that particular thing in those needle

         20  exchange programs that we might get a better handle

         21  on the crystal meth?

         22                 DR. WEISFUSE: My understanding is

         23  that some of these programs are and you may hear

         24  more testimony from more knowledgeable people than

         25  I, but these programs are up and running. I haven't
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          2  particularly heard about percentage of their

          3  population yet who use crystal meth. But it's a very

          4  good suggestion and we'll be in touch with them to

          5  try to track that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because I know

          7  they are going to open one in my district and after

          8  hearing your testimony and Councilman Oddo's

          9  proposed Intro, that I think that would be one of

         10  the things that they would look for. I know

         11  certainly I will bring it up because I have been

         12  meeting with them. But certainly with the spread of

         13  infectious diseases, it would seem that that would

         14  rank right up there within the needle exchange

         15  program.

         16                 DR. WEISFUSE: Yes, again, I don't

         17  know who all the experts are who are going to be

         18  testifying today and maybe they're testifying. I'm

         19  positive that this is very high up on the radar

         20  screen for needle exchange programs and Harm

         21  Reduction groups in the City.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You'll follow

         23  up on that?

         24                 DR. WEISFUSE: Yes, I will.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very
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          2  much. I think the Committee would like to have that

          3  information. Thank you. Thank you, Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          5  Stewart.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

          7  Madam Chair. When we speak about resources, could

          8  you tell me what ratio, what balance do you use to

          9  deal with where there is the prevention part of it

         10  or the treatment part? Because I get the impression

         11  that we are only focusing on treatment. What

         12  fraction of the resources that you get that you

         13  spend that you use on prevention?

         14                 DR. KOLODNY: That's a very good

         15  question. How do you prioritize prevention and

         16  treatment. With the funding that was made available

         17  by City Council in which we achieved a State match

         18  as well that $1 million that we referred to earlier,

         19  what we thought was best was to divide that 60

         20  percent for prevention, 40 percent for treatment and

         21  that 60 percent for prevention was divided among

         22  four community based organizations to work with us

         23  for outreach campaigns and prevention campaigns. The

         24  40 percent went to the three treatment providers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right. We
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          2  all believe that crystal meth users are usually

          3  someone who has been also using multiple drugs. Is

          4  that so? Based on the stats that usually when one is

          5  using crystal meth, they may have been using other

          6  types of drugs. What percentage are from these folks

          7  that you specified that you're going to deal with

          8  just the crystal meth only? In other words, what I'm

          9  saying is that most time these folks might be

         10  treated for something else. They are treated for

         11  whether the use of cocaine, crack, whatever. They

         12  might be in another treatment institution already.

         13  What percentage of those folks that are fresh, that

         14  are new that you just found out because of the

         15  crystal meth? Do you understand what I'm saying?

         16                 When someone comes into you or at

         17  least when you start treating someone, most times

         18  they might have been folks who have been involved

         19  with other drugs and they may have been treated

         20  already. What I want to find out what percentage of

         21  those that you get just because of crystal meth and

         22  they may not have been treated for the crack. They

         23  may not have been treated for the cocaine, whatever

         24  the drugs that may be involved with.

         25                 DR. KOLODNY: If the patient is in an
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          2  appropriate chemical dependency treatment setting,

          3  then all of their substances and abuse will be

          4  addressed simultaneously so that if someone shows up

          5  at the Addiction Institute and we have the Director

          6  of the Addiction Institute who will be testifying

          7  later for treatment of crystal methamphetamine

          8  abuse, they will not just look at that individual

          9  with and focus on that one drug. They're going to

         10  ask about other drugs of abuse and they're going to

         11  try and treat all of the drugs of abuse.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, but the

         13  idea that if most folks who are on crystal meth

         14  usually they take other drugs and if they're not

         15  being treated and only because of the crystal meth

         16  now, we find out that any treatment -- I'm trying to

         17  figure out if we are missing a lot folks who are on

         18  other drugs and they're not being treated. That's

         19  what I want to find out. Because when they come in

         20  because of the crystal meth, we found out that

         21  listen, they have been involved with other drugs.

         22  They've been using multiple drugs. I want to know if

         23  those folks who have been treated for cocaine, if we

         24  are missing a lot and if there's been an epidemic

         25  and we're not treating them and now it continues to
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          2  become a problem because they moving onto crystal

          3  meth.

          4                 DR. WEISFUSE: I think that may be a

          5  better question for the folks who see the patients

          6  more first hand than we do. We don't necessarily run

          7  these programs and it's a very good question about

          8  what might be falling through the cracks

          9  essentially. I don't know that we have the data to

         10  answer the question that you just raised.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I want

         14  to talk a little bit about what you and the

         15  Department are seeing and what you've been able to

         16  identify. You may not yet have been able to identify

         17  it. But what you know or have been seeing as a

         18  relates to increasing rates of crystal meth use and

         19  corresponding HIV rates increasing. And have you

         20  seen that and where is it happening most. What type

         21  of steps are taking about that beyond the ones that

         22  might already be funded or the ones that safe and

         23  sexy ads or whatever that you mentioned.

         24                 DR. WEISFUSE: There have been a

         25  number of studies in the City. Some done by us, some
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          2  done by CHEST and other groups that have looked at

          3  sexual practices of people who are attending certain

          4  venues and then asking what drugs they use. Clearly,

          5  there is a fair amount of data that shows that

          6  people who are using crystal meth as I stated

          7  before, are practicing unsafe sex. That's clear. I

          8  don't think that's controversial really. There are

          9  also have been a number of studies that are taking

         10  advantage of something called the Star System which

         11  is an essay that tries to estimate whether a group

         12  of people have been infected recently versus a long

         13  time ago and found that there is a significant

         14  incident and I can't give you off the top of my head

         15  some numbers, among men who have sex with men who

         16  attend certain venues. For example, they have done

         17  this in bars. They have done this in what are known

         18  as house balls and looked at those issues.

         19                 Clearly, HIV transmission is

         20  occurring among that segment of the MSM community

         21  who are also using drugs and crystal meth and

         22  engaging in high risk sex. There is no doubt, this

         23  is a big problem. In terms, of what we do about it,

         24  obviously we have a lot of agreements and contracts

         25  with community based organizations that are specific
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          2  to either particular neighborhoods or particular

          3  risk groups and we work closely with them to get

          4  messages out to provide prevention services to folks

          5  in different neighborhoods and different risk groups

          6  and the same holds true with the MSM community. We

          7  have a whole group of agreements with these

          8  community based organizations to do that work.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I guess one of my

         10  concerns and I think I probably made this clear

         11  before is that a lot of those groups are prior to

         12  this being added on to their workload who are

         13  already kind of under funded and overworked and

         14  stretched to the limits. For example, in my district

         15  I have Callen- Lorde which is an unbelievably

         16  terrific facility and I believe they handle more of

         17  the, I can't remember if it is Syphilis or

         18  Hepatitis, they handle treating more of the Syphilis

         19  cases than in fact the Department of Health and

         20  Mental Hygiene does which is wrong. What is right

         21  then? What was the statistic? Sorry. I got it wrong.

         22  That Callen- Lorde treats more than any other

         23  private facility of the Syphilis cases in this City,

         24  second only to the, I guess, to the Department of

         25  Health and Mental Hygiene. Now I got it right. But
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          2  if you thought you heard the other and you want to

          3  give them more money, go with it. I'll say that I

          4  created the incorrect record.

          5                 Nonetheless, the statistic is still

          6  stunning about how a relatively small health clinic

          7  could be so stretched in limits. I worry not because

          8  the people there and the other groups in this room

          9  aren't terrific and great and very smart, but I'm

         10  worried that they don't have the hours in the day to

         11  do it, a), and b) that there might be additional

         12  knowledge or training that might be necessary that

         13  I'm not sure we've created the resources to give the

         14  groups. I guess, I realize as we head into the

         15  budget process want to make it very clear, I think

         16  us in government assuming that those who have been

         17  doing the work have the time and staff ability to

         18  just pick up this additional burden of work is

         19  probably not a reasonable perspective on our parts.

         20  And there is not just enough extra staff and time

         21  there to meet the looming crisis and that we have to

         22  in government figure out how we get them more

         23  resources. I think we are right to want to keep them

         24  as our front line on this.

         25                 Kind of saying that yet again, I want
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          2  to talk a little bit about just in the final set of

          3  questions, there was a lot of press a few months ago

          4  about the individual who had been identified as HIV

          5  positive, a crystal meth user and belief that

          6  possibly that there was a particular aggressive

          7  multiple drug resistant strain of HIV and I wanted

          8  to get any update information from the Department on

          9  the status of that case and how that might be

         10  informing additional work that you're doing or any

         11  of the work that you're doing or maybe thinking of

         12  doing.

         13                 DR. WEISFUSE: The investigation is

         14  still continuing. What we did is we spoke to the

         15  individual in question, got some partners that we

         16  followed up on and have been attempting to look at

         17  if the partner we found and if they were a HIV

         18  person, then we are trying to look at the genomic

         19  sequence, that is the characteristics of their virus

         20  to see if it matches the characteristics of this

         21  individual's virus. In addition, we went to

         22  laboratories really across the country to do

         23  resistant testing and we shared with them a part of

         24  that characteristic sequence from this individual to

         25  see if they could go back to their libraries and do
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          2  computerized match to see if there was another virus

          3  that appeared to have some similar characteristics.

          4  We identified some potential matches that way.

          5                 What's happening now is that the

          6  sequences of the viruses, the entire sequences of

          7  these other viruses are being looked at and it may

          8  be still some weeks, at the very least, until we

          9  have an answer on that. That is still ongoing. We

         10  also report recently that the gentlemen in question

         11  has responded to treatment and is being taken care

         12  of and is on drug therapy. The viral load, I

         13  understand is decreasing.

         14                 In terms of how the next part of your

         15  question which is how this affects our programs

         16  going forward, I think is an important one. I think

         17  it really sort of underscores so many issues that we

         18  need to make sure that every dollar that we get, as

         19  precious as they are, is working toward. All the

         20  lessons about crystal meth, about unsafe sex, about

         21  issues around good treatment and care for people

         22  with HIV, a lot of the individuals for example that

         23  this person had sex with were already known to be

         24  HIV positive. Certainly, there are some lessons in

         25  terms of how doctors deal with patients and et
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          2  cetera, et cetera.

          3                 Clearly, I think we need to resharpen

          4  the focus on HIV in general, but also using this

          5  case in a way, not specifically to this individual,

          6  but in a way to use these lessons so that we are

          7  going to the different communities involved here and

          8  it involves physicians as well, to make sure that

          9  we're not sitting here a year from now and have more

         10  of these kind of cases. I think that there are sort

         11  of lessons for different communities and we really

         12  appreciate the City Council as well as the

         13  community's help because we can't really do this

         14  alone. We really need help in getting the message

         15  out and help in getting leadership from different

         16  segments of different communities to say, we really

         17  need to change directions in terms of a number of

         18  these lessons learned in order to make sure this

         19  doesn't happen over and over again.

         20                 It's really, I think, a strategic

         21  focus on bettering our treatment approaches, making

         22  sure that the dollars are used wisely and making

         23  sure that people can adhere to their regiment so we

         24  don't have a lot more treatment failures in the

         25  future because of resistant viruses.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Let me just ask a

          3  couple of follow- up questions on what you said.

          4  One, is you get more information back from the test

          5  and we obviously want to be kept up to date on that.

          6  On the lessons learned and what we now either need

          7  to be doing in response to that, I know the

          8  Commissioner recently attended one of the HIV

          9  forums, which I think that was the Department

         10  attended, but I think it was really great that the

         11  Commission went to the most recent one himself. What

         12  other steps is the Department taking to kind of

         13  engage the stakeholders, if you will, in this crisis

         14  in a dialogue about what you see as the lessons

         15  learned? What the Council sees, what they see? What

         16  recovery addicts sees the lesson learned so we can

         17  better formulate or reformulate our strategies and

         18  work plans?

         19                 DR. WEISFUSE: We already have as you

         20  know set up a number of different groups that

         21  provide us with input and discussion around our

         22  plans. There is the Ryan Wright (phonetic) Planning

         23  Council. There is the HIV Prevention Planning Group

         24  and also a mayoral commission on AIDS. All three

         25  groups are placed where we can interact and get
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          2  feedback from the community from people affected by

          3  HIV to provide that kind of interchange. The

          4  Commissioner did go to the HIV forum and those are

          5  activities that we will continue to engage in, in

          6  terms of bringing out these issues into broader

          7  discussions with affective communities.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: At any way shape

          9  or form disrespect to the three entities that you

         10  discussed, I think sometimes and I say this to

         11  somebody who has been and is an appointee to things,

         12  sometimes when you are in a format where you are

         13  having a dialogue with either the person who has

         14  appointed you to something or a representative of

         15  the person who has appointed you to something, there

         16  is not necessarily the level of completely frank

         17  dialogue that I think we need to have. I'm not

         18  saying people from the Department or the

         19  Administration are threatening to kick people off if

         20  they say the wrong thing, I'm not saying that at

         21  all. But when you're appointed to something, almost

         22  subconsciously, it sometimes can stick in your head

         23  unless you're an incredibly pushy person. Which I

         24  know there are a few of on all three of those groups

         25  which is a good thing. I think we might need to
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          2  think a little more out of the box about how we get

          3  people together who can have a kind of completely

          4  frank off the record discussion without thinking if

          5  I say this, it's going to impact my groups funding

          6  or my position. I'm not saying it would at all. I'm

          7  just saying that sticks in people's mind sometimes

          8  by their own decision. I think we need to think a

          9  little more creatively. I'm not sure exactly how I

         10  think that is best to happen. But that we should try

         11  to see how we could do that particularly as we're

         12  heading into the budget discussions.

         13                 As a little bit and I'll try to wrap

         14  up, as a follow up to some of my points before, has

         15  the Department done any assessment of the groups

         16  that we're funding? Either through the communities

         17  of color money or other funding to see how tapped

         18  out they are; whether they would have the ability to

         19  pick up the right people to do that. Do we have any

         20  information about what really in a real people

         21  person hours sense, what's left there?

         22                 DR. WEISFUSE: We do get information

         23  on kinds of information like number of clients seen

         24  and things like that. I think what we need to do is

         25  not only look at that, but also look at the quality
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          2  of the services provided and what the impact is on

          3  individuals. I think the Health Department would

          4  certainly like to work with many of these

          5  organizations to get a better appreciation and more

          6  understanding of all those factors.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Maybe there is a

          8  role that the Council can play in being helpful with

          9  that and maybe pulling together some of the groups

         10  that have gotten money from the Council, the City in

         11  the past to try to set up some kind of informal

         12  focus group, if you will, whether we have a real

         13  sense of whether groups could even with extra money

         14  have this added on and if we were to add it on

         15  exactly what they would need to make that possible

         16  and doable in a real tangible dollars and cents

         17  perspective.

         18                 I don't know if my colleagues has any

         19  questions, just to wrap up, I think we're going to

         20  hear next from the Prosecutor for the Office of

         21  Special Narcotics and then from a panel of medical

         22  experts, folks from the industry and other

         23  advocates, but as kind of a forward next step for

         24  the Council and the agencies, we should obviously

         25  meet to have further discussions with all of the
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          2  appropriate folks about Intro 432. I agree with

          3  Council Member Oddo, there are a lots of things that

          4  are better done on a State level and sometimes if we

          5  waited for that to happen, they would never happen.

          6  And the recent emergency contraception legislation

          7  and the clean indoor act, the anti- smoking

          8  legislation are two firm examples of when the City

          9  does it, the State will follow, sometimes to my

         10  frustration with far less hearings and hours of

         11  testimony. Because if I feel if we have to sit and

         12  listen, they should too. In that context, we should

         13  take a look at further meetings on Council Member

         14  Oddo's bill.

         15                 Also, I think we to need to over the

         16  next four to six weeks before we really get into the

         17  thick of budget negotiations try to figure out a way

         18  that the Council and the Administration can engage

         19  the community who is doing this work so we really

         20  know what their resources are and what more

         21  resources we would need to get them to really have

         22  them have the ammunition they need to continue to be

         23  our front lines in this battle. I would very much

         24  like to get the follow up information on the Federal

         25  monies because I remain very distressed that I think
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          2   -- both information on the Federal money and what

          3  other new internal initiatives there have been in

          4  the Department because I remain concerned that this

          5  is not getting the level of priority funding from

          6  the Administration that it should get from the

          7  Administration's own money so to speak.

          8                 I'm very concerned that we have let a

          9  very important opportunity go with the Federal

         10  government and a very important opportunity go where

         11  we could have made it very clear to the Federal

         12  government how desperately we are in need of their

         13  help. We would like to get that information as soon

         14  as possible as we continue these further dialogues.

         15  Anybody who was promoted at this hearing, the

         16  promotion stands. Let the Commissioner know. Thank

         17  you all very much. Next, we're going to call up

         18  Bridget Brennan, Prosecutor of the Office of Special

         19  Narcotics. Since we started late, I know Ms. Brennan

         20  has to leave early and she did notify us of that

         21  before the hearing. She has to be out around 12:30.

         22  I want to apologize to my colleagues for that. It

         23  was the Committee starting late, no disrespect from

         24  the Office of the Special Prosecutor.

         25                 MS. BRENNAN: Thank you very much. I
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          2  do appreciate the opportunity to testify on crystal

          3  meth, on the situation with crystal meth in the

          4  City, and on the proposal to regulate sales of over-

          5  the- counter medications commonly used to treat

          6  colds or allergies, which can be easily converted

          7  into ingredients necessary for the production of

          8  methamphetamine. I know this is not the first

          9  hearing --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. You

         11  need to just state your name for the record at the

         12  beginning.

         13                 MS. BRENNAN: Yes. As you see, I'm in

         14  a hurry. I forgot the most important thing. Bridget

         15  Brennan, Office of the Special Narcotics Prosecutor.

         16  I know that this isn't the first hearing the Council

         17  has held on methamphetamine and I'd like to commend

         18  you for promoting public awareness of this very

         19  addictive and dangerous drug.

         20                 For those of you not familiar with

         21  the Office of Special Narcotics, we were formed by

         22  the state legislature in 1971 to address an issue

         23  which was critical at that time, the heroin

         24  epidemic. Heroin at that time was killing young

         25  people and fueling crime throughout New York City
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          2  and New York State. My office was given jurisdiction

          3  to investigate and prosecute felony narcotic crime

          4  in all five boroughs. We worked closely with the New

          5  York State Police Department, the Drug Enforcement

          6  Administration, New York State Police and a host of

          7  other enforcement agencies and with many sectors of

          8  the public health and treatment community. Because

          9  we conduct investigations in all five counties, we

         10  have a Citywide view of changing trends in demand

         11  and availability of a particular drug.

         12                 We are very much concerned about the

         13  nature of meth use in the City, especially the

         14  accompanying health crisis it has fueled. It's

         15  important to remember, however, that based on our

         16  arrest numbers, analyses of voluntary drug testing

         17  and discussions with people who enter our programs

         18  that in the City, marijuana and cocaine are by far

         19  the most commonly used controlled substances. I will

         20  address the specifics of the proposal in a minute,

         21  but first I'd like to update you on the scope of

         22  methamphetamine use and manufacture in New York

         23  City.

         24                 Meth also known as speed, ice,

         25  crystal, Tina, crank, is an addictive stimulant that
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          2  can be sniffed, swallowed, injected, smoked or

          3  ingested. Its appearance varies depending on the

          4  form of usage. In New York City, it is widely sold

          5  and used in the form of small crystal- like rocks

          6  that are smoked in a manner similar to crack-

          7  cocaine; hence, the name Crystal Meth. The high can

          8  last seven to 24 hours. Crystals can also be crushed

          9  and snorted, or pounded into powder form, mixed with

         10  water and injected. The average user buys half or

         11  full gram quantities at a time which yield up to 15

         12  hits. The drug is also available in pill and tablet

         13  form. Tolerance develops within a few weeks of use

         14  prompting increased dosages to reach a maximum high.

         15  Withdraw produces severe depression.

         16                 The history of methamphetamine use in

         17  this City seems to parallel at least so far other

         18  what we call designer drugs, particularly Ecstasy as

         19  Council Member Oddo pointed out earlier. Like

         20  Ecstasy, crystal meth use and distribution began

         21  with a small insular social network revolving around

         22  dance clubs and private parties. Eventually, Ecstasy

         23  use broke out of that discrete setting and became

         24  more widespread. Ecstasy use now is Citywide and

         25  it's not unusual to seize Ecstasy from drug sellers
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          2  throughout the City, often the same dealers who are

          3  selling cocaine or other drugs. Current

          4  methamphetamine use closely corresponds to the early

          5  days of Ecstasy trafficking and consumption.

          6  However, it is still for the most part concentrated

          7  in the Chelsea area of Manhattan.

          8                 By far, the most popular form of

          9  methamphetamine sold and used in New York City is

         10  crystal meth. Again, the Council should keep in mind

         11  that this is distinct from the form of meth which is

         12  really swept through much of the western part of the

         13  United States. That meth is a less purified form and

         14  very much less expensive. Later in my testimony, I

         15  describe the amounts our undercover officers are

         16  paying for crystal, but it's about $80 a gram. If

         17  you are buying a half gram, it's goes up. You might

         18  pay $50 for a half gram.

         19                 If you compare this to the price of

         20  crack in the City, for example, you'll understand

         21  why crystal meth appeals to a different kind of user

         22  than crack. Crack can be purchased for trays are

         23  $3.00 a hit; nickels, $5.00, dimes (most common

         24  form), $10.00 a hit. As you can see, crystal meth is

         25  a lot more costly. Crack/cocaine probably
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          2  corresponds more with the ordinary garden variety of

          3  meth which is really a wash in the western part of

          4  the country. Crystal is just much more highly

          5  refined. The high is much higher, but it is

          6  extremely expensive comparatively speaking.

          7                 The way it is cooked up is at the end

          8  of the manufacturing process, the ephedrine or

          9  pseudoephedrine- based methamphetamine is dissolved

         10  into one or more solvents including acetone, ethyl-

         11  acetate, ether or hexane. Charcoal is added to the

         12  substance; its boiled, filtered, and slowly allowed

         13  to crystallize by allowing air to evaporate or by

         14  putting it in a refrigerator. The slower the

         15  materials are allowed to evaporate, the bigger and

         16  purer the crystals. This concentrated purity is what

         17  makes crystal meth more potent than the powder form

         18  of methamphetamine. In New York City, this form of

         19  the drug is among the trendiest substances used in

         20  dance clubs or private parties, especially in the

         21  Chelsea- Greenwich Village area. Again, to draw

         22  comparison with Ecstasy, in the early days of

         23  Ecstasy, Ecstasy was much more expensive. The per

         24  pill cost was $30, $35 a pill. Now we see it sold

         25  for much less depending on where you are buying it
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          2  in the City.

          3                 Our first major crystal meth

          4  investigation was about three years ago and it

          5  targeted a local dealer based in Chelsea. The dealer

          6  was receiving regularly one- to- two ounce packages

          7  of crystal meth from California through private

          8  shipping services. He repackaged the drugs into

          9  smaller amounts and re- sold the substance to social

         10  contacts. We arrested about a half a dozen people in

         11  that case, including the California- based source.

         12  This is the pattern we have seen consistently in our

         13  cases. A west coast wholesaler, who might be

         14  obtaining the product in California are receiving

         15  from Mexico; local distributor, private shipping

         16  service, distribution through social network and re-

         17  sales to individuals.

         18                 There have been some modifications to

         19  this pattern during the three years we have been

         20  investigating crystal meth. Just last month, an

         21  undercover officer purchased crystal meth in upper

         22  Manhattan. In another recent investigation in the

         23  Bronx, an undercover officer purchased several

         24  ounces of crystal meth along with several ounces of

         25  heroin. In that case, we recovered more than a pound
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          2  of crystal meth.

          3                 We are seeing another alarming trend.

          4  Increasingly, crystal meth is being offered for sale

          5  over the Internet. The proliferation of the use of

          6  the Internet to buy and sell any illegal drug is of

          7  course a huge problem. Last summer, we started a

          8  program to identify and prosecute individuals

          9  involved in this type of drug transaction. Our

         10  initial objective was to target hardcore drugs like

         11  cocaine, which, along with marijuana, is highly

         12  available over the Internet as well. But the

         13  preponderance of crystal meth transactions altered

         14  our course. Clearly, it is one of the most popular

         15  substances peddled over the Internet. Dealers and

         16  buyers communicate through postings in popular sites

         17  or chat rooms using coded names, Tina, T, Christina.

         18  To date, 11 dealers have been arrested, six of whom

         19  were convicted of drug sales.

         20                 The price of crystal meth fluctuates.

         21  This is important to us in figuring out the trend.

         22  If crystal meth becomes less expensive, it suggest

         23  to us that it is more available. Typically the

         24  undercover officer pays about $80 a gram. Just to

         25  put that in perspective, there are about 28 grams in
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          2  an ounce, which would mean the retail sales of an

          3  ounce of crystal meth would net about $2,240. It

          4  doesn't exactly work that way because the smaller

          5  the package of buying, the less volume you are

          6  buying, the more you're going to pay for it. We paid

          7  as little as $1,600 for an ounce of crystal; that's

          8  $400 less than the average price for an ounce a few

          9  years ago. Internet prices tend to be higher. A full

         10  gram sells for upwards of $200 and a half- a- gram

         11  sells for an average of $110. Again, you have to

         12  compare these prices to the prices of crack. That's

         13  what I do when I try to analyze whether or not

         14  crystal would ever replace crack as a stimulant of

         15  choice here in the City.

         16                 In terms of manufacturers, there have

         17  not been many cases against them here in the

         18  metropolitan area. Manufacturing meth involves

         19  mixing and cooking chemicals and gases that are not

         20  only volatile and harmful, but in the cooking

         21  process, they emit fumes that are highly toxic,

         22  noxious and, most important to manufacturers, easily

         23  detectable. Given the population density in the City

         24  and the way the people in this City live, where many

         25  of us are almost on top of each other, meth
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          2  manufacturers would be hard pressed to find remote

          3  locations within the five boroughs where they could

          4  produce the drug covertly.

          5                 I know of only a few cases. Last

          6  year, a man was convicted of running a crystal meth

          7  lab in the Bronx and the Inspector from the Police

          8  Department testified about that. It was right across

          9  the street from an elementary school. It was run by

         10  a motorcycle gang. Police have also shut down a

         11  couple of meth labs on Long Island. That is not the

         12  case, however, as you've heard in other areas of New

         13  York State. Despite stiff sentences and the

         14  dangerous and volatile manufacturing process, the

         15  New York State Police have recorded a substantial

         16  increase in the number of meth labs in the recent

         17  past. The pattern of meth labs has moved again

         18  westward. Crossing over from Pennsylvania into the

         19  western part of the State and also crossing down

         20  cross the northern part of the State. There has been

         21  something of a westward sweep across the State. But

         22  again, it's hard to envision too many places in New

         23  York City which would be an optimum choice for a

         24  meth lab.

         25                 The increase in manufacturing in
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          2  other parts of the State and greater supply of

          3  crystal meth here in the City is disturbing. For

          4  years, I have assumed that methamphetamine would

          5  never replace cocaine as the hard core stimulant of

          6  choice in New York City. Cocaine is just too much

          7  cheaper and much more readily available here than in

          8  other parts of the country. As I see crystal meth

          9  continue to creep up, I am re- evaluating that

         10  assumption. However, the only way I could really

         11  envision methamphetamine becoming a major drug of

         12  choice, the stimulant of choice replacing cocaine

         13  here is if somehow there developed a trade between

         14  downstate dealers and cocaine and upstate dealers,

         15  not in crystal meth, but in regular garden variety

         16  meth. That's the only kind of meth that's really

         17  cheap enough to replace cocaine here as I see it.

         18                 The reasons for the increase in

         19  supply of crystal meth are simple. Recipes for its

         20  preparation are widely available on the Internet;

         21  the ingredients, including over- the- counter cold

         22  medicines referred to in the proposal, diet pills,

         23  camera batteries, matches, iodine, hydrogen

         24  peroxide, lighter fluid, kerosene, gasoline, paint

         25  thinner and anhydrous ammonia, are accessible and
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          2  inexpensive, and, as with other drugs, there is a

          3  lot of money to be made. However, one of the key

          4  ingredients in the manufacturing, in anhydrous

          5  ammonia, tends to be readily available only in rural

          6  areas. It's a fertilizer used to build up nitrogen

          7  in soil.

          8                 Right now, New York State,

          9  manufacture of methamphetamine is not a felony and

         10  possession of the precursors needed to make the drug

         11  is not a crime. It is possible that ingredients

         12  purchased in New York City could make their way to

         13  more remote, less densely populated areas which are

         14  more suitable manufacturing spots. And that the

         15  product could be pumped back into the streets of New

         16  York.

         17                 Fortunately, from what I understand,

         18  a few local franchises of national chain drug stores

         19  are already doing some sort of self- compliance,

         20  some sort of self- regulation in terms of regulating

         21  access to some of the precursors, ephedrine,

         22  pseudoephedrine, by limiting the amounts of those

         23  drugs that they sell. This may be a response to

         24  federal regulations passed in 2000 which restrict

         25  wholesale packages to nine grams of the targeted
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          2  ingredients and established which package sizes may

          3  be purchased, but they did not regulate retail

          4  transactions of over- the- counter ordinary sales of

          5  pseudoephedrine. Clearly, with this proposal to

          6  amend the Administrative Code, the City Council is

          7  considering stepping in to fill this void.

          8                 As mentioned earlier, I believe about

          9  ten states have enacted limits on retail sales of

         10  ephedrine or pseudoephedrine. Although, from my

         11  analysis, those ten states do tend to be the states

         12  where the manufacturer of methamphetamine is very,

         13  very prolific and has been having a profound effect

         14  throughout the State. The only states that I'm aware

         15  of are western states. Illinois, I think has

         16  recently considered some sort of restrictions on

         17  sales of ephedrine and pseudoephedrine. These limits

         18  can apply to the amount of the target ingredients in

         19  the product or the number of tablets purchased. The

         20  limits range from a two package/six gram limit to a

         21  nine package/24 gram limit.

         22                 The current proposal to limit sales

         23  to two packages or nine grams of the targeted

         24  ingredients could conceivably allow an adult to get

         25  a 36 supply of an over- the- counter medication in a
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          2  single purchase. Obviously, in drafting the

          3  proposal, the Council is looking at trying to craft

          4  something which is simple and easy to enforce; thus

          5  the two package or total nine gram requirement.

          6  However, by limiting City residents to a two package

          7  proposal or purchase I should say, this proposal may

          8  be overly restrictive. Because its applied

          9  irrespective of the number of tablets in a package

         10  or the amount of targeted substances the package

         11  contains. In considering it, you may want to

         12  consider whether we need such restrictions.

         13  Particularly, since New York City has not yet been a

         14  site for methamphetamine manufacture, a key

         15  ingredient in anhydrous ammonia is not available

         16  here in the City. Most cold, asthma or allergy

         17  remedies would fall into the regulated category.

         18                 At this point, I'd like to speak as a

         19  chronic allergy and asthma sufferer myself. The wife

         20  of a allergy sufferer and a mother a child who has

         21  asthma and allergies and just point out that when I

         22  looked into my own drawer at work where I keep my

         23  asthma and cold remedies, I think I had a bottle of

         24  DayQuil which contains pseudoephedrine. I had a

         25  bottle of Sudafed which comes in a bottle of about
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          2  100 tablets. You can get a much better price in that

          3  way. Most of the blister packs are limited to 12 to

          4  24 tablets. The 100 tabs of Sudafed did amount to

          5  about six grams of pseudoephedrine. The rest of the

          6  stuff in my drawer, my bag of tricks, was all under

          7  one gram. Each package contained less than one gram

          8  of pseudoephedrine. I believe I had one other

          9  medication. Oh, I had my son's allergy medication in

         10  my purse which also contained pseudoephedrine.

         11                 I believe I made all those purchases

         12  at the same time. Under this proposal, I wouldn't be

         13  able to. I think you might want to consider whether

         14  you would be -- that there are probably far more

         15  chronic asthma and allergy sufferers in this City

         16  than people who are contemplating methamphetamine

         17  manufacturer. I'd be happy to work with you on

         18  constructing some kind of a proposal which might

         19  address your concerns while still accommodating the

         20  concerns of those of us who suffer when the flowers

         21  bloom and the sun shines here in New York City.

         22            I do want to thank you. I'd like to thank

         23  the Council for all its done and I'd like to

         24  encourage you to continue your work in elevating

         25  public consciousness about this. Absolutely, the
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          2  most critical thing we can do is prevent use. And

          3  the community, what we've seen with the crystal

          4  methamphetamine addicts that we put in our diversion

          5  programs, we have a lot of young talented, well-

          6  educated people who we really should be able to

          7  reach them through prevention programs, through

          8  education programs. The toll this has taken in terms

          9  of the health problems its fueled is immense. And

         10  so, I'd like to encourage you to continue your work

         11  in this regard and continue your work Citywide.

         12  Obviously, this is a great problem. But there are

         13  great addiction problems probably more profound

         14  addiction problems in the area of this City; cocaine

         15  and heroine abuse. Those are profound problems as

         16  well. I'd like to commend the Council for its

         17  sensitivity on this issue and its work in elevating

         18  public consciousness in this important matter. Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Just

         21  indifference to your time, thank you for being here

         22  too. I speak for the sponsor of the bill that we

         23  will take you up on your offer to work for other

         24  legislation. I just want to thank you for your

         25  recognition of the Council's work. But I just want
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          2  to say really the thanks go to the LGBT community

          3  and the public health and AIDS advocates in the

          4  room. Because really the problem that crystal meth

          5  was causing in the gay community and the HIV

          6  positive community was really brought to the

          7  attention of government by a grass roots effort by

          8  the AIDS activists community. We really owe them our

          9  thanks in government for bringing this forward in a

         10  way that we then in the Council followed. I'm very

         11  grateful to them for that. Because had it not been

         12  for their work, I might never and the Committee

         13  might never have really seen the problem that was

         14  out there that we weren't aware of. As an allergy

         15  sufferer who you could light a stink bomb in this

         16  room right now and I wouldn't smell it. I look

         17  forward to working with you on this and other

         18  issues. Thank you very much for your time this

         19  morning.

         20                 MS. BRENNAN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Next, we're going

         22  to call up Dr. Steven Lee, Dr. Bruce Kellerhouse,

         23  Dr. Barbara Warren and Dr. Ronald Johnson. I'm just

         24  going to make him a doctor and Dr. Jay Laudato.

         25  Everybody is a doctor. Dr. Jerry, we're going to
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          2  need two more chairs. Jerry, we're only going to be

          3  four, not five. But thank you anyway. Whoever, wants

          4  to go first, you can arm wrestle or just figure it

          5  out. Whatever. Then go right ahead, Dr., please. If

          6  the light is off, the mic is on. Just state your

          7  name at the beginning of your testimony. I just want

          8  tell folks that I want to appreciate the Office of

          9  Legislative Affairs for staying for the rest of the

         10  hearing. What gets said, will be communicated back

         11  to the Mayor's office and the Department. Thank you.

         12                 DR. LEE: My name is Steven Lee. I'd

         13  like to thank you for this opportunity to address

         14  the Committee with my perspective on crystal

         15  methamphetamine and its affect on the community in

         16  New York City. I am coming to you as a faculty

         17  member of Columbia University, an addiction

         18  psychiatrist who works with many patients in the

         19  community effected by methamphetamine addiction. I

         20  work with the crystal treatment program at Callen-

         21  Lorde Community Health Center. I consult with other

         22  HIV organizations in New York City. I'm affiliated

         23  with the Addiction Institute of New York.

         24                 As you can see, I see the effects of

         25  crystal methamphetamine in many different ways and
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          2  how it affects our community in this City. Before I

          3  go on with my prepared material, I also want to

          4  mentioned that Dr. Petros Levounis, the Director of

          5  the Addiction Institute of New York was unable to

          6  stay because of time limitations. He gave me his

          7  materials and said that he passed it on. He asked if

          8  there is time, if I could read a part of his

          9  testimony. You can let me know if that's possible.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's absolutely

         11  possible, Doctor. Absolutely. And we'll make sure

         12  his full testimony is part of the record. But

         13  whatever part you would like to read in, that would

         14  be terrific.

         15                 DR. LEE: Sure. I'm going to try not

         16  to belabor the things that were already reviewed so

         17  far today. I do want to emphasize and I do consider

         18  crystal methamphetamine to be either the most or one

         19  of the most addictive drugs because of its affect on

         20  basic dopamine pathways in the brain that cause us

         21  to repeat behaviors. Other behaviors associated with

         22  this brain pathway, I think such as sex and eating

         23  and pleasure that is experienced is only a part of

         24  this pathway; the pathways mechanism for getting

         25  people to repeat a behavior. However, the exact
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          2  mechanism that it uses is actually a lot more

          3  complex.

          4                 This pathway is a much more primitive

          5  part of the brain and much more powerful than what

          6  we think of the brain when we think of like pictures

          7  of the brain which is the wrinkly round object. The

          8  wrinkly cerebral cortex is where we do our logical,

          9  rational thinking. The deeper and more primitive

         10  brain structures, these are the structures that are

         11  more powerful because they are associated with a

         12  more fundamental aspects of animals. They are the

         13  ones that have to do with things such as breathing,

         14  eating, sleeping; things such as that. The deeper

         15  the structure is the more primitive it is, the more

         16  powerful an impact it has on how an organism

         17  behaves. The fact that crystal methamphetamine is so

         18  powerful and affecting these deep brain structures

         19  is the reason that it has such a powerful affect on

         20  us, even despite rational knowledge that it is a

         21  very destructive drug.

         22                 This is a very important concept for

         23  us to understand because I think that we think about

         24  crystal and we compare to things such as heroine and

         25  alcohol. We see that it doesn't have the same kind
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          2  of dramatic effect when people are in withdrawal as

          3  something as heroin or alcohol can have. That is why

          4  I think many people don't understand how powerfully

          5  addictive this drug can be.

          6                 I'm going to explain a little bit of

          7  the science behind this. The cerebral cortex which

          8  is the outside most highly evolve part of the brain.

          9  The superficial part of the brain that thinks

         10  logically and reasons, that's the part of the brain

         11  that we can appeal too before a person becomes

         12  addicted. This would include things like prevention

         13  efforts, education, as well as harm reduction

         14  models, things that we can use in the early stages

         15  of meth addiction. However, once the deeper more

         16  primitive pathways of the brain are affected, that

         17  is much more difficult to override. That's something

         18  that logical thinking doesn't really get at. Logical

         19  thinking gets at a very different part of the brain.

         20  That's a very important thing to consider when

         21  thinking about what is it that we're doing with

         22  these drug treatment programs. What is it that we're

         23  addressing and why is it that these programs are or

         24  are not working?

         25                 In fact, when somebody is actually
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          2  truly addicted and that deeper part of the brain is

          3  really affected, what we see is the logical rational

          4  part of the brain works against the person. Often,

          5  we see the person using that part of the brain to

          6  rationalize logically why they should be using it.

          7  Despite seeing things like their health going down

          8  and losing their jobs, losing their family. It's a

          9  very, very important aspect of how this drugs work

         10  that differentiates it from other drugs such as

         11  alcohol and heroin. This is the reason why so many

         12  methamphetamine addicts are unable to stop

         13  compulsive use of meth, despite clear and rational

         14  understanding that they are destroying their lives.

         15                 As I just mentioned, the dopamine

         16  pathway is also very closely linked to sex. When it

         17  is activated by methamphetamine, it strongly

         18  stimulates the desire to have sex, to the extreme

         19  that people will spend several days without sleep

         20  engaging in continuous sexual behavior. I am sure

         21  that we have so many health specialists here today

         22  that are going to address that. So I'm not going to

         23  go into such much detail about that. I'm going to

         24  emphasize that the compulsion to have sex for some

         25  is so strong that all other rational thought,
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          2  including health concerns about HIV are disregarded,

          3  even though the brain intellectually knows and we're

          4  talking about the wrinkle part of the brain, the

          5  cortex, intellectual the brain knows and is aware of

          6  these risks. That's why simple HIV education is not

          7  so effective for people who are already addicted to

          8  methamphetamine. For some people, the drive to have

          9  sex, even unsafe sex, is unstoppable.

         10                 Crystal methamphetamine is toxic to

         11  the brain and has been shown to cause permanent

         12  brain damage. In combination with HIV, the brain

         13  damage that occurs is exponentially increased. There

         14  is an animal study which was in mice which showed

         15  that mice that was exposed to crystal

         16  methamphetamine showed about an eight percent

         17  reduction in the ability of these dopamine neurons

         18  in the brain to function. These similar set of mice

         19  were exposed to HIV particles. HIV showed also

         20  similarly an eight percent decrease in brain

         21  function. What we would expect if this were

         22  additive, would be about 16, 17 percent increase or

         23  rather decrease in function of the brain. What was

         24  found in this study was actually that there was a

         25  very dramatic decrease. There was a 65 percent
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          2  decrease in brain function of dopamine neurons.

          3                 It is significant and dramatic and

          4  the question is how are these findings in mice

          5  actually translatable in human beings. That part, we

          6  still have yet to see. But what we do know is we

          7  have a very large subpopulation of people who use

          8  methamphetamine and people who have HIV. We know

          9  that whatever the answer is, we are going to seeing

         10  it down the road. Potentially, we are going to be

         11  seeing a very large and growing population of people

         12  who have brain damage. We need to think of this for

         13  two very important reasons. One is for the well-

         14  being and the health of the people in our community

         15  and the second is, what are the future healthcare

         16  costs and the future economics of having a growing

         17  population of people who are going to be brain

         18  damage. What will that mean as far as healthcare

         19  costs and jobs?

         20                 Since the last time that I came to

         21  speak to the Council a year ago, a number of things

         22  have happened. There have been many discussions

         23  about crystal, at the government level, which I'm

         24  very happy about. I want to thank you very much for

         25  that, with the media, and most importantly within
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          2  the community. In these discussions, some people

          3  were afraid that demonizing crystal may have a very

          4  negative impact on those who were trying to stop the

          5  crystal work to seek treatment services. What I can

          6  give you is my anecdotal experience in working as a

          7  clinician and speaking with other clinicians and

          8  looking at what programs have experienced. What I've

          9  seen actually is the opposite.

         10                 More people are aware and more people

         11  are being careful. Or at least those who chose not

         12  to use crystal are much more visible. In the past,

         13  it was the opposite. The people who were the most

         14  visible were the party goers who were using crystal.

         15  It was the most popular thing to use at clubs. It

         16  was seen as the cool thing. That is what people who

         17  didn't really have role models saw. Because of all

         18  this discussion and the fact that people are being

         19  more verbal about that the fact that they want to

         20  protect their health, there are now role models out

         21  there and people saying, I don't want to use

         22  crystal.

         23                 A superficial survey of sex sites and

         24  in at sex sites shows that there are a lot more

         25  people that are specifying, I do not want to have
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          2  sex with crystal. I do not and I will not have sex

          3  with people who are partying with crystal. This

          4  increase discussion in the community whether or not

          5  we consider demonizing, I think has had some effect.

          6  As far as absolute numbers of use, I cannot tell

          7  you. But as far as the impact of increasing the

          8  visibility and the fact that non- users have become

          9   "cool" or that's acceptable within the community to

         10  not use, that has occurred and has been very

         11  important.

         12                 Also, in some settings such as one

         13  particular leading HIV research center in New York

         14  City, there was an informal survey of people who

         15  were newly sero converting to HIV. In the past, it

         16  was extremely high percentage of people sero

         17  converting who said that they believe that crystal

         18  was involved in some way with their sero

         19  conversation. What they have been seeing over the

         20  past year is a gradual decline. Whether that's

         21  because there is increasing shame because of

         22  demonization or whether it is actually a real truth

         23  phenomenon that these sero conversations are

         24  happening a little bit less from crystal, it's not

         25  clear. I suspect it is a little bit of both.
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          2                 Considering the information that I

          3  have given you, I would like you to consider the

          4  following points regarding handling the issue of

          5  methamphetamine. Addressing crystal is not a one-

          6  size fits all scheme. There are different strategies

          7  for people who are in different levels of

          8  involvement with the drug. For those not yet

          9  entrenched in the deeper, less rational brain

         10  pathways, I think outreach, education, prevention,

         11  things like that, harm reduction methods, those are

         12  appropriate. They really are and are a way to

         13  capture many people. Prevention efforts are

         14  extremely important.

         15                 For those people who are beyond that,

         16  people who are really entrenched in it and who are

         17  motivated to get treatment, treatment needs to be

         18  very different. It needs to operate on a level

         19  that's different from just simple rational thinking

         20  and harm reduction methods. There are several

         21  modalities of treatment which need to be employed.

         22  One intervention that has been briefly mentioned

         23  today is medical detox or medication detoxification.

         24  It's something that has not been discussed very much

         25  in the past because as I was saying, we usually
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          2  think of the dramatic withdraw effects of heroine

          3  and alcohol, not so much with cocaine and with

          4  crystal.

          5                 However, medical detoxification is

          6  actually being actively researched by many places.

          7  In my clinical experience in just using it with

          8  patients, it actually has been very effective. I

          9  believe that there are at least two reasons in my

         10  mind why it's been effective, one is that it does

         11  treat many of the very difficult withdraw symptoms

         12  that prevent people from stopping crystal use. The

         13  second is that drug users who are very used to

         14  modulating their feelings, trying to feel better by

         15  taking pills or drug or some kind of substance to

         16  get some immediate relief, that's the way that they

         17  are functioning. So when you are address them in the

         18  same way that they are thinking, by offering them

         19  something like a pill, that's what they are already

         20  doing. That's how they're thinking and that's the

         21  hook that you catch them with. To them, if they hear

         22  that's out there, they will take that. It can be

         23  used as a "hook" to try to attract people. It gets

         24  meth addicts started in treatment and potentially

         25  engaged in treatment and sort of along the way into
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          2  getting the sobriety.

          3                 At this time, Callen- Lorde is the

          4  only program that I'm aware of that actually

          5  pragmatically has incorporated detoxification as

          6  part of their drug treatment program. Other

          7  treatment modalities that are crucial as part of

          8  meth addiction treatment include group therapy,

          9  individual counseling, and 12- step meetings. I'm

         10  going to say in disagreement with one of the earlier

         11  testimonies, that I think that crystal specific

         12  treatment is crucial. It does have very specific

         13  advantages over general drug treatment. If you'd

         14  like to go into more detail about that, then --

         15  would you like me to speak about or what for

         16  answers? Okay.

         17                 In particular, some people have

         18  mentioned something that's called the MATRIX model

         19  which is just one way in which someone has looked at

         20  addressing treatment specifically for crystal. The

         21  study has shown that the MATRIX model in comparison

         22  to what's called treatment as usual or regular drug

         23  treatment was significantly more successful. And a

         24  year in the treatment those who completed the

         25  program, they had a significantly higher rate of
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          2  being off of crystal; being able to stay sober.

          3  Recently, there has been some controversy because

          4  there was a follow- up study that took a look at

          5  what happen to those MATRIX model patients a year

          6  afterwards. What happened is after they finished the

          7  program, about a year later, the number of people

          8  who did that program in comparison to people who did

          9  treatment as usual, looked identical. It looked as

         10  if they hadn't gone to any special program.

         11                 A lot of people use that as an

         12  argument to say this MATRIX model really does

         13  nothing. Because in the end, our patients look

         14  exactly the same. Why should we bother with a

         15  program like this. I think that is a distortion or a

         16  misinterpretation of the results because what that

         17  means to me is that crystal specific treatment was

         18  actually successful. The problem was that there was

         19  no aftercare. Aftercare for these people finishing

         20  the MATRIX model was going to noncrystal specific

         21  treatment. What that means is that we need to

         22  increase funding and increase programs for less

         23  intensive programs after someone has finished with

         24  something like a MATRIX model program. To me, it's

         25  an argument that is effective and that we actually
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          2  need to beef up these types of services even more.

          3                 Lastly, regarding the specific

          4  regulation, I'm afraid this is going to be

          5  redundant, so you can stop me if you feel this is

          6  not necessary. But regarding my opinion in speaking

          7  with a lot of clinicians, researchers, people around

          8  the country who are dealing with crystal

          9  methamphetamine and where they have seen it being

         10  produced whether patients are getting it, tightening

         11  the control of the precursors of the manufacturer of

         12  the chemicals for meth in New York City, I'm not

         13  really sure is going to have that much of an effect

         14  as was just mentioned. The way that its manufactured

         15  is so combustible, dangerous, noxious, very

         16  conspicuous, it's very difficult to imagine doing

         17  that in a place with a population density like New

         18  York City.

         19                 The places that have been mentioned

         20  where tighter legislation had a very positive effect

         21  were places that were not like New York City. I

         22  don't know specifically what the numbers are right

         23  now, but I suspect still the vast majority is not

         24  produced inside the City and even if the number is

         25  increasing, if it were to stop, we would usually
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          2  revert back to the old suppliers which were largely

          3  out of state; whether California, upstate New York

          4  or from other rural areas or Mexico. In my opinion,

          5  from what I've been hearing about from other people

          6  who are working with meth addicts and

          7  epidemiologically in studies, I am not so convinced

          8  that this is going to have a great impact on what's

          9  happening in our City.

         10                 Do we have time for me to read the

         11  testimony from Dr. Levounis?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         13                 DR. LEE: Dr. Levounis is the Director

         14  of the Addiction Institute of New York. He asked me

         15  to read just a small section of his testimony which

         16  is a description of the Crystal Clear Project which

         17  is a crystal specific treatment project or program

         18  at the Addiction Institute. His testimony reads:

         19  Currently, we tend to see clients who are coming for

         20  treatment with crystal in two of our treatment

         21  modalities. In our intensive day program, where

         22  clients come in five days a week, we often see

         23  clients who have used the point that they needed a

         24  great deal of structure. Intensive substance abuse

         25  treatment entails three hours of treatment a day and
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          2  may meet as often as five days a week as our program

          3  does. Clients in this program may be on leave of a

          4  job or have a lost a job, et cetera. Some need to

          5  have brief time in our inpatient facility to

          6  stabilize though many have managed care companies

          7  which are resistant to this because there is no

          8  medical detoxification that's needed. As I have

          9  mentioned, medical detox is something that can be

         10  helpful.

         11                 However, my experience there are

         12  times when inpatient stays seem important to break a

         13  pattern of use and to help clients stop putting

         14  themselves at risk sexually. In our day program, we

         15  incorporated groups that deal with crystal. But the

         16  clients would also attend other groups that involve

         17  learning stress management, assertiveness skills and

         18  other topics and also have a great deal of structure

         19  to help them maintain changes. The program also has

         20  a strong community component that creates a support

         21  network for many who have been very isolated. One of

         22  the models that have worked the best at our center

         23  is called Frontloading Treatment. Having clients

         24  participate in this intensive program for a period

         25  of time and then withdraw from it when they are
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          2  ready. Researcher Rawson, Anglin and Ling recommend

          3  intensive treatment for meth clients because of the

          4  intensity of the drug.

          5                 Dynamically, I (meaning Dr. Levounis)

          6  believes that the clients have an intense attachment

          7  to a drug and often need to transfer this attachment

          8  to a program or something other than destructive

          9  substances. Authors such as Waylent (phonetic) have

         10  discussed the power of these therapeutic

         11  relationships. This transfer can happen with an

         12  intensive program as people build more in their

         13  resources and also the Council can understand what

         14  other supports they need such as self- help or

         15  psychotherapy. At the Institute, we also see clients

         16  whose use has not escalated to the extent where they

         17  have lost their jobs and who attend the program once

         18  or twice a week.

         19                 Dr. Levounis has worked with several

         20  gay men who work Monday through Friday and then they

         21  become what are called "weekend warriors" where they

         22  start Friday night and have sex throughout the

         23  entire weekend with crystal and then they start to

         24  sober up on Sunday, taking a mini- vacation from

         25  their lives just over the weekends. And then they
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          2  crash, but try to go back to work on Monday and

          3  Tuesday. By having groups that would meet in the

          4  evening, that would be devoted to crystal, we could

          5  have clients who leave the intensive program and

          6  return to work in transition as they try to get back

          7  into their structured lives. They transition to less

          8  intensive evening groups if needed. While managed

          9  care companies often advocate for short- term

         10  models, which usually are limited to only 20

         11  sessions, Rawson, one of the researchers of crystal

         12  directed therapies argued that clients with meth

         13  problems may need more long- term treatment because

         14  of the dysphoria or the negative feelings and

         15  depression that may accompany the addiction for up

         16  to a year after use.

         17                 The groups created in these programs

         18  were specifically for gay and bi- sexual men. We

         19  often have groups that are clients of different

         20  genders, sexual orientation and drug choices.

         21  However, we felt that it was crucial to create a

         22  place where gay and bisexual men can have frank

         23  discussions about sexuality among their peers and

         24  not worry how the outside world would react to them.

         25  Many of the clients I spoke to when we started

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  forming these groups pointed out how they were

          3  looking for these discussions. The group was a

          4  primary modality of the program, individual

          5  counseling was also implemented where the clients to

          6  work on engagement and treatment retention. That's

          7  concludes his testimony.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          9  much. Doctor, what I was going to do just hear from

         10  other folks and then do questions, if that's okay.

         11  Barbara, you want to go. Dr. Barbara.

         12                 DR. WARREN: Thank you, Councilwoman

         13  Quinn. And thank you very much to all members of the

         14  Council for your leadership around this and all the

         15  other health issues that you provided leadership on.

         16  My name is Dr. Barbara Warren. I am the Director of

         17  Organizational Development, Planning and Research at

         18  The Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Community

         19  Center on West 13th Street. I've been at the Center

         20  for 18 years. I was formerly the Director of Mental

         21  Health and Social Services. I have been involved in

         22  substance abuse work, particularly around LGBT

         23  issues for nearly 20 years. I have also been

         24  involved in working around the specific issue of

         25  crystal methamphetamine since about 2000.
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          2                 Although, I do want to say that in

          3  the mid- 1990's, friends on the west coast,

          4  colleagues on the west coast, who were working with

          5  crisis of crystal meth that was then raging in San

          6  Francisco amongst gay and bisexual men, particularly

          7  my good friend, Joe Nicen (phonetic) who is the

          8  Executive Director of New Leaf (phonetic) which is a

          9  gay drug treatment center in San Francisco and one

         10  of the oldest ones in the country; called me up and

         11  said look out, this is coming your way. At that

         12  time, I regret to say we had so many other issues

         13  that were assailing in New York and we weren't

         14  seeing crystal meth in New York that I said when it

         15  gets here, I'll deal with it. I regret that today.

         16  But we have been dealing with it since 2000.

         17                 What I wanted to do this morning and

         18  you have written testimony in front of you. Actually

         19  now it's this afternoon. Also, I just want to say

         20  that Dr. Perry Halkitis who we have been working

         21  very closely with had to leave. You've got his

         22  testimony. And I'm going to not give his testimony,

         23  but I'm going to make certain references to his data

         24  because there was some misinformation about his data

         25  that was given earlier. There is a couple of
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          2  comments I want to make and then I'm going to

          3  directly address what you have in front of you that

          4  I wrote.

          5                 I was very interested to hear the

          6  discussion and kudos to you, Councilwoman Quinn, for

          7  talking about federal money. In fact, we were the

          8  recipients of an early center for substance abuse

          9  prevention crystal methamphetamine infrastructure

         10  grant back in 2001. It was a one year grant. It

         11  allowed us to begin to build our crystal meth

         12  campaigns, prevention and our website. We were

         13  promised additional monies. They changed the nature

         14  of the grant applications. We were told we couldn't

         15  apply because it was now for Ecstasy in 2002. And as

         16  you know in 2004, they changed the focus to rural

         17  America. It was totally political. It had nothing to

         18  do with lack of data. There is plenty of

         19  epidemiological data indicating rising rates of

         20  crystal methamphetamine use in cities that the

         21  federal government has access too.

         22                 In fact, we took a delegation of

         23  people from New York City and from around the

         24  country to Washington in March during LGBT Health

         25  Awareness Week and we meet with Gail Hutchings

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  (phonetic) who is the Chief of Staff to Charles

          3  Curry (phonetic). He was out of the country. We met

          4  with Wesley Clarke, Director of C-SAT (phonetic);

          5  Beverely Watts-Davis, Director of C-SAT; and

          6  Catherine Powers, Director of the Center for Mental

          7  Health Services, specifically to complain about the

          8  fact that they didn't address monies that they

          9  should have addressed to be used for crystal

         10  methamphetamine and other party drug use. We invited

         11  Bob Nickerson (phonetic), who some of you know is

         12  New York City's lobbyist in Washington or point

         13  person I should say, around HIV/AIDS and other

         14  health issues. He was sick that day so he didn't

         15  come. Sometimes, I wonder if I speak more to Bob

         16  Nickerson than the Department of Health does.

         17                 I just wanted to make that point and

         18  those of us in the non- profit sector have been

         19  complaining vociferously to the Feds and we would

         20  welcome some attention from the City also

         21  complaining to the Federal government as well so

         22  they know that we're angry at them for this and they

         23  have plenty of data indicating it is a problem in

         24  urban areas. I also just wanted to correct some

         25  misinformation, with all due respect to Dr.
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          2  Weisfuse, who I adore and I've worked with for years

          3  and I think is doing a great job.

          4                 Dr. Halkitis's data is not only five

          5  to 15 percent. In fact, Dr. Halkitis's data shows

          6  that 30 to over 50 percent of the men that he has

          7  been sampling and they're getting younger and

          8  younger, are using crystal methamphetamine in

          9  alarming doses. In fact, the most survey that Dr.

         10  Halkitis has been doing has not been of convenience

         11  samples in clubs and at circuit parties. It's been

         12  of young men and men coming out of gyms. He's

         13  finding rates of 28 to 30 percent of men coming out

         14  of gyms in the middle of the day saying that they

         15  use crystal methamphetamine on a regular basis. And

         16  some of them use it to improve their workout. I

         17  think that we really need to get more information

         18  and the right information. Again, these are samples

         19  based on smaller studies. They are not general

         20  population studies. It's only recently that the City

         21  of New York has included questions on sexual

         22  orientation and gender identity in it's own general

         23  population studies. In fact, the Federal government

         24  still does not That's a problem we have.

         25                 On that note, I'm going to go more
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          2  directly into my own testimony. I'm not going to

          3  read it verbatim. But I'm going to say a couple of

          4  things. I want to thank the City for the support

          5  that they have given us so far to create these

          6  prevention education campaigns and at the same time,

          7  I want to complain. I want to say that we don't have

          8  an executed contract in the most recent round of

          9  funding. I want to say that a year ago I was here

         10  and I begged for money to do early intervention,

         11  counseling with folks in our community that will not

         12  present to a drug treatment center in a hospital

         13  base setting no matter how gay it is because they

         14  don't self- identify as addicted. But they will come

         15  into a community-based counseling program like ours

         16  or GMHC and they will stay there and they will get

         17  treatment there. We also can reach them as Steve was

         18  talking about, Dr. Lee was talking about, we can

         19  reach them earlier so that they don't develop the

         20  kind of full blown addiction that then takes more

         21  intensive therapy to treat.

         22                 We begged for money for that. What we

         23  got, I'm not complaining about because we need

         24  prevention money. But we were precluded and

         25  prohibited from using the money we did get recently
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          2  to do that work. We were told it had to be primary

          3  prevention. It had to be immediate campaign. It had

          4  to be spent by the end of June.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. I just

          6  want to ask a question particularly for our finance

          7  staff so we understand. The money that the Center

          8  got, do you know which pot of money that was from?

          9  Was it from the monies that got put in the DOHMH

         10  budget particularly of the mental health side for

         11  crystal?

         12                 DR. WARREN: Yes. Yes, it was the most

         13  recent allocation that came from the City Council, I

         14  believe. The previous allocation was supplemental

         15  funding for the CDC that was used and spent down.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just wanted to

         17  say one thing for the record and we will move on. I

         18  will immediately reach out to both the Chair of the

         19  Finance Committee and the Chair of the Mental Health

         20  Committee, Council Member Lopez, who was really the

         21  driving force --

         22                 DR. WARREN: Yes, she was.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: -- To get those

         24  funds. It was abundantly clear and if the

         25  legislative affairs could work with us on this, it
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          2  was abundantly clear in the budget process that

          3  there was the expansion of the money; that there was

          4  a new faith-based HIV prevention initiative, that

          5  there was money put in for IV drug users and then

          6  were was mental health funds put in on crystal meth.

          7  We would have liked to have had prevention money on

          8  the public health side as well. We didn't.

          9                 DR. WARREN: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We had mental

         11  health money. It's very, very helpful your testimony

         12  because those monies are being used not for

         13  treatment is exactly in contradiction to how they

         14  were allocated in the budget. So we will get right

         15  on it.

         16                 DR. WARREN: Right. And I want to be

         17  clear, we appreciate it. We need primary prevention.

         18  One of the problems though is we're all doing these

         19  poster campaigns off the top of our heads. We're not

         20  getting sufficient time or resources to do the kind

         21  of market analysis, the kind of focus groups up

         22  front. Like we don't know if these are working. We

         23  know we need them. But we don't know if they're

         24  working and we won't know by June 30 how well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Absolutely. In
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          2  addition, I think we do need prevention funds. But

          3  last year, we got something in the budget and it was

          4  for treatment. We weren't able to get as much money.

          5  And if the Department is then going to go use it

          6  differently than what is agreed too, that is a

          7  problem from your perspective. It's also a problem

          8  from our institutional perspective.

          9                 DR. WARREN: I take a bit of risk

         10  being honest about this. Because we do need

         11  prevention money. We need education and prevention.

         12  We appreciate that we got the money. We desperately

         13  need it. But we really need a more systematic

         14  approach to both what we get, how we get it, short-

         15  term, long- term. We need adequate resources to

         16  figure out if what we're doing is even effective. We

         17  could be wasting it. I also want to say about and

         18  this confirms I think within my written testimony

         19  with everything else you heard this morning. There

         20  are and I want to read a quote from one of our

         21  clients. In 2000, we saw 50 people presenting

         22  crystal meth, mostly gay men, in the center's

         23  community base counseling program, prevention,

         24  relapse prevention, early intervention. We do that

         25  and we do it professionally. A year later, that
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          2  doubled to 100 men. Two years later, it was 150 men.

          3  And the last year, it was 200, mostly men. Now we've

          4  got a few lesbian's and we also have the beginnings

          5  of transgender people coming in and saying they're

          6  using crystal.

          7                 Currently, we have 200 people in our

          8  community based services who are there, who very

          9  often resist going to hospital base drug treatment,

         10  who resist going to free standing programs partially

         11  because they are worried about the LGBT issue. But

         12  also because they don't necessarily identify as

         13  addicts and in need of formal treatment. I just want

         14  to read a quote. Someone recently who we tried to

         15  push into one of those programs said, why do I have

         16  to go somewhere else. I feel safe. I feel connected

         17  here. I can attend my 12- step meetings here. We now

         18  have almost 20 crystal meth anonymous meetings at

         19  the center on a weekly basis. I can see my counselor

         20  here. I can bring my boyfriend here for couples

         21  counseling. More to the point and when my acute

         22  treatment is done, I can come back here for a

         23  relapse prevention. Drug treatment does not pay for

         24  early intervention. Drug treatment does not pay for

         25  relapse prevention. Community based programs like
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          2  ours, like GMHC's, like Callen- Lorde are where you

          3  are going to be able to engage and retain a lot of

          4  these folks. Because we're not in the treatment

          5  system, we don't get adequate resources to meet

          6  those needs.

          7                 Finally, I want to say a little bit

          8  about some of the research because there is a lot

          9  been banding about here today about what works and

         10  what doesn't work. I'm right now working with Dr.

         11  Halkitis where we've written an NIDA grant. It's

         12  been submitted and resubmitted. Federal funding is

         13  available is do research on what works and doesn't

         14  work in drug treatment with crystal meth users. It's

         15  very hard to get. It's very competitive. It takes a

         16  long review process and we're still waiting. In the

         17  meantime, we have been working with folks on the

         18  west coast who do know what works and Dr. Lee

         19  referenced some of those studies. Steve Shoptaw and

         20  Cathy Reback out in Los Angeles have just completed

         21  a fabulous study, an urban sample of gay and

         22  bisexual men. They have found out that no one

         23  therapy works better than another. What they have

         24  found is that you need four or five different

         25  therapies in combination intensively, but then it
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          2  needs to be followed up by community based relapse

          3  prevention.

          4                 I'm really happy to hear that Callen-

          5  Lorde is working on a pharmacological intervention

          6  that's desparately needed. While we're waiting for

          7  NIDA money, we could sure use some money locally to

          8  do two things. To pilot that intervention before and

          9  then if we ever get NIDA, we will be ready to go. If

         10  we don't get it, we'll still have a pilot that we

         11  can evaluate. And number two, is we want and we've

         12  been talking to OASAS about this, we want to do a

         13  brief intervention and engagement model in community

         14  based settings for men using crystal and other party

         15  drugs. I want to do this in collaboration with

         16  Harlem United. We thought the last allocation of

         17  money would allow us to do that. But we were not

         18  allowed to use that money for that. We had to use it

         19  for primary prevention.

         20                 The good news is that we're aware of

         21  the issue. We appreciate your support and

         22  leadership. The bad news is we're desparately short

         23  of the necessary resources and we need to work

         24  together to create and implement a systematic

         25  approach so that we don't end up where San Francisco
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          2  is, so that we are able to avert it.

          3                 One last thing, Dr. Halkitis, does

          4  have some data. I'm not going to presume to present

          5  it, but I'm sure he will be able to at a future

          6  date. The young person study he's been doing has a

          7  considerable sample of heterosexual adolescents that

          8  are using crystal methamphetamine. So if you don't

          9  think it's going to end up in other communities,

         10  think again.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         12                 MR. JOHNSON: Thank you. Good

         13  afternoon. My name is Ronald Johnson. I'm the

         14  Associate Executive Director of Gay Men's Health

         15  Crisis here in New York City. Today, in its 24th

         16  year, GMHC provides comprehensive HIV services to

         17  over 15,000 clients and prevention education and

         18  counseling to thousands of those at risk of

         19  contracting HIV. Approximately one fifth of our

         20  clients readily acknowledge challenges with chemical

         21  dependency and addiction including crystal meth use

         22  and in contacting us and many more reveals such

         23  difficulties doing their care plan.

         24                 The crystal meth crisis which the

         25  City Council addressed in an oversight hearing last
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          2  year, continues to be important to all of us. We

          3  commend the members of the Council and the

          4  particular leadership of Speaker Miller and Council

          5  Members Lopez and Quinn, for their commitment to

          6  responding to the crystal meth crisis and

          7  demonstrating that commitment by adding needed

          8  funding in the FY 2005 budget. I would also just

          9  sort of amend my comments to note the concerns that

         10  we had in hearing the testimony earlier this morning

         11  from the Department of Health in terms of not having

         12  new City tax levy dollars in the budget and dipping

         13  into the $5 million initiative. Last year, in our

         14  testimony, Ana Oliveria specifically noted that we

         15  cannot be shifting monies, particularly monies that

         16  have been targeted to the HIV crisis in communities

         17  of color to the crystal meth issue. As important as

         18  that issue is, it demands new money. I will

         19  certainly reinforce that request.

         20                 Also, as noted at this time last year

         21  and certainly repeated here today, crystal meth is a

         22  dangerous and addictive drug. There are numerous

         23  studies, many of which my colleagues have already

         24  cited that show the danger of crystal meth and the

         25  link between crystal meth use and HIV and syphilis
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          2  transmission. Studies continue to show that

          3  methamphetamine use among gay men is strongly

          4  associated with sexual behaviors that increase the

          5  risk of the transmission of HIV and other sexually

          6  transmitted infections. I would agree with Dr.

          7  Warren in saying that the studies, our studies and

          8  our work indicates continued high levels of use and

          9  also disturbing spread, if you will, of crystal meth

         10  in communities of color. There continues to be

         11  somewhat of a myth that this is a Chelsea, West

         12  Village problem and that is certainly not true as

         13  our experience indicates.

         14                 The methamphetamine epidemic

         15  continues to be a growing concern to us here in New

         16  York City, where public awareness of crystal meth

         17  has increased greatly in the last year and a half.

         18  While much of the focus of the crystal meth crisis

         19  in New York City has been located in the community

         20  of men who have sex with men, all populations are

         21  vulnerable to crystal meth addiction and use, as

         22  evidenced in the patterns of addiction and use in

         23  other parts of the state and nationwide. GMHC

         24  continues to stress the importance of grounding our

         25  response in an understanding of crystal meth use in
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          2  a larger context, while at the same time, responding

          3  to the still immediate crisis among gay and bisexual

          4  men and men who have sex with men.

          5                 This larger context should also

          6  include the broad issue of alcohol and substance use

          7  and their relationship to HIV and AIDS. Again, other

          8  people who have testified have underscored this. But

          9  we need to be sure that we also ground our response

         10  to crystal meth in the context of the multiple drug

         11  use that is prevalent here in New York City and be

         12  mindful of the devastation of drug use in

         13  communities throughout our neighborhoods and this

         14  devastation has contributed to the

         15  disproportionately high rates of HIV infection that

         16  constitute a state of emergency in communities of

         17  color. When we talk about crystal meth use, we must

         18  do so in the context of these multiple drug

         19  epidemics here in the City.

         20                 In addressing the more immediate

         21  crystal meth crisis among gay men and men who have

         22  sex with men, we repeat the need to view crystal

         23  meth use as part of the larger issues of HIV

         24  prevention among men who have sex with men and the

         25  overall health of men who have sex with men. Our
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          2  response must be a part of a comprehensive approach

          3  to HIV prevention and substance use that addresses

          4  the varied needs of all segments of the population

          5  of men who have sex with men from the West Village

          6  to Chelsea to Central and East Harlem to the South

          7  Bronx, and throughout the City. Having reaffirmed

          8  the importance of viewing crystal meth in a larger

          9  context, I want to shift to the issues of treatment

         10  and law enforcement and the specific issue of Intro

         11  432, the legislation to limit the amount and manner

         12  of sale of substances that can be precursors to the

         13  manufacture of crystal meth.

         14                 For us at GMHC, drug addiction,

         15  whether it is to methamphetamine, heroin, crack,

         16  cocaine, or other substances is primarily a medical

         17  issue and should be handled as such by addiction

         18  specialists with the proper clinical training and

         19  with appropriate peer- based interventions. At GMHC,

         20  our Substance Use Counseling and Education Program

         21  (SUCE), sees gay and bisexual men who are using

         22  methamphetamine. We offer our services to those who

         23  want to stop or reduce their use or minimize the

         24  harm associated with their crystal habit and

         25  hopefully move them to a point where they can go

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  into treatment to stop the use of crystal meth. Our

          3  colleagues at Callen- Lorde, the LGBT Community

          4  Center and positive health project also offer

          5  critical community- based programs specifically

          6  designed for lesbian and gay, bisexual and

          7  transgender people with addiction to

          8  methamphetamine.

          9                 The methamphetamine epidemic poses

         10  particular challenges for drug treatment programs.

         11  Again, my colleagues have noted these challenges and

         12  some of the concerns which somewhat differ from the

         13  testimony provided earlier this morning by the

         14  Department of Health. We feel there continues to be

         15  too few drug treatment programs specifically

         16  targeted at methamphetamine users and gay men who

         17  are currently the most frequently users of this drug

         18  in New York City. As we continue to expand our

         19  response to the epidemic of methamphetamine use, we

         20  need to ensure the availability of a continuum of

         21  drug treatment slots that reflect comprehensive

         22  approaches, including abstinence, detoxification,

         23  harm reduction and other approaches to the

         24  treatment; particularly for people who are not yet

         25  ready for treatment and hope again, as I said, aimed
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          2  at getting them to a point of treatment readiness.

          3                 We repeat our call for the City and

          4  the State to support an increase in methamphetamine

          5  treatment programs specifically for meth use and

          6  specifically for gay and bisexual men that include

          7  relapse prevention services and needle exchange

          8  among the continuum of care for drug users. I do

          9  appreciate the comments that you as Chair, Council

         10  Member Quinn, made this morning at the alarm that

         11  our Department of Health and this City has not been

         12  as aggressive as they need to be in terms of the

         13  urban problems that we face, which is not to detract

         14  from the rural problems in the rest of the country.

         15  But is certainly to say that we do have an urban

         16  focus problem here in New York.

         17                 The rise in the use of crystal meth

         18  and increased awareness of the multiple damages

         19  associated with crystal meth use, certainly lead to

         20  calls for a stronger law enforcement approach. This

         21  includes legislation to restrict the amount and

         22  manner of sale of substances used in the manufacture

         23  of crystal meth. Intro 432, the issue before this

         24  hearing, is an example of such legislation and I do

         25  want to comment on that.
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          2                 While we at GMHC do not question the

          3  need for a law enforcement response to the illegal

          4  and dangerous labs that produce crystal meth, we

          5  feel that Intro 432 is an unnecessary response to

          6  the threat of crystal meth labs in New York City and

          7  we oppose the proposed legislation in its current

          8  form. There are several reasons behind our views on

          9  the proposed bill. The primary reason that I will go

         10  into today is our belief that the response proposed

         11  in the bill is too drastic and could have a punitive

         12  effect that far exceeds the threat of crystal meth

         13  labs here in New York City. According to data

         14  included in the recent report released by the New

         15  York State Commission of Investigation, and also

         16  that from testimony that was earlier given, the

         17  discovered number of labs in the more rural areas of

         18  the State, including counties in the Southern Tier,

         19  far out number labs found in New York City.

         20                 While I would not dispute the

         21  assertion that one lab found is one lab too many and

         22  that for every discovered lab, there may be others

         23  that are still undiscovered. The evidence that we

         24  have reviewed does not suggest that crystal meth

         25  labs are critical elements of the crystal meth
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          2  crisis here in New York City. The sale and

          3  distribution, particularly the wholesale sale and

          4  distribution of crystal meth here in New York City

          5  is certainly the far bigger crisis and demands the

          6  proper law enforcement approach.

          7                 Also, from our knowledge of the

          8  crystal meth manufacturing process, the physical

          9  conditions of New York City, particularly the

         10  population and building density are not conducive to

         11  establishing crystal meth labs here. The threat of

         12  crystal labs that is prevalent in rural communities

         13  is not likely to be a similar threat here in New

         14  York City. The legitimate consumers of cold remedies

         15  and the retailers that sell the products, including

         16  many small retailers, potentially would be hurt far

         17  more than potential manufacturers of crystal meth by

         18  the Intro 432 in its current form. We feel that

         19  Intro 432 could create the illusion of a response

         20  rather than being a real response to the realities

         21  of crystal meth crisis here in New York City.

         22                 In concluding my remarks, I want to

         23  again commend the various efforts over the past 18

         24  months to increase public awareness of the crystal

         25  meth crisis, including efforts initiated by or
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          2  supported by the City Council. These include media

          3  attention, community forums, ad campaigns, the

          4  formation of task forces and working groups,

          5  increased government funding and continued

          6  oversight, as evidenced in today's hearing. While we

          7  oppose the current piece of legislation, we urge the

          8  City to continue its focus on the crystal meth

          9  crisis and to increase its support for public

         10  information campaigns, community mobilization

         11  efforts and greater efforts at treatment. This

         12  should include information for the general

         13  population as well as targeted campaigns to the

         14  lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender communities.

         15                 The multiple epidemics of drug use in

         16  New York City are not new, but I hope we can all

         17  have a continued commitment towards fighting these

         18  epidemics, no matter which drug we are talking

         19  about. I will repeat what we said last year.

         20  Progressive drug policies and an expansion of

         21  treatment and prevention services may not be popular

         22  things to support. The temptation might be to

         23  respond by enacting seemingly strong measures and

         24  perhaps mounting one or two public education

         25  campaigns about the dangers of crystal meth, but
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          2  leave our communities bereft of the services they

          3  need and with public policies that fail to address

          4  the crisis meaningfully. This would be a disservice

          5  to all New Yorkers. Let's not repeat past mistakes.

          6                 I urge you to marshal the necessary

          7  resources to address the real elements of the crisis

          8  at hand in the community while simultaneously

          9  preventing its expansion. Thank you very much.

         10                 MR. LAUDATO: My testimony is here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The Sergeant will

         12  come and grab it.

         13                 MR. LAUDATO: First let me introduce

         14  myself and thank you. I'm Jay Laudato of Callen-

         15  Lorde Community Health Center. I thank you for this

         16  hearing. I want to thank Council Member Quinn, but

         17  also Council Member Clarke and Council Member

         18  Stewart for staying through the hearing. It is

         19  impressive that the Council comes out to hear the

         20  Administration, but I really appreciate the respect

         21  that's shown when you stay to here the community

         22  talk. I want to also recognize that Brett Larson

         23  from the Department of Health has stayed. I

         24  appreciate that effort as well.

         25                 I'm going to be very brief. I'm going
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          2  to skim through part of my testimony and I'm going

          3  to give you some additional comments based on some

          4  of the issues that were raised before. This

          5  testimony is offered by HIV Forum, whose purpose is

          6  to raise awareness and create action among gay men

          7  on issues affecting their health and well- being,

          8  especially related to HIV infection and Callen-

          9  Lorde Community Health Center, whose purpose is to

         10  provide comprehensive health care and related

         11  services to the LGBT community, regardless of the

         12  ability to pay.

         13                 HIV Forum also administers the

         14  Crystal Meth Working Group, a group of activists,

         15  recovering addicts, creative artists who produce the

         16  crystal meth prevention advertising. First, we want

         17  to recognize and thank the decisive efforts of the

         18  Health and Mental Health Committees and their

         19  Chairs, Council Members Quinn and Lopez in

         20  addressing the critical health issue for the

         21  community. We are grateful for this opportunity to

         22  provide testimony on further strategies to address

         23  the crystal meth crisis.

         24                 Our brief comments will focus on four

         25  areas: Primary prevention, secondary prevention,
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          2  treatment and surveillance data. Primary Prevention:

          3  With funding allocated by the Department of Health

          4  and Mental Hygiene and the City Council, a

          5  significant impact has been made in making the

          6  community aware of the dangers of crystal meth, both

          7  as a powerfully addictive drug and its relationship

          8  to HIV infection and other sexually transmitted

          9  infections. In the first round of funding, broad

         10  advertising campaigns, community forums, and

         11  individual outreach programs were developed. We

         12  believe now that a large majority of community

         13  members have heard of crystal meth and its danger.

         14  It is our strong belief that these primary

         15  prevention efforts should be continued to ensure

         16  that this important message is not lost to the

         17  continuing allure of this deadly drug.

         18                 However, as community knowledge about

         19  crystal meth grows, social marketing efforts must

         20  change from imparting information to affecting

         21  beliefs and influencing behavior. To achieve this

         22  end, HIV Forum and Callen- Lorde will pilot a social

         23  norms approach in its public announcements. This is

         24  something that Dr. Lee referenced in his earlier

         25  testimony. Social psychology has demonstrated the
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          2  importance of peer attitudes as it relates to health

          3  behavior. Research in this area has also

          4  demonstrated that there are misperceived norms;

          5  perceptions that usually exaggerate what is typical

          6  for other people and lead to increased drug use

          7  behavior as people attempt to conform what they

          8  believe everyone else is doing. The objective of our

          9  upcoming campaign is to create a social climate

         10  which gay men will accurately understand peer norms,

         11  in other words, disapproval of crystal meth use and

         12  so will have more responsible conversations about

         13  crystal meth.

         14                 In concert with this campaign, a

         15  portion of the funding will be used to support

         16  outreach workers under a CDC developed intervention

         17  called Popular Opinion Leaders. Through this

         18  intervention, we seek to carry this information and

         19  conversations to individuals at the highest risk.

         20  The scope of our proposed contract with the

         21  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene is attached

         22  in full to your testimony so that you can understand

         23  and have the references to the research that went

         24  behind the social norms approach.

         25                 In terms of secondary prevention and
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          2  treatment, again, while we have made significant

          3  inroads into educating non- users about the dangers

          4  of crystal meth, (i.e., primary prevention), it is

          5  clear that there are now many who do use and who

          6  have become addicted to crystal meth. While

          7  definitive numbers are not available, a point we

          8  will raise later in this testimony, the growing

          9  number of CMA groups alone is a strong indicator of

         10  the increasing prevalence of this drug problem and

         11  the need for treatment options. Again, we are

         12  grateful to the City Council, especially Margarita

         13  Lopez and the Mental Health Committee for funding

         14  the first dedicated treatment options.

         15                 Even while episodic and casual users

         16  may experience some of the most serious health and

         17  social consequences of crystal meth, including HIV

         18  infection, violence and incarceration, of equal

         19  concern, is the rapid progression to addiction that

         20  can occur among episodic users. We know that some

         21  community based organizations have developed

         22  materials and interventions focusing on this group,

         23  but we urge a broader effort to be launched

         24  targeting this group. In part, this relates back to

         25  Barbara's comments.
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          2                 We must commit ourselves and

          3  resources to a sustained, two, three year social

          4  norms campaign that incorporates data collection,

          5  traditional gay print media, electronic media (i.e,

          6  the Internet), popular opinion leaders, and

          7  community outreach to gay social venues,

          8  organizations, and informal social networks. This

          9  comprehensive set of initiatives will reduce harmful

         10  misperceptions about crystal meth use among gay men

         11  in New York City and promote the acceptability of

         12  crystal meth abstinence for a significant majority

         13  of gay men by creating integrated social climate in

         14  which gay men will more accurately understand peer

         15  disapproval for crystal meth use. We can shift

         16  community norms.

         17                 In terms of treatment, there are

         18  several community based counseling programs and now

         19  with funding from the City Council several OASAS

         20  based licensed treatment options, Callen- Lorde has

         21  launched its detoxification evaluation program just

         22  this past month. I want to stop in my testimony and

         23  make something clear. Callen- Lorde does not provide

         24  substance abuse treatment as an article 28 facility

         25  is a licensed medical facility. We are precluded
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          2  from providing substance abuse treatment unless we

          3  were to obtain an OASAS license. We make no

          4  representation that we provide any type of treatment

          5  or counseling.

          6                 Our detox program is an evaluation

          7  funded by the New York State Department of Health

          8  AIDS Institute. It's IRB approved. And the

          9  evaluation of it --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What approved?

         11                 MR. LAUDATO: I'm sorry?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What approved?

         13                 MR. LAUDATO: It's a research program

         14  that has an independent review boards approval so

         15  we're not harming anyone. It's being evaluated by

         16  the New York Academy of Medicine. We will not

         17  continue this program after the evaluation has been

         18  taken place to show whether or not the medical detox

         19  was effective or not unless we get a waiver from the

         20  State Department of Health or the Office of OASAS to

         21  do such. We are at a real problem place with

         22  treatment options. I would hazard to say that the

         23  reason why the latest round of City Council funds

         24  which went through the Department of Mental

         25  Hygiene's budget precluded community based
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          2  organizations from providing any counselling, was

          3  that they weren't OASAS licensed. As a former City

          4  of New York employee, I bet my bottom dollar on it.

          5  I think that's a real challenge and problem. I'm

          6  going to bring it up again at the conclusion.

          7                 Of particular concern is the creation

          8  of a supportive environment for gay men within the

          9  context of treatment. The link between sexual

         10  activity and crystal meth is well documented both as

         11  cause for its use but also as a trigger for relapse.

         12  The creation of gay sensitive and support treatment

         13  options is critical for the success of these

         14  programs. We urge also that evaluation of treatment

         15  projects be made so that interventions can be

         16  improved and replicated.

         17                 Surveillance Data. For all the areas

         18  of primary prevention, secondary prevention and

         19  treatment, we urge the City to develop a coordinated

         20  plan of gathering data and analysis that will allow

         21  both government and community efforts to become more

         22  effective and targeted. As we move beyond our

         23  initial responses to this serious problem, in which

         24  any effort at raising awareness was a success, we

         25  must now have the information, not only about
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          2  individually funded projects, but also about the

          3  prevalence data about crystal meth where its

          4  intersecting with health and social service systems

          5  to make effective programs. Data from the Department

          6  of Health and Mental Hygiene, STD and HIV clinics,

          7  OASAS clinics, emergency room admissions, criminal

          8  justice systems and community based organizations

          9  could greatly assist in defining the scope and

         10  tailoring effective interventions to this evolving

         11  health issue.

         12                 In conclusion, I want to thank the

         13  Council for its leadership and urge continued and

         14  increased funding for these areas to support all New

         15  Yorkers. If I may, there is a couple of other

         16  comments I'd just like to make that is related to

         17  some of the other issues involved. The first were

         18  some of the comments by the Department of Health and

         19  Mental Hygiene about substance abuse treatment. The

         20  notion that stimulant based treatment for crystal

         21  meth and cocaine could be roughly equivalent. Again,

         22  while Dr. Lee has talked very articulately about the

         23  interrelationship between cocaine or the way in

         24  which stimulants affect the brain, there is very

         25  limited effective treatment out there for
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          2  crack/cocaine. There is a lot of relapse. We should

          3  expect since these drugs are related to see a lot of

          4  relapse. Crystal is different. It's uglier. But it

          5  is quite the same.

          6                 One of the things that we know about

          7  treatment is a network of support. People have to be

          8  part of 12- step groups and so why do people go on

          9  Friday to these things? Churches, other places. And

         10  for crystal meth and because of the way gay men have

         11  used it and adopted this drug, those networks or

         12  support are critical for success. So places like the

         13  center, like GMHC, where people can engage in the

         14  community and a network of support that will enforce

         15  that is really important. We need to know that there

         16  has to be after treatment programs and it has to be

         17  based within the community.

         18                 I also want to say that New York

         19  State and I've said this at every hearing, New York

         20  City and New York State is in one of the most

         21  completely policy retarded places one could imagine

         22  in terms of substance abuse and mental health

         23  licensure. There has been no new mental health or

         24  substance abuse treatment licensees in New York

         25  State in 13 years. There is a Medicaid Neutrality
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          2  Program, and OASAS has been clearly told by the

          3  governor that all the drug needs of all the

          4  treatment folks in treatment are being met because

          5  we will not spend another dime on substance abuse

          6  treatment or mental health. That's clearly been the

          7  process. We see many people who are leaving programs

          8  and opening treatment programs in New Jersey. You

          9  can get somebody detoxed in Jersey. But you can't do

         10  it in New York City and its been 13 years and it

         11  really needs to stop.

         12                 The last things I actually want to

         13  say were in reference to some of your questions

         14  about the newly identified HIV infection. I can wait

         15  if you want to ask questions or I can give you those

         16  comments now. We are familiar with the gentlemen who

         17  had the great misfortune to have a resistance to

         18  most drugs and to have a rapid progression to HIV.

         19  It is very unclear whether or not that drug

         20  resistance was related to the rapid progression to

         21  HIV. What we do know is that drug resistance happens

         22  in every case when a person is infected by someone

         23  who has HIV and has been on treatment for HIV. What

         24  we have seen in this one person who is now resistant

         25  to 19 or 20 drugs is really a benchmark on what's

                                                            147

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  happening to the epidemic in New York City. Data

          3  that was released along with this by Aaron Diamond

          4  (phonetic) who found the case has gone largely

          5  unrecognized. That the information we have about

          6  newly diagnosed persons over the last four years has

          7  said that ten percent of all new infections had

          8  resistance to one class of drugs; it's now 20

          9  percent.

         10                 There were two percent of all new

         11  infections were resistant to at least two classes of

         12  drugs; it's now nine and a half percent. In four

         13  years, the epidemic has widely changed. So that now

         14  all of us who provide medical care have been urged

         15  by the State to do drug resistance testing

         16  immediately when patients are identified as HIV

         17  positive because we are living in a very mature

         18  epidemic in New York City. This one man is not the

         19  problem. The problem is everybody who is going to be

         20  getting HIV or living with HIV is going to run out

         21  of treatment options if that sort of wildly

         22  progressive sort of infection rate continues.

         23                 This has gone undiscussed. It is

         24  shocking to me. It needs to be addressed. We need to

         25  take a few pieces of key data and make sure that the
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          2  community is aware of it. And we need to do things

          3  about HIV prevention that are different than what

          4  we've done. One of the things that's very clear to

          5  me and I'm sure its clear to my colleagues is HIV

          6  prevention is not about HIV anymore. We all know how

          7  HIV is transmitted and yet people keep getting it.

          8  We have more people in their 40's who test positive

          9  at Callen- Lorde than we have guys in their 20's and

         10  30's. What it tells me is that they have all the

         11  information and yet something else is happening in

         12  their lives. Let's reflect back on the idea that New

         13  York State has not offered a single new mental

         14  health or substance abuse treatment license in 13

         15  years.

         16                 There is a clear problem that is

         17  transpiring here in terms of how we're looking at

         18  the epidemic of both substance use and HIV in New

         19  York City and New York State. Thank you.

         20                 DR. WARREN: I just wanted to add

         21  something. I wasn't going to say this, but I'm just

         22  going to go ahead and say this. Actually, Jay is

         23  absolutely right. However, I did want make some

         24  information available to the Council. First of all,

         25  the LGBT community center has an OASAS prevention
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          2  counseling license. We've had it for a number of

          3  years. We felt that gave us sort of credentialing to

          4  offer both early intervention and relapse prevention

          5  services. But when we made that argument to the City

          6  when they told us we couldn't use the money for

          7  counseling, this most recent allocation because we

          8  weren't a treatment program, that didn't cut it.

          9                 I'm just going to say this. We

         10  actually have a treatment license pending with OASAS

         11  right now and it's looking pretty good, I'm happy to

         12  say. I'm hoping that we will be on board with that

         13  and be able to move ahead with that this summer. We

         14  have the application in. It's looking good with

         15  OASAS and we will have an outpatient chemical

         16  dependency license. I think it's called a Part 122,

         17  if all goes well as of this summer. That will make a

         18  huge difference, I think, to all of us in terms of

         19  making some more community based treatment options

         20  that are LGBT specific available. I'm not going to

         21  say its sufficient. I agree with Jay's comment that

         22  that's just the beginning and hopefully it's not too

         23  little too late.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all for

         25  your testimony. I think there is a lot of questions
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          2  I could ask. But just kind indifference to time, I

          3  took a lot back from this panel, but I think the

          4  thing I took that's most important from this panel

          5  is that there is not (it is my opinion), there is

          6  not clear enough -- I don't hear a clear enough

          7  connection between the community that's doing the

          8  work and serving people and everything the

          9  Department of Health is saying. It may be that on

         10  treatment models or even prevention models that

         11  there is disagreement and that there is not

         12  necessarily that maybe the community and DOH are not

         13  going to see it the same way. But that's not what I

         14  heard from them. What I heard from them this is kind

         15  of a more definite perspective on how it should be

         16  done and that is somewhat different from what I'm

         17  hearing here is very troubling to me about how

         18  coordinated we are or are not collectively in

         19  dealing with this.

         20                 That said, one of the things I wanted

         21  to propose to do as follow up to this is probably

         22  some type of series of and I'd asked you guys to

         23  think about what the best format is because I don't

         24  know. I think we need to have particularly as we

         25  head into the budget months some follow up
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          2  discussions with the Council, with DOH, with

          3  community groups to resolve some of the questions

          4  and contradictions that we heard between this panel

          5  and the previous panel. I would ask you guys to give

          6  some thought and follow up the best format to do

          7  that in. I'd ask the folks from the Department of

          8  Health and also Legislative Affairs to give some

          9  thought on what the best format is so we can all

         10  kind of be pulling the oars at the same time in

         11  general and specifically as it relates to the budget

         12  process. But thank you very much for all of your

         13  testimony and clearly all the time you put into the

         14  testimony. Because for me it was incredibly

         15  informative and educational and also laid out a lot

         16  of specific follow up actions that will happen after

         17  this hearing. Thank you very much. Council Member

         18  Stewart has some questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair. I think it was Mr. Johnson, this bill

         21  intends to really limit the sale of some of the

         22  ingredients that is readily available in a lot of

         23  places. Apparently, you give the impression that you

         24  don't think this is the way we should go. My

         25  question is basically how do you see us really
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          2  trying to limit this sale of these ingredients or

          3  restrict?

          4                 MR. JOHNSON: The limiting the sale of

          5  ingredients is probably more appropriate in those

          6  areas where the possibility of the manufacturing is

          7  the bigger threat, as New York State Commissioner on

          8  Investigation and the relatively large concentration

          9  in the more rural counties, particularly in the

         10  Southern Tier, closer to Pennsylvania border, I

         11  would think that perhaps this Council working with

         12  some of their legislative colleagues in those

         13  counties and looking at the kind of similar

         14  legislation to Intro 432 that might be more

         15  appropriate in those areas or as was mentioned

         16  today, looking at a more Statewide approach to this,

         17  I think is a more appropriate response to the

         18  problem that the sale of precursors substances

         19  poses.

         20                 I don't think and I would repeat that

         21  given the realities of the wholesale sale and

         22  distribution of crystal meth in New York City is a

         23  larger threat than the manufacturing of crystal meth

         24  in New York City. I think our law enforcement

         25  responses should be tailored to what is the more
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          2  appropriate threat. Perhaps working, again, with

          3  legislative colleagues in other counties where that

          4  threat is more real would be a more appropriate

          5  approach to dealing with the sale issue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: When I look

          7  at places like let's say BJ's or Costco and I can

          8  walk in there and I get a family size or jumbo pack

          9  and I can buy as many as I want these products that

         10  will contain these ingredients, you don't think that

         11  should be restricted?

         12                 MR. JOHNSON: I think the issue and

         13  certainly there is Federal legislation and other

         14  states have looked at legislation so I would say,

         15  certainly we may need to look at the sale issue.

         16  Again, perhaps this might be more appropriate at the

         17  State level to see what measures might best be taken

         18  in terms of restricting sales of substances. But I

         19  would again say that the legislation as it is

         20  currently worded raises strong concerns and as was

         21  stated in other testimony provided here this morning

         22  that it is too restrictive and could have a punitive

         23  effect that is not responsive to the problems of

         24  crystal meth use. I think we need to look at whether

         25  that is the most appropriate response given the

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  threat of crystal meth manufacturing here in New

          3  York as opposed to other areas in the State and how

          4  laws not might be better tailored to affect that

          5  process and that problem and really target our law

          6  enforcement to a degree to which we need a law

          7  enforcement approach to crystal meth use. I

          8  certainly think there is obviously a role for law

          9  enforcement, but to tailor that to what is the more

         10  realistic threat. The wholesale selling and

         11  distribution, I think is the more immediate problem

         12  from a law enforcement perspective.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just want

         14  to change the topic a little bit. Just recently, one

         15  of you mentioned that there has not been a new

         16  treatment license issued by the State. Can you tell

         17  me the reason why? Do you have any explanation for

         18  that considering the fact we considered this an

         19  epidemic and its increasing, et cetera? Can you say

         20  why?

         21                 MR. LAUDATO: New York State separates

         22  mental health and substance abuse at the State

         23  level. The Department of Mental Health, when working

         24  under what's called the Reinvestment Act for about

         25  nine years now in which they took total allocations
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          2  of Medicaid dollars primarily for inpatient

          3  psychiatric facilities, delicense those and then set

          4  a cap. If somebody wanted in terms of mental health

          5  to get what was called an Article 31 license, you

          6  would have to trade in the equivalent amount of

          7  Medicaid revenue to issue that license. There has

          8  been a lot of shift in change in hospitals where

          9  some have decertified inpatient beds and opened more

         10  treatment slots and clinics. But there is no new

         11  players really into the system for that.

         12                 Office of Alcohol and Substance Abuse

         13  Services went to a very significant reorganization

         14  of all of their services about two years ago. That

         15  primarily comes from tax levy and some federal

         16  funds. In most substance abuse treatment services

         17  are not Medicaid reimbursed but are grant funded and

         18  are available to a broader group of people who are

         19  not Medicaid reliant. Those funds have been very

         20  tightly capped by the State and have not allocated

         21  more funds. Again, in order to get one of those, you

         22  have to really try diligently and show a very

         23  significant need and I'm appreciative of the

         24  Center's probably what has been a long time push --

         25                 DR. WARREN: Seventeen years.
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          2                 MR. LAUDATO: -- To get a license.

          3  Because they're just not going to do it. There is no

          4  money. It's allocated through tax levy and there is

          5  not just going to be new money. And that is very

          6  much an unspoken policy, but it's very clear to see

          7  in the public record.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: My last

          9  question, Madam Chair. Considering our position in

         10  the Council here and you said that the State hasn't

         11  been, can you list one or two clear cut

         12  recommendations that we should be looking at to at

         13  least address the problem? We have been trying to

         14  come up with some sort of legislation to really work

         15  one part of it, but we would like to get

         16  suggestions. If you know any clear cut

         17  recommendation that you can offer us, I would like

         18  to hear it.

         19                 DR. LEE: I certainly think my

         20  colleagues will want to respond to that question as

         21  well. I'll follow up on the legislative question of

         22  mental health and substance abuse licenses. I would

         23  say that is a very dense political question that is

         24  not wholly within the City's purview to resolve.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Or even it has

          3  broader implications beyond LGBT service

          4  organizations.

          5                 DR. LEE: Oh, yes. There is a lot of

          6  us in the City, but there is plenty more other

          7  people. They've all been screwed for the past 13

          8  years.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We like to think

         10  we're everybody, but we have to admit we're not.

         11                 DR. LEE: I really think there is only

         12  actually about six. Well there is six of us in the

         13  room now. So I don't know who is outside. But I

         14  would say to you, sir, there is flexibility in how

         15  the Administration can implement and do things. This

         16  latest round of funding and the allocation not

         17  through the Health Committee, but then through the

         18  Mental Health Committee was a political decision. It

         19  was not a legislatively necessary decision. It has

         20  delayed the funding and it has taken away from the

         21  community valuable treatment options. I would say to

         22  you there is an internal work there.

         23                 If there is availability, we need

         24  funds in the FY 06 budget for continued prevention

         25  and both advertising and community based counseling
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          2  services. Treatment programs, I think, do need seed

          3  funding. But by virtual of being treatment programs,

          4  they do have other funding streams that does not

          5  replicate the need for engagement and supports. That

          6  has to be thought through in a meaningful way and

          7  probably through an RFP process. I certainly want to

          8  give my colleagues an opportunity.

          9                 MR. JOHNSON: I would add particularly

         10  looking on the issue of the State and I think while

         11  there may be myriad reasons why the condition that

         12  Jay and Barbara noted of no new licenses in many

         13  years. Part of the issue that I would suggest is

         14  that one of accountability. I think it certainly

         15  would be a proper role of members of the City

         16  Council to call their colleagues on the State level

         17  to accountable or at least to raise the question. I

         18  think there is a clear role for the Black and Puerto

         19  Rican caucus at the State legislature to begin

         20  raising these questions for the caucus to ask the

         21  Governor why are there no given treatment slots or

         22  an expansion of treatment slots. Clearly, this issue

         23  is one that has long since been of crisis proportion

         24  in communities of color. The addition of HIV

         25  infection and the connection between HIV and how
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          2  substance abuse drives HIV in communities of color

          3  is a clear example that the State should be held

          4  accountable for and should be made to answer. I

          5  think urging the Black and Puerto Rican caucus to

          6  raise these questions is one possible response.

          7                 DR. WARREN: I just want to go back to

          8  what Council Member Quinn said sort at the very

          9  beginning of this long hearing this morning about

         10  holding the Feds accountable. Particularly with the

         11  current administration in Washington and the degree

         12  to which New York has connections to that

         13  administration (to whatever extent that is), I think

         14  it's imperative that the City Council hold the Mayor

         15  accountable and that the Mayor hold the Feds

         16  accountable for what resources they will or will not

         17  allocate to New York City around crystal

         18  methamphetamine in particular and than any other

         19  related issues, particularly around HIV.

         20                 I've spent a lot of time in

         21  Washington and I've spent a lot of time talking to

         22  people at Samsha, at the CDC recently down in

         23  Atlanta; also HHS. We had a meeting recently with a

         24  surgeon general and we brought this to his

         25  attention. But certainly there needs to be a more
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          2  sort of consistent and I think a much stronger

          3  effort on the part of the New York City government

          4  to advocate in Washington for the allocation of

          5  funding around both the HIV crisis and the crystal

          6  meth crisis. I think that's certainly something that

          7  if you all work together, you could probably

          8  accomplish.

          9                 MR. LAUDATO: In a way, I feel like

         10  I'm probably going to be repeating what everybody

         11  else has said. I'm clearly not an administrator or a

         12  politician. I'm a clinician. I'm learning through

         13  this process the way the things work and it has been

         14  surprising to me the differentiation between health

         15  versus substance abuse because I see them as the

         16  same thing. One thing that many of us, at least

         17  three of us at this table were at a national

         18  conveying at the CDC in Atlanta looking at the issue

         19  of crystal methamphetamine and HIV. One thing that

         20  was quite remarkable was the absence of Samsha's

         21  participation even though they said that they were

         22  suppose to be there. Their attitude and that sort of

         23  demonstration of apathy, I think is extremely

         24  important and so my recommendation or my hope would

         25  be that as politicians that you are able to dialogue
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          2  with them.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Elected officials.

          4                 MR. LAUDATO: I'm sorry?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Elected officials.

          6                 MR. LAUDATO: Yes, yes. I will work on

          7  that on part. But in addition to that, outside of

          8  that part, even within the substance abuse treatment

          9  community, it is alarming. I spoke with medical

         10  directors of substance abuse treatment and programs

         11  out west where most of us send our patients for

         12  inpatient treatment. Out west, California is where a

         13  lot of this started. A lot of these medical

         14  directors are unaware of what is going on. They are

         15  unaware of how to treat crystal, of what it is

         16  about, how it represents and when I actually asked

         17  to see their statistics of how much they're

         18  treating, it is very low. It is because none of us

         19  are sending patients over there. People don't know,

         20  so I think education efforts on public level and

         21  from where I am, from the medical level, that needs

         22  to be improved.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         25  Like yourself, I'm not a politician. I'm a
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          2  commissioner.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: He's a doctor

          4  himself. Dr. Council Member Kendall Stewart. Thank

          5  you all very much and we will definitely be

          6  following up. Thank you. Next we're going to call up

          7  Peter Gustafson of the New York Metro Retail

          8  Association; Michael O'Loughlin representing the New

          9  York City Pharmacy Society. After those two

         10  gentlemen speak, we will have our final two speakers

         11  who are Daniel Raymond and Lee. Peter, why don't you

         12  go right ahead? When the light is off, the mic is

         13  on. Go right ahead.

         14                 MR. GUSTAFSON: I want to first and

         15  foremost thank you for inviting me. This is my first

         16  time to New York City. I have enjoyed --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Ever?

         18                 MR. GUSTAFSON: Yes, ever.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Like in your whole

         20  life ever in New York City?

         21                 MR. GUSTAFSON: In my adult life. I

         22  was here when I was ten, but I don't remember much

         23  except the Statue of Liberty.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Look at that. The

         25  Health Committee is economic development. There you
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          2  go.

          3                 MR. GUSTAFSON: Good afternoon,

          4  Chairwoman Quinn and members of the Committee. My

          5  name is Peter Gustafson and I am the Coordinator of

          6  State Government Relations for the Walgreen Company.

          7  It's a Chicago based corporation operating 4,800

          8  stores in 45 states and Puerto Rico. I am here today

          9  testifying on behalf of the New York Metropolitan

         10  Retail Association, as well as Walgreens

         11  specifically. Much of my testimony has already been

         12  addressed today numerous times. I will try to just

         13  pick out parts of it and read from that instead of

         14  inundating you with my whole testimony.

         15                 What I'd like to address is primarily

         16  the provisions in the bill. As you may know or be

         17  aware or not aware, Walgreens as well as many other

         18  retail chains already place voluntary restrictions

         19  on methamphetamine precursors such as Sudafed. Here

         20  at Walgreens, we are not otherwise required by law,

         21  we voluntarily limit the sales already to two boxes

         22  not to exceed six grams per transaction. However, we

         23  encourage this Committee to explore more voluntary

         24  programs for all retailers who sell the Sudafed

         25  products in the City of New York.
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          2                 The report that was done by the New

          3  York State Commission of Investigation that's been

          4  referenced already today, I did identify and as

          5  you've heard that from 2000 to present according to

          6  the DEA, there have only been three reported labs

          7  within the City. As a result, the Commission

          8  concluded and Walgreens agrees at this time that the

          9  problem with methamphetamine in the City of New York

         10  is not one of production, but rather usage.

         11  Therefore, we recommend that additional funding be

         12  provided for treatment. Specifically, the commission

         13  recommended an increase in funding for

         14  detoxification and treatment programs as well as

         15  funding for public awareness research and training.

         16  I go into it but I think it's already been addressed

         17  as why additional funding is needed because of the

         18  higher relapse of meth addicts and so the longer

         19  need for detoxification.

         20                 I guess that's essentially what we

         21  wanted to do or say. We also kind of want to

         22  encourage the City Council to encourage the State

         23  local leaders in acting the controlled substance

         24  being punishable at an felony level. Apparently, New

         25  York State is the only state that has not made
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          2  manufacturing of a controlled substance a felony at

          3  this time. I encourage you guys to look at that as a

          4  further option. Really, that's all I wanted to say.

          5  Most of what has already been said to you, you've

          6  heard already. I will just close quickly by saying

          7  I'll be happy to assist with additional information

          8  you need. Walgreens has seen the meth epidemic

          9  problem starting in California. We have dealt with

         10  it in every state. I have dealt with it more

         11  specifically in Illinois where they passed a law.

         12  Iowa just passed the strongest law in the country.

         13  Oklahoma also has a law called Schedule Five. I

         14  guess essentially that is what Iowa is too.

         15                 There again, the problem being that

         16  they have hundreds, almost thousands of meth labs in

         17  production and that is why they have made the

         18  recommendations in their proposal and it is also

         19  where we would support there where not so much here

         20  in the City where it doesn't seem to be an issue. If

         21  you guys need any additional information, I have a

         22  source because we have a dealt with it and worked

         23  with most of the State legislators, if not all of

         24  them, who have or are proposing meth legislation

         25  currently. Thank you.
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          2                 MR. O'LOUGHLIN: Good afternoon,

          3  Chairperson Quinn and members of the Health

          4  Committee. My name is Michael O'Loughlin and I am

          5  here today representing Russell Gellis, the

          6  President of the New York City Pharmacists Society,

          7  the voice; the organization that represents more

          8  than 1,900 independent community pharmacies around

          9  New York City, every neighborhood of the City.

         10  Russell Gellis regrets he was not able to be here

         11  today. I too regret that he was unable to be here

         12  today. I've practiced pronouncing

         13  phenylpropanolamine over and over again. I'll

         14  endeavor to represent his views.

         15                 Thank you for focusing attention on

         16  the health issues that you have today and thank you

         17  for inviting the pharmacists to come and contribute

         18  to the consideration of Intro 432. As healthcare

         19  professionals committed to ensuring safe access to

         20  necessary medicines and health products, the City's

         21  neighborhood pharmacists welcome the opportunity to

         22  help the Council strike a legislative balance that

         23  addresses the meth problem and also preserves safe

         24  access for consumers to volatile and potentially

         25  dangerous substances. Other witnesses have provided
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          2  testimony about the ongoing federal and state

          3  legislation. Suffice to say, that the intersection

          4  of meds and meth continues to generate attention

          5  including a B1 story in today's Wall Street Journal.

          6                 On first impression, the New York

          7  City Pharmacists Society supports the goals of Intro

          8  432. We're confident the Council and this Committee

          9  will proceed to deliberatively and thoughtfully. The

         10  City's neighborhood pharmacies will welcome some

         11  balance legislation that protects public safety;

         12  ensures consumer safe access to health products and

         13  does not overly or unnecessarily burden the

         14  neighborhood business.

         15                 In fact, as you work to strike this

         16  balance, it's worth knowing that in New York City

         17  today, we already have in place a system of

         18  carefully regulated drug distribution that achieves

         19  that delicate balance. We urge the Council to

         20  consider making use of this system as you address

         21  the current problem. In New York, the State Board of

         22  Pharmacy licenses is professional pharmacists, the

         23  individuals. The State Board of Pharmacy licenses

         24  the pharmacies, the businesses. Additionally,

         25  because pharmacists are entrusted to sell
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          2  potentially dangerous or abusable drugs such as

          3  Xanax, Valium, Morphine, Oxycotin, pharmacists are

          4  also licensed by the Federal Drug Enforcement

          5  Agency, the DEA.

          6                 The licensed health care

          7  professionals working in New York City's pharmacies

          8  are, in fact, the only, the only retailers licensed

          9  to sell these potentially dangerous or abusable

         10  drugs. By extension, if the Council determines that

         11  City legislation is appropriate to protect the

         12  public safety and again we would urge you to do this

         13  in a way that does not unduly diminish the public's

         14  access to these important medicines. If you do

         15  determine that City legislation is appropriate, the

         16  Council may want to consider restricting the sale of

         17  PSE and related chemicals to the more than 1,900

         18  duly licensed pharmacies which do exist in every

         19  neighborhood of New York City.

         20                 We offer the following observations

         21  and suggestions. The bill as written restricts the

         22  sale of "more than two packages." Other states

         23  including Iowa and Illinois have used this language

         24  and I know that other witnesses have addressed some

         25  ambiguity in the language on packages. It is worth
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          2  noting that typically these products are

          3  commercially available in solid form packages 24, 48

          4  or 96 units, 30 milligrams per dose typically.

          5  Therefore, if a customer purchases two 96 unit

          6  packages at 30 milligrams per dose or 5,760

          7  milligrams, that purchase will safely beneath the

          8  nine gram DEA threshold for mandatory reporting.

          9  When a pharmacy sells nine grams, they are required

         10  to report that to the DEA. They are showing that I

         11  cannot only struggle to pronounce

         12  phenylpropanolamine, I can fake my way through math.

         13                 The bill as written suspends fines in

         14  lieu of a warning for 30 days after enactment; a 90

         15  day period would allow for a more extensive

         16  education period, a smoother transition. Certainly,

         17  the New York City Pharmacists Society would welcome

         18  the opportunity to educate their own members and

         19  given the periodicity of the society's newsletter

         20  and other communication media, that would be

         21  helpful.

         22                 Finally, since the goal of the

         23  legislation is to deter criminal activity and not to

         24  raise revenue for the City, we urge the Council to

         25  consider a fine of $500 rather than a $1,000 as
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          2  currently proposed. Again, thank you for focusing

          3  attention on this important health issue. There are

          4  a lot of facets to it and this has been an

          5  educational hearing for, I think, a lot of us as

          6  well I hope for you. The New York City Pharmacists

          7  Society looks forward to working with the Committee

          8  and the Council as you move forward on the issue.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Council

         11  Member Stewart, did you have a question?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

         13  Considering what you just said, how do you address

         14  the question that I asked earlier about those big

         15  stores like BJ's and Costco where you can go in and

         16  buy a case of Nyquil or any of those products that

         17  have the ingredients. How do you address that?

         18                 MR. GUSTAFSON: We at Walgreens have a

         19  national wide standard of two packs, six grams

         20  limit. That's something that we're doing

         21  voluntarily. It's part of our goal of the Meth Watch

         22  program. I don't know if the Committee is aware of

         23  the Meth Watch. It is federal funding that they can

         24  get that works with whole array of people. It's a

         25  good program. It's voluntary and we are a member of
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          2  that as well.

          3                 I can't speak for the other chains. I

          4  know that Rite Aid, CVS, they also have sales

          5  restrictions as a voluntary effort. The main focus

          6  is not to make anything mandatory. In placement of

          7  product to for that matter is more burdensome on the

          8  consumer and we found in this State that it has been

          9  implemented that a larger percentage of people are

         10  burden by having to have it behind the counter or in

         11  a locked case.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The reason

         13  why I asked is that some of these stores like Costco

         14  or even BJ's, they sell to retailers who might be

         15  shipping this overseas to local pharmacies, to local

         16  retail stores. If you put restriction, say that is

         17  voluntary, how would you know to say, well listen,

         18  you can't sell to someone a case of Nyquil or a case

         19  of anyone of these products; a cough medicine that

         20  may have this ingredient. I'm just looking at that

         21  point of view that is kind of technical in terms

         22  with looking at the small pharmacy fine or the

         23  consumer that's selling Nyquil and looking at some

         24  place like BJ's that most of their products are sold

         25  in bulk.
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          2                 MR. GUSTAFSON: According to the

          3  study, that doesn't seem to be the problem so much

          4  in New York City. The purchasing to make in New York

          5  City, upstate, there seems to be a very growing

          6  concern. For this sense and purpose, it doesn't seem

          7  that would be the best focus of the legislative

          8  intent.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Walgreens is

         10  slightly a different situation than say a BJ's or a

         11  Costco. Michael, I don't know, do you represent

         12  BJ's, Costco, et cetera?

         13                 MR. O'LOUGHLIN: No. Thanks for

         14  asking. Just to clarify, the New York City

         15  Pharmacists Society comprises the independent

         16  community pharmacies. Not Rite Aid, not Dwayne Reed,

         17  not Walgreens. But the Apthorpe (phonetic) pharmacy

         18  on 72th Street, the Kings Pharmacy on Flat Bush

         19  Avenue by --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: A big Lowes.

         21                 MR. O'LOUGHLIN: I'm not familiar with

         22  all the specific practices of BJ's and Costco. What

         23  we do urge the Council to consider, if indeed you do

         24  decide that it's worth passing legislation along

         25  these lines to protect the public safety, is that
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          2  you consider restricting the sale of PSE products to

          3  duly licensed pharmacies. If a Costco or another

          4  large wholesaler has a pharmacy department, they

          5  would be able to sell these products. When

          6  pharmacists sell these products, it is my

          7  understanding that they are required to report to

          8  the DEA any transaction greater than nine grams.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But sir,

         10  those products they are over- the- counter so that's

         11  why they can sell them. The pharmacy can sell over-

         12  the- counter, but also the restricted medication. In

         13  those places like Costco and BJ's, these are over-

         14  the- counter, so they can sell it. They can sell it

         15  in bulk. There is no restriction. That's what I'm

         16  talking about.

         17                 MR. O'LOUGHLIN: Sure. If I

         18  understand, Council Member, I believe that the

         19  legislation that is being discussed today would

         20  change the selling practices for some of these

         21  products. The ball is in your court.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The other

         23  question I wanted to ask, you mentioned about in

         24  other states whereby it is a felony to be

         25  manufacturing crystal meth. It's a felony in other
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          2  states and it's not in New York State. My concern is

          3  basically this, do you think as the authorities are

          4  cracking down in other states, it will then become

          5  much more a problem in New York because we don't

          6  have that law that has it as a felony in New York?

          7                 MR. GUSTAFSON: I don't know if that's

          8  a reason, but it should be a very strong deterrent

          9  if New York fell into compliance with the rest of

         10  the union as far as the controlled substance.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You think if

         12  we --

         13                 MR. GUSTAFSON: I think that would

         14  help. There are softer guidelines that is not as

         15  severe penalty at the State level for someone who is

         16  caught. I think then, of course, it would be a

         17  deterrent if it became a felony. Again, I'm not an

         18  expert. That's more law enforcement, I think. That's

         19  more their alley about how to go about that. But,

         20  that's how I feel or we at Walgreens.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Because it's

         22  surprising to know that if the other states where we

         23  have manufacturing that so in abundance and we have

         24  laws to say this is a felony and we have not ever

         25  since then we haven't seen much manufacturing

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  business of this crystal meth in New York. We

          3  haven't seen a lot of places springing up. As a

          4  matter of fact, one person testified that there were

          5  only three.

          6                 MR. GUSTAFSON: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I'm wondering

          8   --

          9                 MR. GUSTAFSON: It makes it a

         10  controlled substance. So it would be any drugs that

         11  are in that classification. It's not just crystal

         12  meth. It could be anything else. I don't know what

         13  is on that list off the top of my head. But it's

         14  more than just crystal meth. There has to be certain

         15  requirements to make a controlled substance, I

         16  believe.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         18                 MR. GUSTAFSON: It's a wider

         19  perspective than just the crystal meth. It seems to

         20  me getting a lot of loose ends in one. A lot of

         21  different problems, that's what I'm trying to say.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right. My

         23  last question to you guys, if you were to list two

         24  major things that should be done to really make a

         25  difference in terms of helping folks who are
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          2  addicted to crystal meth and to help the folks who

          3  are suffering, what are the two major things you

          4  would recommend that we in the City Council should

          5  be doing?

          6                 MR. O'LOUGHLIN: Council Member, I

          7  appreciate that question. I'm not sure that I'm the

          8  best person to provide you an answer to that

          9  question. I think the challenge is to synthesize the

         10  diverse opinions that you have heard today.

         11  Certainly, the New York City Pharmacists side would

         12  welcome the opportunity to work with the Council and

         13  with this Committee to try to craft legislation that

         14  does address these issues.

         15                 In terms of restricting the sale of

         16  PSE and related products within the City, if that is

         17  the direction that the Committee and the Council

         18  decide to advance, we do urge you to consider making

         19  use of the system of licensed sellers that is

         20  already in place through the State Board of Pharmacy

         21  and the DEA requirements that New York City

         22  pharmacists are already adhering too. We would be

         23  happy to continue the dialogue as the legislation

         24  moves forward.

         25                 MR. GUSTAFSON: Recommended actions, I
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          2  would think that I would want to stress to the

          3  Council would probably be more directing your

          4  legislation or focus on the treatment and awareness

          5  aspect of crystal meth in the City. With social

          6  programs working with gay and lesbians,

          7  organizations and things like that would probably be

          8  a better focus to stop the usage. I think that's the

          9  threat that the City shows. Secondly, probably to

         10  work with State leaders in trying to get a Statewide

         11  meth bill going. I think it's Senate Bill 484 right

         12  now seems to be making its way through the

         13  legislature and I think we will be probably be

         14  getting some Statewide bill hopefully within this

         15  year. It is moving at the State level. Federally, I

         16  don't really think if they do pass a bill, it will

         17  take a very long time and it will be very weak and

         18  have no preemptions. That's just how we at Walgreens

         19  see it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just see

         21  that this can be potentially a greater problem in

         22  the next five, ten years if we don't do something

         23  now. It's been developing and getting worse. We've

         24  seen the problems, but not very much being done.

         25  More than that, not much funding has been put into
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          2  it. Even what funding has been put into it is being

          3  restricted in different ways. I am open to ideas of

          4  what we can do as to make sure that it doesn't get

          5  to be that form of epidemic that we can't even

          6  control and we have to spend triple or quadruple the

          7  funds to really control it. I thank you guys for

          8  your testimony. We will be in dialect in the future.

          9                 MR. O'LOUGHLIN: Thank you. And thanks

         10  to the Committee for convening this hearing today

         11  and bringing these voices in actually to initiate

         12  the dialogue about how to tackle the problem.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         14                 MR. GUSTAFSON: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: At this time,

         16  we call on Daniel Raymond and Lee, just Lee. If you

         17  could please just identify yourself and you may

         18  begin.

         19                 MR. RAYMOND: I'm Daniel Raymond from

         20   --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: It's okay.

         22  They can turn it. The camera can be on this side.

         23  Tell the camera to be on this side instead.

         24                 MR. RAYMOND: I'm Daniel Raymond from

         25  the Harm Reduction Coalition. I work there as the
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          2  Hepatitis C Policy Analyst and I welcome the

          3  opportunity to have the Council have this hearing

          4  and hear a range of views on how we can address the

          5  problem of crystal. The Harm Reduction Coalition is

          6  a group that through training, educational

          7  materials, conferences and policy work does a lot

          8  around a range of drug problems and in recent years,

          9  we've done a great deal around crystal

         10  methamphetamine through our training series. We are

         11  co- organizing the national conference to be held in

         12  August and we thought a lot about this internally

         13  and with our external partners. I hope I can provide

         14  briefly and informally some of our perspectives and

         15  what we've learned from this process.

         16                 I'll also say on a personal note that

         17  I am a former crystal methamphetamine user and I

         18  bring some of that thinking to my remarks today. I

         19  said that I'm a former user to make the distinction

         20  that over the period of two years when I did use, I

         21  did not develop an addiction. I did not become

         22  infected with HIV. I did not experience some of the

         23  negative consequences that unfortunately a lot of

         24  people have suffered from the use of this drug. I

         25  put that out there not to suggest that my experience

                                                            180

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  is necessarily representative, but that sometimes we

          3  do a disservice if we think solely in terms that

          4  crystal methamphetamine is so addictive that it's

          5  inevitable downward spiral. It's inscrutably linked

          6  to HIV transmission that to use crystal is to be on

          7  the road to becoming infected or infecting someone.

          8  I think that we need to create spaces to recognize

          9  that any kind of drug use including crystal

         10  methamphetamine happens a long different spectrums

         11  for different people at different points in time and

         12  that there is different ways to intervene depending

         13  on where somebody falls on that spectrum.

         14                 From the perspective of Harm

         15  Reduction, we don't primarily focus on reducing the

         16  supply of drugs and we don't specifically focus on

         17  reducing the demand for drugs. When I say the supply

         18  for drugs, I mean the manufacturer, distribution

         19  sale of drugs. When I say the demand for drugs, I

         20  mean the factors are reasons that bring people to

         21  try or experiment with drugs in the first place.

         22  What we do focus on is reducing the harm that drugs

         23  can be associated with. Those harms can involve

         24  addiction certainly, mental health problems,

         25  infections with HIV, Hepatitis C, other viruses and
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          2  bacteria and a whole range of intersections with

          3  other social ills that we're familiar with like

          4  mental health, homelessness, poverty, violence and

          5  so on. From the Harm Reduction perspective where we

          6  see a problem with crystal methamphetamine is not so

          7  much that people are using it, but the harms that

          8  come to some people due to their use of crystal

          9  methamphetamine.

         10                 I think we've heard a wide range of

         11  suggestions about how to approach and think about

         12  some of those harms particularly in context of the

         13  HIV epidemic in New York as well as the need for

         14  treatment for addiction. I'd like to suggest two

         15  additional lenses through which we can look for

         16  policy solutions whether those solutions be

         17  legislative in nature or in terms of increasing the

         18  amount of resources or the level of discussion that

         19  we bring to bear on these.

         20                 The first is to suggest that an

         21  appropriate goal that sometimes overlooked in drug

         22  policy discussions is to prevent addiction among

         23  people who have already begun using drugs. We've

         24  heard some of this referred to in terms of early

         25  intervention programs and I think there is a lot of
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          2  possibilities for interventions among current users

          3  that will help them prevent developing and to

          4  addictive patterns of use that will have negative

          5  repercussions for their health, for their

          6  livelihood, for their families and the people around

          7  them that haven't so far been attempted or

          8  implemented on anything near the scale they need to

          9  be.

         10                 I say this with the presumption that

         11  if we look at the proportion of people in New York

         12  City who are currently using crystal meth that only

         13  a minority of them would actually qualify for a

         14  designation or a diagnosis of addiction. If we focus

         15  all of our efforts targeting current users on

         16  addiction treatment, then we will enviably be

         17  missing or having less to offer the majority of

         18  people that we're seeing who are currently using.

         19  And that the appropriate strategies might not

         20  ultimately result in all cases in abstinence or

         21  cessation of drug use, but in strategies that

         22  prevent some of the harm, some of the consequences

         23  that we've heard so much about today.

         24                 A second opportunity in our

         25  communities thinking about how to respond to the
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          2  crystal methamphetamine crisis is the risk that as

          3  this epidemic matures in New York as we've seen in

          4  other cities in the western part of the country,

          5  we'll see a greater and greater transition from

          6  snorting or other modes of ingestion to injection

          7  drug use with the attendant risks of HIV infection,

          8  Hepatitis C infection that are exponentially higher

          9  when accompanied by this mode of administration for

         10  the drug. We're already starting to see that in New

         11  York City. Two of our needle exchange programs in

         12  Manhattan are reporting that they are seeing an

         13  increase in proportion of crystal methamphetamine

         14  users particularly young gay and bisexual men.

         15                 Anecdotally, we have talked to people

         16  in other programs including the organizations we've

         17  heard from here today who are seeing in their

         18  substance use programs a shift that still is a

         19  minority population of crystal users who have moved

         20  onto injection. For a variety of reasons, some of

         21  which are because they've developed such a level of

         22  tolerance to the drug that they need to administer

         23  more and more in potent forms. I think that we can

         24  do a great deal to anticipate this happening as

         25  we've seen it happen elsewhere, but we need to bring
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          2  that focus into our broader dialogues about how to

          3  respond to the crystal meth problem in New York.

          4                 I think some of that will require new

          5  kinds of partnerships because I think the programs

          6  that we have in place that we're fortunate to have

          7  in place and supported not just by the City Council,

          8  but by the communities they serve, the needle

          9  exchange programs in New York have been able to do a

         10  great deal of work with traditional populations of

         11  injection drug users who are primarily heroin

         12  injectors and sometimes cocaine injectors. But a lot

         13  of the crystal meth injectors are actually accessing

         14  needles through pharmacies. There are some

         15  challenges there in terms in outreach in connecting

         16  to people because these are people who are not

         17  necessarily as well versed in the risks of HIV or

         18  Hepatitis C transmission as the injection drug users

         19  that we've seen and served through needle exchange

         20  that have learned through their experiences with

         21  heroin and cocaine.

         22                 I think also the needle exchange

         23  programs have been successful addressing some of the

         24  drug aspects of HIV transmission whereas groups like

         25  GMHC, groups like Callen- Lorde, groups like the
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          2  organizations represented here today have had a much

          3  longer and deeper history addressing risks of sexual

          4  transmission of HIV particularly among gay and

          5  bisexual men. I see the crystal epidemic in New York

          6  as a growing crisis, but also as an opportunity for

          7  rethinking how we do our work and who we work with.

          8  I would ask that the Council in its ongoing thinking

          9  and leadership around these issues take into account

         10  specifically two other aspects; preventing addiction

         11  among current users and monitoring and responding to

         12  shifts toward injection drug use.

         13                 Finally, I'd ask that we take the

         14  commitment, the creativity and the resources that

         15  we're directing towards crystal and look at how we

         16  can reinvest and reinvigorate our work on other drug

         17  problems faced by New Yorkers in all communities and

         18  learn something from our response to crystal that we

         19  can put back in how we're responding to heroin,

         20  cocaine, crack and other drugs in the City. Thank

         21  you.

         22                 MR. L: Chairwoman Quinn, Councilman

         23  Stewart, thanks for staying. I'm so glad I don't

         24  have your job. I don't think I could this everyday.

         25  Ladies and gentlemen, good afternoon. My name is Lee
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          2  L. I'm a crystal meth addict. I also the current

          3  Public Information Chair for New York Crystal Meth

          4  Anonymous Intergroup known as NYCMA. I identify

          5  myself with first name and my last initial in

          6  accordance with the traditions of our fellowship,

          7  which suggest that each of our members maintain

          8  personally anonymity when speaking in public forums

          9  or before the press. For this reason, I've asked the

         10  camera to be turned away.

         11                 I'd like to thank the Council for

         12  asking NYCMA to return this year to speak before you

         13  and particularly Josh Aaronson for working with us

         14  to make this appearance possible. Crystal Meth

         15  Anonymous is a fellowship of men and women who share

         16  their experience, strength, and hope with each other

         17  so that they may solve their common problem and help

         18  others to recover from addiction to crystal meth and

         19  all other mind- altering substances. The only

         20  requirement for membership is a desire to stop

         21  using. There are no dues or fees for CMA

         22  memberships; we are self- supporting through our own

         23  contributions. CMA is not allied with any sect,

         24  denomination, politics, organization, or

         25  institution; does not wish to engage in any
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          2  controversy, and neither endorses nor opposes any

          3  causes. Our primary purpose is to live free of

          4  active addiction and to carry that message to the

          5  addict who still suffers.

          6                 As Public Information Officer, I will

          7  would like to speak first a little bit about the

          8  history of CMA in New York and wherever relevant and

          9  share some of my personal experience as a recovered

         10  addict. I want to make it clear that when speaking

         11  of my own personal experiences, I speak only for

         12  myself and not for the fellowship as a whole.

         13  Afterwards, I hope you will ask some really needy

         14  questions.

         15                 Like all anonymous fellowships, such

         16  as Alcoholics Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous and so

         17  on, Crystal Meth Anonymous has no opinion on outside

         18  issues, including the issue of addiction. It does

         19  not lend the CMA name to any outside enterprise.

         20  Indeed, we are successful in our work, of one addict

         21  helping another addict, to the extent that the

         22  organization as a whole does not enter into public

         23  debate or controversy.

         24                 Crystal Meth Anonymous is a 12- step

         25  fellowship based on the time- tested and time-
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          2  proven model of Alcoholics Anonymous, with which you

          3  are familiar. In New York City, CMA began in 1999

          4  with one weekly meeting which attracted roughly six

          5  members the first year. When I joined the Fellowship

          6  in 2002, CMA had four meetings a week. Our average

          7  attendance was between 20 and 30 with 40 attending

          8  our largest meetings. Today, in 2005, we have 23

          9  meetings a week. Our average meeting attendance is

         10  between 30 and 50 and with over 100 attending our

         11  largest meetings. A meeting that we started last

         12  year, an HIV Topic Meeting is now one of our largest

         13  meetings. Each week and at every meeting, newcomers

         14  are walking through the door. We are still growing

         15  in numbers.

         16                 Since our last appearance before this

         17  Council, we've begun meetings in Spanish and two of

         18  our meetings provide sign language interpretation

         19  for the hearing impaired. CMA has expanded beyond

         20  Chelsea with the help of Councilwoman Quinn and

         21  Councilwoman Lopez, by holding our first meeting on

         22  the Upper West Side on the Ryan William Health

         23  Center. We are also taking meetings into rehabs and

         24  detoxs. We are currently taking a meeting into

         25  Medical Arts. This week we will begin taking a
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          2  meeting at St. Vincent's and shortly at the

          3  Addiction Institute at St. Lukes Roosevelt Hospital.

          4                 Our current membership includes

          5  people from numerous ethnic groups whose first

          6  language is not English. Americans, as well as many

          7  people born in other countries; women as well as

          8  men, those whose sexual orientation is gay,

          9  heterosexual, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender;

         10  people from every profession, from high school drop

         11  outs to Ph.Ds; those from ages 19 to 80; those who

         12  are HIV negative and HIV positive; multi-

         13  millionaires as well as those who are indigent and

         14  on public assistance; those whose religious

         15  affiliations include Catholic, Protestant, Judaism,

         16  Buddhist, Muslim, Hindu, agnostic, or atheist.

         17                 Crystal Meth Anonymous currently

         18  holds its 23 meetings in four locations. At the Gay

         19  Men's Health Crisis, we have 12 meetings per week;

         20  at the Gay and Lesbian Community Center, we have

         21  seven meetings per week; at the Callen- Lorde

         22  Community Health Center, we have three meetings a

         23  week; and we have one meeting at the William Ryan

         24  Health Center. We are very grateful to these

         25  organizations for their cooperation and
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          2  encouragement in helping us to carry the message of

          3  recovery.

          4                 During the summer, it is also common

          5  to add as many as three additional weekend meetings;

          6  one each day on Saturday and Sunday at the

          7  Christopher Street Pier and one at Fire Island. Our

          8  meetings are designated as either open or closed.

          9  Open meetings are open to anyone interested in the

         10  program of CMA. In addition to regular CMA members,

         11  this could include friends and family members

         12  seeking more information for a loved one or anyone

         13  interested in our program of recovery.

         14                 I want to take this opportunity to

         15  invite you to attend one of our open meetings so

         16  that you can see for yourself our program in action.

         17  Nothing I can say here can quite compare with what

         18  you will hear at a CMA meeting. Nothing is as

         19  powerful as the testimony of an addict who tells

         20  what it was like then (when they were using and when

         21  they hit bottom) and what it is like now. A meeting

         22  list is provided for your convenience with hard

         23  copies of my testimony.  Closed meetings are for

         24  those who believe that they have a problem with

         25  crystal meth or any other mind altering substance.
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          2  These meetings are for CMA members only.

          3                 In accordance with our traditions, we

          4  do not allow any form of recording (whether audio or

          5  visual, photography or filming) at our meetings so

          6  that anonymity can be maintained. Anonymity is

          7  indeed the cornerstone of our Fellowship since it

          8  provides a safe space for those who seek recovery.

          9  We encourage the press to attend our open meetings.

         10  But we kindly ask that members of the press first

         11  speak with a member of the Public Information

         12  Committee before attending a meeting so that we can

         13  brief them about our program and provide them with

         14  any information they may need.

         15                 Over the last year, we have garnered

         16  considerable attention from the media. We have given

         17  interviews to such media outlets as the New York

         18  Times, the Associated Press, Newsday, Daily News,

         19  WNBC- TV, WABC- TV, Newsweek, and the Columbia

         20  University Journalism School. CMA does not accept

         21  any financial support or contributions from non- CMA

         22  sources. This allows us to have a unique,

         23  disinterested and independent voice because we ask

         24  nothing from no one. We are completely self-

         25  supporting through our own contributions.
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          2                 If there is a message that I hope to

          3  share with you today, it is this. It is possible to

          4  recover from addiction to crystal meth. I am living

          5  proof of this fact. I used crystal meth for 13

          6  years. I was a daily user for 13 months. After I

          7  came into the CMA program, it took another five and

          8  a half months before my last relapse finally brought

          9  me to sobriety. Addiction to crystal meth robbed me

         10  of career, relationships, health, home, and most

         11  importantly my soul. I lost the desire to live. I've

         12  now been sober for more than two and a half years.

         13  Happily for me, these losses has been reversed, but

         14  it is not always so. I was lucky. I found a better

         15  way to live through the program of Crystal Meth

         16  Anonymous.

         17                 Not all of our members have been as

         18  fortunate and we do not forget them. We currently

         19  have in our program many individuals who are in

         20  various stages of the criminal justice process. A

         21  few of our members are in prison. And, tragically,

         22  some have died. Last spring, Rob D leapt to his

         23  death from an apartment building roof as he sought

         24  escape from police he imagined were chasing him in

         25  his drug induced paranoia. Jim W suffered a heart
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          2  attack in his home and died as he was leaving his

          3  apartment to seek medical help after an overdose.

          4  John A died from an overdose during a relapse. Every

          5  year, members of our Fellowship die. It is a tragic

          6  reality of this disease. But Crystal Meth Anonymous

          7  offers hope.

          8                 In his book, Tweakers: How Crystal

          9  Meth is Ravaging Gay America, Los Angeles based

         10  journalist Frank Sanello says that only six to seven

         11  percent of crystal meth addicts who seek recovery

         12  get sober. Yet at any NYCMA meeting, it is not

         13  uncommon for 25 to 40 percent of our members in

         14  attendance to have achieved more than a year's

         15  sobriety. It is possible to recover from this

         16  disease.

         17                 There is every reason to believe that

         18  our Fellowship is needed. NYCMA has recently begun

         19  placing public service announcements in the gay

         20  media. Those heterosexual members of our Fellowship

         21  have indicated that there is a great need growing to

         22  reach towards this community as well. We will very

         23  soon begin an outreach campaign into the straight

         24  community and also into local universities and

         25  colleges. As our Fellowship continues to grow, there
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          2  seems to be every indication that we have only

          3  touched a demographic fraction of the crystal meth

          4  problem in New York City. As our fellowship expands,

          5  so does our work. Of all of the meetings that we've

          6  started, none have ever closed because of dwindling

          7  membership. New meetings will continue to come in. I

          8  think that's suppose to be new comers. And we will

          9  no doubt continue to take meetings to more rehabs

         10  and detox units.

         11                 Crystal Meth Anonymous will attempt

         12  to continue to fulfill its primary purpose; to live

         13  free of active addiction and to carry that message

         14  to the addict who still suffers. Thank you for your

         15  time and consideration.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you both. I

         17  am sorry I had to step out for part of your

         18  testimony to take a call. I just want to thank both

         19  of you for your testimony and for your work on this

         20  issue. I don't know if you were here when Council

         21  Member Sears actually asked some questions about

         22  what the connection was between crystal meth and

         23  needle exchange and Harm Reduction programs. As it

         24  relates to the Harm Reduction Coalition, I think it

         25  would be very helpful if in the follow- up meetings
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          2  we have after that whoever is appropriate to be

          3  represented from the Coalition be part of those

          4  discussions. If you could think about that and also

          5  think about the question I raised with the other

          6  panel; what the best format for that would be and

          7  then the staff would follow up with you, that would

          8  be really great.

          9                 Lee, I want to thank you very much

         10  for your testimony. Certainly, most other folks

         11  talked clinically or professionally or

         12  governmentally and for somebody to talk personally

         13  is as you said a very, very different thing. The

         14  work everyone is doing on this is very important and

         15  courageous, but it is perhaps the most courageous

         16  work when somebody shares with government their

         17  personal story. That is a very thing that takes a

         18  lot of courage to do it and a risky thing to do. I

         19  want to on behalf of the whole Council thank you

         20  very much for that.

         21                 We had told Josh who wanted to go to

         22  a CMA open meeting that we didn't think it was

         23  appropriate for him to go. But since you have now

         24  extended an invitation, I will withdraw my

         25  prohibition from Josh going. I felt like it might
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          2  not be appropriate for somebody from government to

          3  be there listening. But if you feel it is

          4  appropriate, then we will follow up in that way.

          5                 MR. L: Absolutely. I'd like to say

          6  two things if I may?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure

          8                 MR. L: First of all, Crystal Meth

          9  Anonymous is not in opposition with Harm Reduction.

         10  The idea of 12- step is not counter intuitive to

         11  Harm Reduction. In fact, we welcome Harm Reduction

         12  because often times Harm Reduction helps the person

         13  who is an addict to realize that they are an addict

         14  and can seek further treatment. We are applaud and

         15  support that even though we don't really do that.

         16                 The other thing I'd like to say and

         17  I'd like to say this as a private citizen about 432.

         18  I find it very interesting that the City Council is

         19  attempting or is considering legislation which would

         20  limit citizens rights to purchase medicine when

         21  there are businesses in the City which are licensed

         22  by the City, which by their very nature and in

         23  actuality promote unsafe sex and where more people

         24  are introduced to crystal meth than they are ever

         25  going to produce from a box of Sudafed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you for the

          3  point about the Harm Reduction because I've been at

          4  some of the HIV forums where there has ended up

          5  being tension between those two communities which I

          6  just think is very -- it's not helpful. It's

          7  unfortunate to the degree to which we can just

          8  accept that there is sometimes lots of routes to get

          9  to the same place. It's better for everyone. And I

         10  think the last observation you made is one that

         11  deserves a lot of reflection by the Committee.

         12  Council Member Stewart.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just admire

         14  what you just said. But I have a question about Mr.

         15  Lee, you said two and a half years you've been --

         16                 MR. L: Sober.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: -- Sober. You

         18  are working with Crystal Meth Anonymous. My question

         19  is if you were not involved with that, you think you

         20  would be strong enough to be able to stay away from

         21  crystal meth?

         22                 MR. L: No. I'm an addict.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you both
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          2  very much. This hearing is adjourned.

          3                 (Meeting adjourned at 2:50 p.m.)

          4                 (Following written testimony was read

          5  into the record)

          6  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF

             Perry Halkitis

          7  New York University

          8

          9                 Methamphetamine use continues to

         10  evolve as part of a growing epidemic that has

         11  historically been rooted within the Western and

         12  Midwestern regions of the United States. Recent

         13  trends have highlighted the emergence of

         14  methamphetamine within major cities on the East

         15  coast, including New York City, signifying the

         16  drug's outreach as having exceeded its original

         17  geographic specificity, and highlighting its

         18  importance in being viewed as a long- term public

         19  health problem.

         20                 Methamphetamine a stimulant

         21  colloquially known as "crystal, "crank," "ice,"

         22   "chalk," or "Tina," is a highly addictive substance

         23  that can be snorted, smoked, ingested orally, or

         24  injected. It is a methyl derivative of amphetamine,

         25  and is a powerful psycho- stimulant that directly
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          2  affects the autonomic nervous system and central

          3  nervous system even when taken in small amounts.

          4  Chronic use of high doses of methamphetamine may

          5  cause permanent neurological damage. Long- term

          6  methamphetamine use has also been associated with

          7  the reduction of dopamine transporters that

          8  negatively effect motor coordination and memory as

          9  well as reductions in serotonin, the brain chemical

         10  most associated with experiencing pleasure.

         11                 In our current work, we are examining

         12  change sin neural pathways in the front lobe of the

         13  brain, associated with use of methamphetamine, which

         14  we believe directly affect the social cognitions of

         15  users. Other long- term effects of methamphetamine

         16  use include high levels of weight loss, Parkinson's-

         17  like symptoms, deterioration of gums and teeth,

         18  toxicity of the kidneys and liver, and prenatal

         19  complications and birth defects. In addition, the

         20  continuous stimulation of the nervous system caused

         21  by methamphetamine has been shown to induce negative

         22  psychological states that include anxiety,

         23  confusion, insomnia, aggression, depression,

         24  paranoia, psychosis and suicidal ideation. Much

         25  research supports a close association between use
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          2  and sexual risk- taking especially within the gay

          3  community, where use of the drug has been on the

          4  rise for the last decade and has complicated HIV

          5  prevention efforts.

          6                 The past decade has witnessed

          7  alarmingly widespread increases in methamphetamine

          8  use across all segments of the American population,

          9  including use among adolescents. The negative

         10  physical and psychological effects of

         11  methamphetamine are not merely limited to users of

         12  the drug. Children of parents who use or produce

         13  methamphetamine are at significant risk for physical

         14  and emotional abuse, as well as neglect,

         15  malnourishment, parental abandonment and

         16  methamphetamine addiction. The effects of the

         17  current methamphetamine epidemic in the United

         18  States, and New York City specifically, are far

         19  reaching for our society, thus warranting

         20  scrutinized investigation that can better inform

         21  social policy and treatment efficacy.

         22                 In terms of future strategies,

         23  efforts must cut across populations and incorporate

         24  multi- layered approaches to curtail the increase.

         25  Although my own research team and other social
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          2  scientists have documented the rise in

          3  methamphetamine in New York City, over the last

          4  decade, attention to the problem by the media and

          5  legislators has only emerged over the last year or

          6  two. Thus, we find ourselves in a situation where we

          7  must simultaneously address this addiction among

          8  both current users of the substance as well as non-

          9  users, recognizing that behaviors such as

         10  methamphetamine use are transmitted through the

         11  social exchange between those who use and those who

         12  do not use.

         13                 First in terms of population, three

         14  segments of New York City require particular

         15  attention in our efforts: Gay Men. In New York City,

         16  over the last decade, the highest use of

         17  methamphetamine use has been noted in the gay male

         18  community. Our data indicate that upwards of 20

         19  percent of gay men may be engaging in some use of

         20  the substance with a smaller percentage being

         21  addicted. While there also appears to be a link

         22  between use of methamphetamine and new HIV

         23  seroconversions, the relation is not as clear or as

         24  linear.

         25                 Emergent Adults: Young adults, those
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          2  who are transitioning between adolescence and

          3  adulthood, are a particularly vulnerable population.

          4  Our data suggest that there is increasing use of

          5  methamphetamine in this portion of the population,

          6  especially among those who engage in the club

          7  culture. The growth of methamphetamine use in this

          8  segment of the population, which has traditionally

          9  used drugs such as MDMA (ecstasy), transgresses

         10  gender and sexual identity.

         11                 Economically Disadvantaged

         12  Individuals: Methamphetamine is inexpensive and

         13  provides a powerful high for a small amount of

         14  money. Thus, the drug is ideal for those who seek a

         15  high and have limited resources. Our own work

         16  suggests the infiltration of the drug into this

         17  economic stratum, and we have begun to document the

         18  emergence of the drug, especially among less

         19  affluent African Americans in New York City. As

         20  such, methamphetamine holds the potential for

         21  becoming crack v2.0.

         22                 Efforts across these populations must

         23  also incorporate psycho- educational strategies for

         24  addressing methamphetamine addiction. Such efforts

         25  must be informed by best practices and approaches
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          2  best on sound evidence. Social scientists both in

          3  New York City and the West Coast have long studied

          4  this drug epidemic and thus this work needs to

          5  inform the development of approaches and the

          6  dissemination of funds in order to most effectively

          7  address the problem.

          8                 Educational/Media/Print Campaigns:

          9  Over the last two years, mostly through funding

         10  through the New York City Department of Health, we

         11  have witnessed a rise in print campaign educational

         12  approaches. Certainly these efforts have raised

         13  attention to the problem and have created, at least

         14  in the gay community, a public dialogue about this

         15  substance and the consequences of use. However, the

         16  effects of these campaigns in curtailing and

         17  changing behavior among gay men is unclear, and

         18  whether such efforts have had any impact at all on

         19  parts of the population that reside outside this

         20  particular social circle is unlikely.

         21                 This suggests that we place efforts

         22  towards actually evaluating the effectiveness of

         23  such approaches, especially given that public funds

         24  have been used to support them, and simultaneously

         25  expanding these educational efforts beyond the gay
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          2  community into those such as emergent adults where

          3  the methamphetamine problem is only beginning to

          4  emerge. Such educational campaigns can be used

          5  effectively if our efforts are proactive in

          6  preventing the onset of a problem rather than

          7  reactive to a problem that already exists. In their

          8  efforts, The Department of Health should work with

          9  social scientists, epidemiologists, and community

         10  embers in determining where funds for such campaigns

         11  are most likely to do the most good.

         12                 Treatment Programs: While educational

         13  campaigns may be effective in addressing an increase

         14  of methamphetamine among non- users, they are likely

         15  must less effective in helping those who are active

         16  users. Thus the implementation of treatment programs

         17  is key. Addiction to methamphetamine, because of its

         18  enormous psychological effects and close link to

         19  sexual risk taking, requires programs that are

         20  somewhat different than those that have been

         21  traditionally used to treat addictions. Such

         22  approaches have been considered and researched by

         23  behavioral scientists and thus need to be translated

         24  into community efforts. The National Institutes of

         25  Health clearly articulates the implementations of
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          2  programs through a marriage of researchers and

          3  practitioners to not only provide service to treat

          4  the addiction but to simultaneously assess their

          5  effectives of such treatments across populations,

          6  cultures, and context.

          7                 While the NIH clearly articulates

          8  such approaches, funding has been scare lately due

          9  to political wrangling and the infiltration of faith

         10  into science, which has made ascertaining funds for

         11  efforts such as drug addiction program research

         12  particularly difficult especially for those seeking

         13  to work with what are viewed as "marginalized"

         14  segments of the population.

         15                 Media. The media is powerful and thus

         16  concerted efforts must be made to continue to engage

         17  the print, television, and radio media of New York

         18  City about the methamphetamine problem. Such t

         19  stories function to increase awareness and to

         20  created dialogue in our City.

         21                 In the end, we need to be intelligent

         22  in our strategies to the methamphetamine problem in

         23  New York. Our efforts need be based on sound

         24  reasoning and judgment, driven by what sciences tell

         25  us. Punitive efforts need to be closely scrutinized,
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          2  and restriction of products used to create

          3  methamphetamine is only a band- aid to the problem.

          4  Further collaboration between the academy and the

          5  community should be encouraged, and funds would be

          6  best allocated to collaborative teams that recognize

          7  that the best approach to dealing with such an

          8  epidemic is best guided by scientists and

          9  practitioners working together and not in opposition

         10  to each other.

         11  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF

             Dennis DeLeon

         12  Latino Commission on AIDS

         13

         14                 My name is Dennis deLeon and I serve

         15  as President of the Latino Commission on AIDS.

         16  Within the next couple of weeks we will be releasing

         17  a report on crystal methamphetamine use in the

         18  Latino community with very specific recommendations

         19  together with a public education campaign in Spanish

         20  with support from a grant from Council Member

         21  Margarita Lopez and the New York City Health

         22  Department. We have found through our research that

         23  crystal meth is rapidly growing in popularity among

         24  Latino gay men and lesbians and young people who do

         25  not identify as gay.
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          2                 We have found that Latino gay men

          3  view the drug as an entree into their idea of the

          4  Chelsea gay community. Some Latino gay men respond

          5  to internet hookups for party and play not knowing

          6  what these terms. Others hooking up on line just to

          7  obtain the drug. On Craigs List the term "tickets to

          8  a Christine Aguilera concert" becomes code for

          9  crystal meth use. But more on that later.

         10                 I would like to express the gratitude

         11  of the staff and board of the Latino Commission on

         12  AIDS for being asked to testify by the Chair on this

         13  important legislative. The New York City Council

         14  joins 39 other states and many more City's in

         15  seeking to address the relative ease under current

         16  law in seeking to restrict access to

         17  pseudoephedrine. The legislation would make it more

         18  difficult to obtain this over the counter medication

         19  that is an essential ingredient in manufacturing of

         20  crystal methamphetamine by limiting the amount that

         21  can be purchased and by placing the drug behind the

         22  counter.

         23                 I am not a law enforcement official

         24  but I feel that making the ingredient less available

         25  to will make it more difficult for small time
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          2  operators to manufacture small quantities of

          3  crystal. In addition, the steps outlined in the

          4  proposed legislation will also serve an educational

          5  purpose by indicating how serious the City is in

          6  trying to curb manufacture and use of crystal meth.

          7  It will signify to the person considering using the

          8  drug that this is not just a party drug like other

          9  party drugs but something more serious. But I do

         10  believe the law will have any impact on large scale

         11  manufacturing of crystal methamphetamine. With

         12  access on the internet and in the black market for

         13  ingredients, persons intent on manufacturing the

         14  drug will still be able to do so. Like all the other

         15  speakers have emphasized, education, prevention and

         16  treatment are the only way to seriously slow

         17  consumption of the drug.

         18                 Because crystal is so easy to make,

         19  is relatively cheap and gives you more "bang for the

         20  buck" by lasting longer than crack or cocaine, even

         21  with the restrictions imposed by the law, it will

         22  continue to spread from the gay community to young

         23  people and adults. This has been the story in every

         24  other part of the country and I feel safe in saying

         25  it will be no different in New York. We should not
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          2  wait for this to happen but act now with a

          3  comprehensive treatment and prevention strategy.

          4                 As is true with most things, crystal

          5  use will follow an arc of use in the gay community

          6  and then spreads to other communities. Usually when

          7  this happens interest and frontline attention to the

          8  drug falls as the faces of use become black and

          9  brown and heterosexual. I would urge we not flat in

         10  our efforts around this dangerous drug.

         11                 I do have some technical suggestions

         12  for the legislation. First, I think the term

         13   "package" is too inexact. There should be a

         14  specification of the number of pills. Some larger

         15  stores bundle several packages into one package.

         16  Second, I would build in some kind of evaluation of

         17  the law's impact and require that the Commissioner

         18  be asked to report on the effectiveness of

         19  enforcement and the impact of the law on meth drug

         20  usage after one year.

         21                 In closing, I would like to reiterate

         22  that continued support for prevention, detox and

         23  treatment. From our research, we have only been able

         24  to identify one Spanish language Crystal Meth

         25  Anonymous group. The State has failed in its
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          2  responsibility to create gay friendly treatment

          3  programs.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 2:50 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 13th day of April 2005.
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         25                          LORI SANTOMIERI
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          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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